
  
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 

 
 

Health, Inclusion and Social Care 
Policy and Accountability 

Committee 
Agenda 

 

Monday 2 July 2018 at 6.00 pm 
Courtyard Room - Hammersmith Town Hall 

 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration Opposition 

Councillor Lucy Richardson (Chair) 
Councillor Jonathan Caleb-Landy 
Councillor Bora Kwon 
Councillor Fiona Smith 
 

Councillor Amanda Lloyd-Harris 
 

Co-optees 

Debbie Domb, Hammersmith and Fulham Coalition Against Cuts 
Victoria Brignell, Action On Disability 
Jim Grealy, Save Our Hospitals 
Bryan Naylor, Age UK 
 

 
 
 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Bathsheba Mall 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 5758 
 E-mail: bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees  
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 

Date Issued: 22 June 2018 
 

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Agenda 
 
Item  Pages 
 

1.   APPOINTMENT OF A VICE CHAIR FOR 2018-19 AND COMMITTEE 
TERMS OF REFERENCE  
 

4 - 7 

 The Committee is asked to appoint a Vice Chair and note its 
membership and terms of reference. 

 

 

2.   APPOINTMENT OF CO-OPTEES  
 

 

 The Committee is asked to agree the re-appointment of the following co-
opted members for 2018-19: 

 Debbie Domb, Hammersmith and Fulham Action On Disability 

 Victoria Brignell, Action On Disability 

 Jim Grealy, Save Our Hospitals 

 Bryan Naylor, Age UK 
 

 

3.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 

4.   DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 

 

  More information on declarations of interests is on the following page.  
 

5.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 

8 - 19 

 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting, held on 13 March 
2018. 

 

 

6.   HEALTHWATCH 
 

 

 Verbal update – a regular update provided by Healthwatch on local, 
Hammersmith and Fulham related health concerns and issues.  

 

 

7.   IMPERIAL COLLEGE TRUST'S DRAFT QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017/18  
 

20 - 137 

 To consider the Trust’s draft Quality Account for 2017/18 including the 
position on progress made, continuing priorities and the plans set out to 
deliver them. 

 

 

8.   OLDER PEOPLE'S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022  
 

138 - 192 

 This report summarises the Older People’s Housing Strategy 2017-2022 
and the approach the Council will employ to ensure the best housing 
outcomes for older people living in the borough. 

 

 



9.   DRAFT DISABLED PEOPLE'S HOUSING STRATEGY 
 

193 - 197 

 This report summarises the Disabled People’s Housing Strategy and the 
approach for meeting housing needs of disabled people through 
provision of housing services shaped and influenced by, and for, 
disabled people. 

 

 

10.   WORK PROGRAMME 2017-18  
 

198 - 200 

 The Committee is asked to consider how it would like to shape it future 
work programme for the remainder of the municipal year. 

 

  

11.   DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS FOR 2018/19  
 

 

  Monday, 2 July 2018 
 Monday, 17 September 2018 

 Tuesday, 4 December 2018 

 Monday, 11 February 2019 

 Tuesday, 26 March 2019 

 

 

More information on declarations of interest 
 
If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, whether or not it is 
entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any other significant interest which they 
consider should be declared in the public interest, they should declare the existence and, 
unless it is a sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature of the 
interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or as soon as it becomes 
apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in attendance and speak, any 
Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest or other significant interest may also make 
representations, give evidence or answer questions about the matter. The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is discussed and any vote 
taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and speak, then the 
Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should withdraw from the meeting whilst the 
matter is under consideration. Councillors who have declared other significant interests 
should also withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation in the 
matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may give rise to a perception of a 
conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a dispensation to that effect 
has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions and Standards Committee. 
 



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND SOCIAL 

INCLUSION POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 
 

20 JUNE 2018 
 

 

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 2017/8, APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR AND TERMS 
OF REFERENCE 
 

Report of the Monitoring Officer – Rhian Davies 
 

 
Open Report 
 

Classification - For Information 
 
Key Decision: No 
 

 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 
Accountable Officer: Rhian Davies 
 

Report Author:  
 
Kayode Adewumi – Head of Governance and 
Scrutiny 
 

Contact Details:  
 
Tel: 020 8753 2499 
Email – kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. This report sets out the new membership of this Committee and its terms 
of reference, as agreed at the Annual Council on 23 May 2018.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. The Committee is asked to note its membership and terms of reference. 
 

2.2. To note the Committee’s terms of reference and membership and to appoint a 
Vice-chair for the 2018/2019 municipal year. 

 
3. INTRODUCTION  

3.1. The Council agreed the membership and terms of reference at the Annual 
Council Meeting held on 23 May 2018.  

Page 4

Agenda Item 1



 
4. MEMBERSHIP 

4.1. The membership of this committee is as follows: 
 

Councillor Lucy Richardson, Chair 
Councillor Jonathan Caleb-Landy  
Councillor Bora Kwon 
Councillor Amanda Lloyd-Harris  
Councillor Fiona Smith 
 
 

5. TERMS OF REFERENCE 

5.1. Policy & Accountability Committees (PACs) will develop key policies for the 
Council on behalf of and with residents and community groups and hold the 
Executive to account.   
 

5.2. All PACs will discharge the relevant statutory functions within the scope of the 
Committee.  
 

5.3. All PACs will have the following key responsibilities:  

 To hold the Cabinet to account 

 To be a critical friend to the Cabinet and to challenge the assumptions 
behind the policies and actions of the Council and other local service 
providers 

 To amplify the voice and concerns of local residents and to give 
residents a mechanism to comment on, participate in and determine 
Council policy 

 To improve the Council’s services by listening to residents and user 
groups 

 To scrutinise decisions made by partner organisations in the interest of 
the residents of the Borough 

 To be independent of party politics and ensure an informed evidence-
based approach to policy development  

 
5.4 PACs may also co-opt non-voting additional members to ensure residents and 

users’ groups are fully represented.  Only statutory co-optees will have voting 
rights.  All co-opted members will be able to participate fully in all meetings 
and have the same access to information as elected members.  

 
5.5 Each PAC will maintain a work programme of policies and issues identified by 

the PAC members to be investigated, analysed and understood prior to 
making recommendations to decision-makers. PACs may receive evidence 
from experts and user groups either in writing in advance or verbally at 
meetings.  

 
5.6 All PACs may compel Council officers and Executive members to attend 

meetings as required and can expect to receive written evidence as requested.  
 

Page 5



5.7 Where appropriate, PAC members may conduct research outside of formal 
meetings and make site visits as required.  

 
5.8 When considering major cross-cutting issues that impact upon the work of 

more than one PAC, PACs may meet concurrently to receive evidence in a 
joint session. Following such meetings, reports may be published as joint 
reports or as separate responses. Alternatively, for major cross-cutting issues 
that impact the work of more than one PAC or require detailed attention, PACs 
may appoint sub-committees or task groups to examine the particular issue.  

 
5.9 Overview and Scrutiny Committees will be known in Hammersmith & 

Fulham as the PACs. 
 
 

Health, Inclusion and Social Care  
Policy & Accountability Committee 

Terms of Reference 
 

 
Principal Functions 
All the powers of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee as set out in section 
21 of the Local Government Act 2000 and Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007, in particular: 

 To discharge functions under the Health and Social Care Act 2001 

 To discharge any functions under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 
and any subsequent regulations  

 To develop policy within the scope of the Committee and make 
recommendations to the Cabinet 

 Monitor the administration and spending in services within its scope 

 To review the impact of decisions and policies implemented by the 
Council  

 Lead responsibility for scrutinising the relevant Cabinet Members(s). 
 
Scope: 

 Health of both children and adults (including public health)  

 The provision, maintenance and improvement of primary and acute 
NHS services in the borough 

 The provision of mental health services in the borough 

 Adult social care services in the borough, including the exercise of 
statutory responsibilities in relation to the scrutiny of health as set out in 
Article 6 and also the voluntary and community sector 

Members 
5 voting Councillors 

Quorum 
3 Members of the Committee 
 

Political proportionality 
4 Administration Members  
1 Opposition Members 

Co-opted Members 
Up to 5 non-voting members 

Page 6



 The Council’s equalities and diversity programmes and support for 
vulnerable groups. 

 Council and other out-of-school services for youth in the Borough  

 The Council’s Voluntary Sector strategy 

 Increasing access to opportunity in all aspects of social and economic 
life in the borough 

 Other policies and initiatives supporting social inclusion in the borough 

 Any other matter allocated by the Finance, Commercial Revenue and 
Contracts PAC 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT - None 
 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
 
 

Health, Adult Social Care and 
Social Inclusion Policy and 
Accountability Committee 

Minutes 
 

Tuesday 13 March 2018 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Andrew Brown, David Morton, and Rory Vaughan (Chair) 
 
Co-opted members: Victoria Brignell (Action on Disability); Jim Grealy (Save Our 
Hospitals); and Bryan Naylor (Age UK) 
 
Other Councillors: Ben Coleman 
 
Officers: Jo Baty, Head of SEN and Local Offer; Janet Cree, Managing Director, 
H&F CCG; Mandy Lawson, Assistant Director, SEN; Steve Miley, Director of Family 
Services; Lisa Redfern, Director of Social Care; Prof. Julien Redhead. Interim Chief 
Executive, Imperial College NHS Trust; Prof. Janice Sigsworth, Imperial College 
NHS Trust; and Dr Tim Spicer, Chair of H&F CCG 
 

 
180. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
Victoria Brignell clarified that she was Chair of the Action on Disability and 
Janet Cree clarified that for consistency, the spend figure quoted under the 
item on GP Federation and funding was £1.3 million.   
 
RESOLVED 
 
That subject to the above two points of clarification, the minutes of the 
meeting held on Tuesday, 30 January 2018, were agreed as an accurate 
record. 
 

181. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from, Councillors Joe Carlebach, Mercy 
Umeh and Sharon Holder, and from Co-optee Debbie Domb. 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

182. DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 
None. 
 

183. NW LONDON COLLABORATIVE CCGS SHADOW JOINT COMMITTEE 
TERMS OF REFERENCE  
 
Councillor Vaughan welcomed Janet Cree, Managing Director of 
Hammersmith & Fulham CCG and Dr Tim Spicer, Chair of Hammersmith & 
Fulham CCG Governing Body.  Janet Cree briefly explained that the eight 
governing bodies that formed the NW London collaboration of CCGs had 
approved that a joint committee be set up in January 2018 in shadow form.  
The development of governance and logistical arrangements required to 
support this new structure would be work in progress and it was confirmed 
that there was no delegated authority at that the time.  The terms of reference 
for the shadow joint committee had been drafted and published. They would 
be formally considered by all the governing bodies, with a power for 
delegated decision making most likely to be in place by the second quarter of 
2018/19.  
 
Councillor Ben Coleman expressed concern that the report had not sought 
two-way dialogue between the governing bodies and interested stakeholders. 
The shadow joint committee would be working through the issues, and 
feedback any insights arising from this discussion.  Janet Cree confirmed that 
this would then go back to each of the governing bodies for further 
consideration and acknowledged that there may be further amendments 
made to the terms of reference before being formally approved.  Councillor 
Coleman pointed out that there had been little clarity on this issue and that it 
was legitimately open to discussion and scrutiny.  Residents were concerned 
that local powers would be diluted and result in significant changes to 
services that were much needed and valued.  He asked what those changes 
might be and whether they would be subject to scrutiny by eight of scrutiny 
committees of the NW London boroughs. 
 
Dr Spicer confirmed that there would be changes to the draft terms of 
reference before formal approval.  He explained that much of the CCG’s work 
and activities were local, elements of which took place across North West 
London.  In addition to supporting the on-going work of the Joint Health and 
Overview Scrutiny Committees (JHOSC), local scrutiny would also continue. 
There would be no change in terms of accountability and Dr Spicer assured 
Councillor Coleman that there would be consultation, recognising the 
importance of strong local involvement with residents.  The local health 
economy was complex and there was a need for a governance structure to 
co-ordinate the more complex health provision across Hammersmith & 
Fulham. This would add to acute service provision activities such as cancer.  
It was explained that not all trusts do the more complex cancer treatments 
and care.  This was not a matter of having more ‘clout’, it was about having 
access to more specialist care from acute service-providing trusts. 
 
Co-optee, Jim Grealy sought clarification regarding the CCG’s attendance at 
the Committee and if they represented eight CCGs, or one (Hammersmith & 

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Fulham).  Referring to point 17, Reporting, reference was made to local 
representation, engagement and public reporting, which were not the same.  
He asked the CCG how they would relate to the public in the Borough and 
address their concerns.  Dr Spicer explained that they would be reporting 
differently but that local engagement would remain the same.  Local 
accountability and support to the Health and Wellbeing Board would not 
change.  The shadow joint committee would work similarly and did not 
replace Hammersmith & Fulham CCG. Day to day relationships would remain 
the same.  Dr Spicer agreed that there was different demand across the 
Borough and that one size did not fit all, local adjustments were required to 
reflect local need.  
 
The report inferred that there would be separate decision making and Jim 
Grealy sought assurance that the local collaboration would not be able to 
retreat to its own area.  He asked how the CCG would reconcile potential 
differences.  Dr Spicer replied that he did not think that it was a function of the 
shadow joint committee to take decisions that were detrimental to local 
people.  The CCG wanted to take decisions that were consistent and useful 
across large sections of the community, for example, trying to ensure 
improved and consistent nursing care home standards. Dr Spicer 
acknowledged that any tension between the CCG and the collaborative joint 
committee would be resolved to the benefit of residents.  
 
Councillor Vaughan referred to the draft terms of reference and the point that 
decision making would be achieved by consensus.  He understood that this 
was preferable to the majority vote system where there was an obligation to 
attend PAC.  He asked if the CCG had agreed to either a consensual, 
unanimity or majority voting processes, as part of that collaborative 
arrangement, which they may have to defend.  Dr Spicer replied that currently 
there was no binding decision making.  The CCG had set out the draft 
arrangement in the draft terms of reference and agreed to accept scrutiny of 
this, maintaining accountability.   
 
Councillor Vaughan responded that it would be different in terms of the bigger 
decisions.  If the CCG disagreed with the majority view, this would need to be 
defended at this PAC.  Dr Spicer acknowledged this as a legitimate concern.  
The CCG had worked collaboratively for six years, and that while each CCG 
was not always happy with whole approach, the benefits outweighed this.  He 
clarified that the PAC would be scrutinising Hammersmith & Fulham CCG.   
 
Councillor Coleman observed that if the CCG was outvoted, then the other 
CCG members would not come to this PAC.  He asked if the minutes of the 
meeting would demonstrate the CCG’s disagreement at the joint committee.  
Dr Spicer confirmed that the minutes would record both the discussion and 
the vote.   
 
Co-optee Bryan Naylor commented that there were some areas of 
uncertainty, and that his interpretation of the terms of reference was not the 
same.  The shadow joint committee would make local decisions.  He 
suggested that the terms of reference should be brought back to the PAC for 
consideration and amendment.  Dr Spicer said that the agreed terms of 

Page 10



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

reference would be more helpful to review, depending on the timing.  This 
would be a functional committee, engaged in a collaborative process, working 
for the benefit of local population. The PAC would have an opportunity to 
scrutinise the terms of reference once they were agreed, prior to 
implementation. 
 
Lisa Redfern referred to point 4, Duties: Decision Making and asked about 
joint decisions in relation to all acute mental health services that the Local 
Authority was not involved in and suggested that greater clarity was required 
on this section.  Dr Spicer agreed and explained that most of the work 
undertaken on acute services was joint but it was acknowledged that some 
further redrafting of the terms of reference was required. 
 
Councillor Morton suggested that the wording around consensus, particularly 
voting, also required greater clarity.  Dr Spicer felt that the wording required 
further clarity but pointed out that the document was first drafted in December 
2017 and was now slightly dated, as discussions had developed.  There were 
comparable anxieties across North West London but the CCG aspired to 
making decisions by consensus.  Dr Spicer recognised that it might not 
always possible to do this.  A consensual approach would have to be worked 
through on a case by case basis.  Where it was possible, the CCG would 
make decisions by consensus but this might later have to be by majority.   
 
Councillor Brown asked that if the majority agreed a decision, did there exist a 
veto so that the CCG could opt out but still maintain its sovereign position.  Dr 
Spicer confirmed that the joint committee existed with the agreement of all the 
CCGs.  Hammersmith & Fulham CCG was still a statutory body and this 
would continue.  Dr Spicer offered an assurance that if this did not work, the 
CCG discontinue the process and would advocate for benefit of LBHF 
residents.   
 
Councillor Coleman asked, if the CCG was out voted, was a six-month notice 
period required.   Janet Cree explained that this was the reason the terms of 
reference were in draft form.  The joint committee would need to work through 
the issues in practice and test it, hence, a period of shadow working.  This 
would be further considered by the governing bodies.  Janet Cree recognised 
the concerns but the CCG’s response would depend on the individual the 
circumstances.   
 
Councillor Coleman asked if the CCG could envisage a situation where they 
might refuse to implement at joint decision.  Dr Spicer said that there may be 
decisions that they would first come to a view on from within CCG, before 
going to the collaborative. Dr Spicer confirmed that, following lengthy 
discussions with the CCG collaborative, he would be prepared to disagree.  
The CCG would stand down, if it was felt that the decision was wrong for the 
residents of Hammersmith & Fulham. It was very hard work to get this 
number of individuals to agree.  Seeking the agreement of five CCG’s and for 
18 contracts to align had taken two years. There remained some details 
within the contracts that were imperfect, however, Dr Spicer asserted that he 
would not have agreed to them as a clinician, if they were wrong for a patient.  
 

Page 11



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Focusing on point 17, Jim Grealy asked about local stakeholders and the fact 
that the term ‘consultation’ was missing.  Engagement had been one-way in 
recent years, with the CCG not engaging on large questions.  Jim Grealy 
asked the CCG to reinstate the word “consultation” at the formative stage of 
policy formulation and development.  Dr Spicer agreed to forward this point 
for consideration, acknowledging that the CCG retained a statutory duty to 
consult.  
 
The CCG confirmed that if it were to take a collective decision, they would be 
willing to go to any of the health scrutiny committees to defend a particular 
decision.  Councillor Coleman asserted that the collective CCGs should all 
equally be willing to go to each of the scrutiny committees.  Dr Spicer affirmed 
that the CCG would do so, if necessary.  His responsibility was to 
Hammersmith & Fulham CCG and that Ealing CCG would operate in the 
same way. 
 
Councillor Coleman suggested that accountability to each council in future 
should be more explicitly reflected in CCG documents.  Dr Spicer explained 
that some of the decision making was delegated to the joint committee.  
Councillor Coleman responded that the key issue was the provision of acute 
services, conferring massive power to the joint committee, which would 
collectively make decisions for other councils and that there was a duty for 
the CCG to go where called to maintain accountability.  
 
Janet Cree reiterated that the minutes of the CCG would reflect the 
discussion and voting but clarified that the joint committee was not currently a 
decision-making body.  Dr Spicer confirmed that the eight CCGs had been 
meeting for six years, with the intention being that the joint committee would 
replace the need for this.  Janet Cree explained that the details regarding 
Healthwatch representation had not yet been determined and was 
considering having a limited number of lay members.   
 
Lisa Redfern sought further clarification that what was not explicit within the 
terms of reference was information about the commissioning arrangements, 
given the size of the collaborative.  For example, Hammersmith & Fulham 
CCG led on specific areas and the other 2 CCGs had other specific lead 
commissioning arrangements.  Given the power to delegate decision-making, 
it was important to be clear about which CCG would be lead for a specific 
commissioning arrangement.  Janet Cree accepted that this required clarity.   
 
Dr Spicer noted that Hammersmith & Fulham was the lead commissioner for 
Imperial although Hammersmith & Fulham residents were not the majority 
users.  The lead commissioner arrangement was good for accountability but 
this was not an ideal arrangement due to the complexity of the provider 
arrangements in Hammersmith & Fulham.   Lisa Redfern agreed and added 
that it was increasingly complex for local authorities to navigate 
commissioning arrangements so that this was even more important, given the 
complexity of the new 8 CCG collaborative arrangement. 
 
Merrill Hammer (Save Our Hospitals) commented that democratic and 
accountability arrangements were binding on all the CCGs but the joint 

Page 12



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

committee was accountable to the individual CCG, which in turn was 
accountable to the local authority. She asked why the collaboration required 
such a complex structure, when complex arrangements already existed, for 
example, acute service provision for cancer treatment and care. Dr Spicer 
explained that the infrastructure only reflected the complexity of the local 
provider landscape.  NHS England encouraged the CCG to deliver increased 
level of co-ordination, to be considered by each of the eight CCGs. This new 
structure was necessary to deliver improvements in that co-ordination.  Dr 
Spicer referred to an earlier point regarding the improvement of co-ordinating 
the consistency of care standards across residential homes which had taken 
over two years.  The eight CCGs would remain but this is a way of bringing 
together collective decision making.   
 
Councillor Vaughan summarised the discussion, noting that there were 
several points to be referred to the joint committee and the confirmation that 
minutes from the joint committee will go to Hammersmith & Fulham CCG.  As 
this was the last PAC meeting of the municipal year, this would be added to 
the draft work programme, which would be agreed after the May elections. 
The key issues were: 
 

 Democratic accountability; 

 Different operating models; 

 Greater clarity around exercising vetoes; 

 The distinction between consensus as opposed to unanimity in 
decision-making and which would be better;  

 Clarity around lead commissioning arrangements; and 

 Consultation.  
  
Councillor Vaughan thanked the CCG for all their contributions and 
participation throughout the meetings and for the constructive dialogue over 
the past year.  
 

184. IMPERIAL COLLEGE NHS TRUST: CARE QUALITY COMMISSION 
INSPECTION REPORT FEBRUARY 2018  
 
Professor Julian Redhead, Interim Chief Executive and Professor Janice 
Sigsworth, Director of Nursing, of Imperial College NHS Trust, provided a 
brief introduction and presentation.  The Care Quality Commission (CQC) had 
visited in November 2017 to look at specific services. This had been followed 
in February 2018 by a ‘well led’ inspection survey.  Surgery at Charing Cross 
remained the same as previously designated in 2014 as ‘requires 
improvement’. St Mary’s remained as ‘requires improvement’ and leadership 
also ‘requires improvement’.  While this was disappointing, Professor 
Redhead said that he was pleased that the CQC recognised areas of good 
practice, although challenges remained on referral to treatment times (RTT) 
around elective care.  Other areas to work on specifically included 
maintenance in operating theatres at Charing Cross and Prof. Redhead was 
disappointed about the evaluation of the emergency department at Charing 
Cross, identified as performing 'requires improvement’.  There was 
considerable pressure on staff but the Trust had plans to ensure 
improvement.  

Page 13



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
Councillor Morton referred to the CQC report from 2014 and commented that 
there had been relatively little improvement in the intervening period and he 
asked whether the Trust should be looking for causes for the lack of 
improvement, particularly in case of Charing Cross.  Prof. Sigsworth replied 
that in May 2017, outpatients had improved significantly.  A second visit from 
CQC in October 2017 had looked at medical services, where Charing Cross 
was found to have performed well on stroke services and two services 
marked as outstanding.  Overall, this was a positive review but Prof. 
Sigsworth acknowledged that St Mary’s was an issue. 
 
Referencing the various evaluations and their respective movements as to 
improvement or decline, Councillor Morton observed that it was disappointing 
that there were basic safety actions that the Trust needed to take, such as 
maintaining a key to access a locked medicine cabinet.  Prof. Sigsworth 
acknowledged that the primary focus was patient safety.   A clinician led team 
which included a doctor, nurse and general manager had been formed and 
changes implemented since 2014, but Prof. Sigsworth recognised that there 
was more work to be done.  Prof. Redhead added that the CQC evaluations 
had been a disappointment to the staff and that the Trust would support them 
in helping to bring about change.  He provided an assurance that the care 
provided was of a very high standard.   
 
Co-optee Jim Grealy commented that safety was not ticked in every box and 
that this was a concern.  He had observed that there was a repeat occurrence 
of delays in treatment which was above the national average and that the 
reason for this needed to be clearly identified.  Prof. Redhead said that there 
were a range of issues such as loss of staff (ward nurses at Charing Cross) 
and seven operating theatres not being entirely safe.  All of this meant that 
there was an enormous job to be undertaken to bring about improvement.  All 
the Trusts safety indices were good, except for statutory management training 
and estates. Imperial had the biggest maintenance backlog of any trust.  Prof. 
Redhead continued that delays in surgery were well documented.  The 
Trust’s root problem was with the lack of capacity. Issues were driven by 
A&E, which then impacted on elective work.  Home care issues were well 
documented, where there were areas to improve on.  
 
In terms of staffing, Prof. Sigsworth recognised the difficulty retaining and 
training staff.  There were many large hospitals to work in within London and 
it was accepted that once trained, staff might then move on.  There have 
been national policy changes and this movement was understood but there 
was a parallel need to recruit. There had been a reduction in numbers of 
applications for nursing courses.  Charing Cross had vacancies in older 
peoples’ services but Prof. Sigsworth admitted that this was traditionally a 
more unpopular placement than critical care or surgery.  The Trust hoped to 
address this by recruiting to 50-100 apprenticeships and nursing assistant 
roles.   
 
Jim Grealy observed that there were significant concerns about the cut in the 
number of nurses, with a national shortage.  The added difficulties in 
recruiting to older peoples’ services given the aging local population was 

Page 14



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

further exacerbated when considered in the context of the STP (Sustainability 
and Transformation Plan).   Janet Cree explained that work had been 
undertaken to get medical staff up to speed on dementia treatment 
innovations.  There was an increasingly older population to serve, and St 
Mary’s acute mental health and trauma services meant that they needed to 
look closely at the mix of the Trust’s workforce to meet future need.   
 
Addressing the point on future training focusing on mental health and older 
people, Bryan Naylor expressed concern about older people being referred to 
as “bed blockers”.  He questioned references made to the reduction in the 
number of step down beds and asked if this was the case, stating that more 
were needed to alleviate pressure.  Prof. Redhead said that there were 
undoubtedly many patients in the Trust whom he acknowledged may not be 
placed in the best environment for them. Support outside of hospital might be 
more suitable but it was necessary work together to identify the best service 
that the Trust could provide.  There was currently no physical capacity to 
include step down beds and this would require further conversations about 
best way to achieve this.   
 
Prof. Sigsworth added that removing a patient from the Trust sometimes 
added further difficulties as they would be removed from their locality.  Bryan 
Naylor observed that most older people could not be effectively treated at 
home, and that 47% lived alone.  Prof. Redhead commented that a lot of 
people in A&E needed support over a short period of time, but accepted that 
that there were certain patients who could not go home.  
 
Councillor Coleman commended the extraordinary staff at Charing Cross.  
Commenting on the earlier reference to staff bullying he suggested that these 
were not addressed or well managed.  Prof. Redhead acknowledged that 
there were always interpretations which concerned the Trust and its Board.  
Action was taken last year to address bullying and harassment within the 
training undertaken by clinicians and managers.  In the last year, there were 
no registered complaints, demonstrating that the Trust would effectively 
address these areas when highlighted. The staff survey indicated that 
satisfaction low by comparison to other trusts but had improved. Professor 
Sigsworth had previously received unsolicited emails about staff feeling 
bullied, which they had escalated to her directly. The trust’s human resources 
staff had explored the use of case studies in training.   
 
Councillor Coleman acknowledged the difficulties in recruiting and retaining 
staff but expressed concern about moving patients outside the Borough.   He 
recognised that Prof. Redhead shared similar concerns about Charing Cross 
and observed that there had been a national failing by the NHS to predict the 
demands of the winter crises.  Councillor Coleman suggested that it was 
therefore time to ditch the Shaping a Healthier Future programme (SaHF) 
which was now holding the Trust back.  Prof. Redhead declined to publicly 
state that this was not what he wanted for Imperial, stating that SaHF was not 
a distraction as the Trust continued to invest in services at Imperial.  
 
Jim Grealy focused on two key issues that were highlighted throughout the 
report: capacity of bed space and the availability of skilled staff.  Private 

Page 15



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

investment in healthcare indicated that many trusts derived income from 
private patients.  He asked what proportion of staff and beds could be 
attributed to the treatment of private patients.  Prof. Redhead responded that 
income generated by private patients was reinvested in the NHS.  This was a 
dynamic symbiotic relationship which was also helpful in terms of providing 
elective care.   
 
Councillor Coleman expressed concern about the exercise of power and the 
implications of moving from one CCG to eight.  Prof. Redhead replied that 
while he understood Councillor Coleman’s concern around governance and 
its challenges, the advantage was that there would be stronger powers to co-
ordinate acute services as a provider.   
 
Lisa Redfern expressed an interest in reviewing the methodology used to 
monitor performance and improvement plans at a future PAC, ahead of the 
next CQC inspection.   Performance, quality assurance boards and action 
plans provided focus.  Prof.  Redhead explained that within the Trust was an 
executive board committee tasked with scrutinising through many different 
internal mechanisms improvement and action plans.   
 
Councillor Vaughan commented that engagement remained an issue and that 
there was a lot of work to be undertaken, particularly given the verdict in 
2014.  He asked the Trust if the CQC findings had come as a surprise, or 
were these areas ones that they had been cognisant of. He asked if the 
actions that followed were those that the Trust was taking in terms of those 
findings. Recognising the pressures faced by the Trust he asked how the 
Trust planned to address the issues. Prof. Redhead responded that they took 
the report very seriously and had implemented an improvement action plan.  
Some of the findings were surprising, such as Charing Cross’s emergency 
department but, overall, it was not unexpected that challenges around RTT, 
patient waiting lists, and the huge backlog of estate maintenance had been 
identified.  
 
Commenting on the issue of the estates backlog of maintenance, Councillor 
Vaughan asked if this was attributed to the lack of funding. He asked if there 
had been any improvement across Charing Cross and St Mary, comparing 
October to January, in the four-hour target figure which had dipped, and, 
issues of hygiene at Charing Cross and an infection control incident 
December 2017.  Prof. Redhead explained that in terms of the backlog, this 
amounted to approximately £1 million, however there was a programme of 
essential maintenance that was on-going.  Figures for the four-hour wait 
target were good this winter and there had been one ward closure at Charing 
Cross to protect other members of the public.  A bigger problem had occurred 
at St Mary’s, with a ward being closed because the ceiling had collapsed due 
to structural issues.  Given the age of the estate it was expected that these 
incidents would continue to occur, making the estate at St Mary’s a priority.  
 
Councillor Vaughan requested that the PAC be provided with the action plan 
after the election, to better understand the estate priorities at St Mary’s, and 
to ascertain where the funding might come from to improve it for the benefit of 
residents. He expressed his thanks for the dedication and commitment of all 

Page 16



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

staff at the Trust and hoped to see much sought-after improvement to 
scrutinise in the next municipal year.  Charing Cross Hospital was a much 
valued and needed local resource and many Councillors and residents were 
keen to ensure its survival. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the report be noted.   
 

185. IMPROVING TRANSITIONS - TASK GROUP FINAL REPORT  
 
Councillor Vaughan welcomed Jo Baty, Mandy Lawson, Steve Miley and Lisa 
Redfern, who jointly presented the report.  This had been recognised as an 
important piece of work.  Development of the report had been undertaken 
some time ago and consideration of the report now presented an opportunity 
to understand the implementation of its key recommendations.   
 
Mandy Lawson explained this had been a long journey which represented a 
significant amount of work marking the end of shared services.  
Disaggregation had presented an opportunity to create a new department and 
establish a sovereign service, with a commitment to co-produce at its core. To 
date, a disabled children’s manager and support team had been recruited, 
and was expected to launch on 26 March.  The Special Educational Needs 
(SEND) team would be brought into the integrated team, with the aim of 
having one practitioner per child. The approach would be piloting new ways of 
working, aiming to have a single pathway, replacing the previous multi-
pathway method to access Adult Social Care (ASC) provision.   
 
Lisa Redfern said that the most exciting aspect was to unite ASC and 
children’s social workers, working jointly to plan care from the age of 14 
through to 25 years of age. The aim was to have a fully integrated service and 
ensure there were no more gaps in service provision for 14-25 year olds in 
transition.  
 
Steve Miley observed that at the time of the task force, many aspects 
appeared obvious.  Radical changes were made to reconfigure services 
within the new department, which reflected officer commitment to do 
something differently. This represented a significant change where parents 
and children would experience a seamless service.  
 
Jo Baty emphasised the importance of co-production in the new service, 
referring to the recommendations of the Disabled People’s Commission 
(DPC). Tara Flood, who chaired the DPC, continued to work with officers and 
they had also been assisted by contributions from parents as critical friends.  
This had helped officers to evaluate, address mistakes and make changes as 
necessary.  Hammersmith & Fulham was an exciting borough for children’s 
work and mainstream schools had expressed an interest in exploring work 
pathways.  
 
Councillor Coleman commended Councillor Vaughan’s commitment in driving 
forward the work of the task group, which represented one of the 

Page 17



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Administration’s key manifesto pledges: that ASC and children’s services 
work together. He welcomed report which was timely in its alignment with a 
key recommendation from the DPC to prioritise co-production.   
 
Co-optee Victoria Brignell referred to page 94, section 11, opportunities for 
adults with learning disabilities, and asked about the possible timescales, 
dates, performance measures and next steps.  Mandy Lawson responded 
that they had just opened a new disabled children’s centre.  Employment had 
been offered and declined by a young person to work within the new centre, 
illustrating that further work would be required to improve the low numbers of 
employed learning disabled in the Borough.  Phase one had focused on 
‘Moving On’ and establishing the new service.  Phase two would be piloting 
new ways of working with ASC social workers.  Timescales were difficult, but 
it was anticipated that planning would begin within the next 6 months.  The 
aim was to initiate conversations with young people and their families from 13 
years of age.  In terms of next steps and performance measures, it was 
anticipated that Lisa Redfern would formulate and finalise an action plan to 
support this.   
 
The measure of success would be that no young person should slip through 
the net, so that everyone would have a transition plan, without exception.  It 
was expected that a survey to monitor engagement would also be included in 
the action plan, together with individual reviews, to continually test the service 
methodology.  Councillor Coleman observed that the question of 
measurement was hugely important and fundamental to developing the 
service and that this required further consideration. 
 
Merrill Hammer commended the report and asked the extent to which the 
project would have SEN children placed mainstream schools, with 
behavioural and numeracy issues.  Jo Baty explained that the biggest group 
of SEN children were already in mainstream schools and would continue to 
be supported.  
 
Co-optee Jim Grealy welcomed the report and was interested in how the 
service would be resourced, referencing section 7 of the report.  Steve Miley 
explained that Education would also become a sovereign service in the 
Borough.  He acknowledged that pressure on resources was an issue for 
every local authority and recognised by central government.  Lisa Redfern 
continued that there were also significant budget pressures in ASC funding. 
However, where a young person was identified earlier at age 14, who 
required specific help, this became easier to resolve. The cost of supported 
housing became cheaper, so there was better, joined up provision.  There 
was potential to save costs if provision was better planned with a longer lead 
in.  
 
Councillor Vaughan thanked all the officers for their work and commitment to 
the new services and welcomed the new joined up approach that saw ASC 
and Children’s services working together.  He looked forward to receiving an 
update on this exciting development and wished officers well with its 
implementation.  It would be a real achievement to take away the struggles 

Page 18



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

that parents and young people must deal with and to improve outcomes for 
them.   
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

186. WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The current work programme would be rolled forward to the next municipal 
year, subject to confirmation at the next meeting of the Committee.  
 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the report be noted.   
 

187. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
To be confirmed, following the London Council elections, being held on 3 May 
2018.  

 
 

 
Meeting started: 7pm 
Meeting ended: 10.30pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Bathsheba Mall 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 5758 
 E-mail: bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 19



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE & SOCIAL 
INCLUSION POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY  

 
20 June 2018 

 

 

 

PRESENTATION OF THE FINAL DRAFT OF IMPERIAL COLLEGE TRUST’S 
QUALITY ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR 2017/18 

 
 

 
 

Classification - For Policy & Accountability Review & Comment 
 

Key Decision: No  
 

Wards Affected: All  
 

Accountable Director: Lisa Redfern, Director of Social Care 
 

Report Author:  
Martin Calleja  
Head of Health Partnerships  
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 07375 057 705 
Email:martin.calleja@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1 The final draft of Imperial College NHS Trust’s Quality Account for 2017/18 is 
presented to Committee for review and discussion.  Quality Accounts were 
introduced in 2009 by the Department of Health to make healthcare organisations 
more accountable when it comes to quality of care. They are designed to report 
on how they have performed against the targets we set for ourselves last year, 
and to share targets for next year. The report is structured over five domains of 
quality (safe, effective, responsive, caring and well led).  

1.2 Overall the report sets out a range of significant service improvements over the 
last year by hospital site and quality domains. Key achievements highlighted 
include strong performance against national cancer waiting time standards and 
some outstanding practice with medical care at Charing Cross, rated through the 
Care Quality Commission’s (CQC) inspection during the year as such for 
effective and caring aspects.   However, the report also concludes that progress 
has not been made far or fast enough against a number key targets and 
ambitions including the four-hour A&E access standard and eighteen-week 

Page 20

Agenda Item 7



referral to treatment (RTT) waiting time targets.  The noted inspection, that was 
presented to the Committee at the 13 June 2017 meeting, concluded that the 
Trust has not made sufficient progress overall to improve their rating which 
remained at requires improvement.    

1.3 This detailed report and account of delivery is set out within the context of many 
continuing key challenges including; increasing demand (particularly emergency 
admissions and day case operations), an ageing estate combined with a noted 
lack of space to extend capacity and continuing difficulties with recruitment and 
retention of clinical staff needed.  The report also details the Trust’s ongoing 
commitment to improve quality including a review of further work to drive up 
improvement across core services that will be launched in the summer and the 
development a comprehensive strategic development programme to transform 
services and manage demand.   

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. To consider the Trusts final draft Quality Account for 2017/18 including the   
position on progress made, continuing priorities and the plans set out to deliver 
them. 

 
2.2. Further consider if plans for improvement sufficiently address the underlying key 

challenges and pressures that have impacted on delivery to date and assure 
good prospects for delivery.  This includes a commitment to manage down 
demand of acute services through service transformation.  

 
3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1. The recommendations are in line with the role of the Policy and Accountability 
Committee.  

 
4. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

4.1. Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust provides acute and specialist health care 
in north west London for around a million and a half people every year. Formed in 
2007, they are one of the largest NHS trusts in the country, with nearly 11,000 
staff.  The Trust provides care from five hospitals on four sites as well as a range 
of community facilities across the region.  Our five hospitals are Charing Cross 
Hospital, Hammersmith Hospital, Queen Charlotte’s & Chelsea Hospital, St 
Mary’s Hospital and Western Eye Hospital.  

 
 

5. KEY ISSUES  

5.1 Detailed plans including deliverables and targets for 18/19 are set out across a 
very wide range of priorities.  A summary of some of the key issues and 
associated reasons are set out below.  

Page 21



5.1.1 Reducing avoidable harm - there were 14 incidents causing severe/major 
harm and 13 incidents causing extreme harm/death in 17/18. 

5.1.2 Improving the safety culture - there was an increase in staff reporting they 
had witnessed potentially harmful errors, near misses or incidents from 30 
– 37%. 

5.1.3 Improving permanent nurse staffing levels - vacancy rates are above 
target. 

5.1.4 Ensuring staff are up to date with required mandatory skills - core skills 
and clinical training is below target in some areas and the HR 
management system needs to be developed. 

5.1.5 Ensuring equipment has planned maintenance in line with targets.  

5.1.6 Improving management of medicines - raised again at the last CQC 
inspection. 

5.1.7 Ensuring hand hygiene compliance - independent audits and further 
inspection feedback conclude there is more to do. 

5.1.8 Organisational management to reduce unwarranted variation across 9 key 
pathways including mental health crisis, acuter respiratory care and the 
maternity pathway.  

5.1.9 Improvement of emergency flow through the hospital - to achieve 90% 
performance by September and 95% by March 2019 in the four hour wait 
target. 

5.1.10 To improve access by increasing capacity (to assure emergency and RTT 
performance – by a combination of additional capacity and efficiency 
management) 

5.1.11 To improve access for patients waiting for elective surgery - RTT 
standards have not been met since 2015 – although 83% of patients are 
treating within target). 

5.1.12 Improving compliance with equality and diversity standards - greater 
oversight and co-ordination is required  

5.1.13 Specialist review and clinical strategy development - the Trusts speciality 
review programme is a clinically led process to develop a 5-year strategy 
that will better organise, delivery and develop services – it covers 37 
specialities and is driven by the associated clinical experts. 

6. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  

6.1. Options analysis is not relevant to this report.  
 

Page 22



7. CONSULTATION 

7.1. The report provides the following summary of the consultation that informs 
service delivery (page 10). 

‘In 2016, we developed a Trust-wide approach to increasing and improving 
patient and public involvement in every aspect of our work. Progress with the 
strategy in 2017/18 has included: 

 A new digital patient reference group - providing input and feedback on the 
development of apps, the use of digital patient records and other online 
opportunities to help ensure our digital strategy meets the needs and 
preferences of our patients and communities 

 The establishment of an additional 22 lay partner roles – enabling patients 
and local people to play a full part in the Trust’s key projects and 
programmes, bringing the total to 44 and influencing major developments 
such as waiting list improvements, estates redevelopment and a new patient 
transport tender  

 The creation of a new volunteer role to support improvement projects – 
focusing on gathering feedback directly from patients, carers, family, and 
friends in clinical environments 

 Publishing our first involvement toolkit for staff – offering advice and 
practical support to involve patients and the public in services and 
improvement work’. 

 
8. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. The provision of high quality local health services for all residents is a 
fundamental requirement for assuring equality in health and wellbeing.  5.1.12 
references the need for further work in this area.  

 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. There are no legal implications associated with the finalisation and publication of 
of the Quality Account for 17/18 for the Council.  

 
9.2. Implications verified/completed by: (Name, title, and telephone of Legal Officer) 

 
 

10. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

10.1. There are no direct financial or resource implications for the Council associated 
with the finalisation and publication of the Quality Account for 17/18 for the 
Council.   

 
10.2. The quality of and levels of demand for acute services do however have very 

significant implications for demand and costs for social care services.  Referral to 
Treatment waiting times and numbers of patients requiring care following hospital 
discharge are significant drivers of demand and costs and there is more work to 
do with NHS partners to plan for change across the whole service system.   

Page 23



 
10.3. Implications verified/completed by: (Name, title and telephone of Finance Officer). 

 
 
11.  IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 
11.1 There are no proposals in this report that have business implications for the 

Council.  
 
12.       RISK MANAGEMENT  

12.1 The Council is developing its approach to joint risk and resource management 
with NHS partners.  This work is being led by the Director of Social Care with the 
Head of Health Partnerships and a framework will be established with 
Hammersmith and Fulham CCG by the end of the year.  

 
13.        PROCUREMENT AND IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1  There are no procurement of IT implications for the Council.   
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. none   

 

 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1 – Imperial College Health Care NHS Trust  

Draft Quality Account 2017/18 
 

Page 24



  
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Quality Account 2017/18 

Page 25



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 2 

Contents 

Statement from the chief executive ......................................................................................... x 

About this report ....................................................................................................................... x 

Statement of directors’ responsibilites ................................................................................... x 

About our Trust ......................................................................................................................... x 

Our quality improvement plan .................................................................................................. x 

Statements of assurance from the Trust board ...................................................................... x 

A review of our quality progress 2017/18 ................................................................................ x 

NHS outcomes framework indicators 2017/18 ........................................................................ x 

Statements from stakeholders ................................................................................................. x 

Appendices................................................................................................................................ x 

Glossary .................................................................................................................................... x 

 

Glossary 
We have tried to make this document as straightforward and reader-friendly as possible. A 
glossary of terms used throughout the document can be found on page xx.  
 

 
Alternative formats  
 
This document is also available in other languages, large print and audio formation on request. 
Please contact the communications directorate on 020 3313 3005 for further details. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 3 

Statement from the Chief Executive 
Welcome to our quality account which sets out our progress across all five domains of 
quality.  This is an important document as it allows us the opportunity to describe to the public 
and our stakeholders the progress we are making with our continued focus on providing care 
that is safe, effective, responsive, caring and well led.  The report is transparent, open and 
honest and shows what we have achieved but also the areas in which we have challenges to 
overcome.  I hope that the document shows how we are working hard to achieve our vision to be 
a world leader in transforming health through innovation in patient care, education and research 
whilst recognising the pressures that the NHS is under. 
 
As I have set out in our annual report we face the same challenges as NHS Trusts across the 
UK in terms of growing demand, changing care needs, developing and making the most of 
advances in treatment, difficulties in recruiting enough staff and all in the context of financial 
constraint.  Overall, we increased the number of ‘contacts’ we had with patients last year, 
compared with the previous one. There was a small increase in urgent and emergency 
attendances – through our A&E departments and ambulatory emergency care units – but a 
much larger increase, 7 per cent in emergency admissions, reflecting our sense that we are 
seeing patients with greater health needs. We also carried out more operations last year, with 
the main growth in  day cases rather than inpatient procedures. 
 
Here at ICHT we have additional local issues including the growing struggle with our ageing 
estate and the lack of space in which to expand our capacity.  We have the biggest backlog 
maintenance costs in the NHS and this year has seen us having to deal with major estate 
deficiencies which have impacted negatively on bed capacity as well as patient and staff 
experience and safety. We continue to invest in our estate and have expanded facilities at all 
sites with support and investment from our charity for which I am grateful.  The longer term 
solution however requires significant redevelopment and this year we secured planning 
permission for phase 1 redevelopment of St Mary’s, a new, eight-storey building to house 
ophthalmology services and the majority of the hospital’s outpatient services.  This will require 
investment and the business case is moving forward to secure this.   
 
This all contributed to a very pressurised operational environment, especially over the winter 
months. While we maintained our strong performance against the national cancer care waiting 
time standards – consistently in the top quartile of trusts nationally – we were not able to meet 
the four-hour A&E access standard or the 18-week referral-to-treatment waiting time target.  
 
It is clear that to meet demands we must transform our services and change the way we work as 
our current approach is not sustainable.  That means keeping our focus on continuous 
improvement, further embedding our organisation-wide improvement approach. It also requires 
us to establish a comprehensive strategic development programme to drive larger-scale change 
which calls for even more collaborative working and alignment across the north west London 
sector. Those developments will also inform and be informed by refreshes of a number of key 
strategies in the coming year, including of our clinical, redevelopment and quality strategies.  
 
The past year has also been defined for us by a series of senior leadership changes.  Given that 
picture, it’s especially important to recognise and build on our achievements. This report details 
a whole range of ways in which we have done more for our patients, local communities and, 
importantly, our staff, while progressing along the path back to long term sustainability.  
 
I therefore write this with a great sense of pride in what our staff have achieved during this last 
year and the care they provide to our patients.   I will highlight a few examples however I would 
encourage you to read them in full in this account. 
 
We have the second lowest mortality rates in the UK and with our focus on reduction of 
avoidable harm for patients have seen reductions in a number of areas including infections and 

Page 27



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 4 

pressure ulcers.  Our improvement programme continues to support us to embed a culture of 
continued improvement with progress made in training, educating and coaching our staff in 
improvement methodology and the launch of our imperial flow coaching academy.  Using this 
methodology this year we tripled our flu vaccination rates, have reduced length of stay for 
patients with diabetic foot problems and have piloted an early alert to clinicians of patients at risk 
of developing sepsis. This work on sepsis alerts is also part of a much wider programme to 
develop our safety culture. It is underpinned by awareness-raising, training, improvement rigour 
and new processes to ensure staff feel confident to raise safety concerns and know how to 
address potential issues in the workplace.  Consequently, we have seen our incident reporting 
rates increase while maintaining low levels of harm.  
 
As one of 16 global digital exemplar NHS trusts, we continued our ambitious digital roll-out 
including expanding bed-side monitoring directly into our trust wide electronic patient record 
system and introducing fetal link to enable real-time, central monitoring of babies’ heart rates 
during labour.  Also, for the third consecutive year we have seen improvement in staff 
engagement scores in the national survey and these are now better than average.   
 
We are disappointed that when the Care quality commission inspected the Trust during the year 
we had not made sufficient progress overall to improve our rating which remains at requires 
improvement.   The CQC noted some outstanding practice with medical care at Charing Cross 
rated as such for effective and caring.  We made improvements in a number of areas with a net 
improvement across the quality domain and service level ratings. We’re clear that we have to 

increase our pace and get to ‘good’ and beyond as soon as possible. We have included the trust 

wide improvements in our priority plans for 2018/19 and we are reviewing our approach to 
improvement across the core services against the CQC standards with our top 100 senior 
leaders in May and will launch this in the summer.  There are more details on what CQC found 
and our approach to improvement throughout the report. 
 
Feedback is important to us and we are using the CQC inspection report as well as the outputs 
from a listening campaign we have undertaken to inform the development of our new quality 
strategy which will be published in the autumn.  The new strategy will provide a blueprint of how 
we will get to good and on the road to outstanding over the next five years.   

I hope this quality account paints a clear picture of our commitments to continuous improvement, 
and of how important the safety and experience of our patients are to us all at Imperial College 
Healthcare NHS Trust. Despite our very significant challenges, we are progressing. I am 
optimistic that if we can harness the combined expertise and commitment of our staff, patients, 
partners and communities, we can get there. 

We would like to thank everyone who helped us complete the document including members of 
the public, Healthwatch, local authorities and commissioner colleagues.  Much of the work that is 
described in this document could not have been done without the generosity of our charity, so I 
would like to extend my thanks for all their support.  Finally I would like to thank our staff who 
work tirelessly every day to better the lives of patients and the community we serve, without this 
we would not be making the progress that we are.   

 
[insert signature and date] 

Page 28



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 5 

 About this report 
Quality accounts were introduced in 2009 by the Department of Health to make healthcare 
organisations more accountable when it comes to quality of care. They are designed to report on 
how we have performed against the targets we set for ourselves last year, and to share our 
targets for next year.  
 
There are a number of inherent limitations in the preparation of quality accounts which may 
impact the reliability or accuracy of the data reported. These include: 

 Data is derived from a large number of different systems and processes.  Only some of 
these are subject to external assurance, or included in internal audit’s programme of 
work each year. 

 Data is collected by a large number of teams across the Trust alongside their main 
responsibilities. In many cases, data reported reflects clinical judgement about individual 
cases, where another clinician might have reasonably classified a case differently. 

 National data definitions do not necessarily cover all circumstances, and local 
interpretations may differ. 

 Data collection practices and data definitions are evolving, which may lead to differences 
over time, both within and between years. The volume of data means that, where 
changes are made, it is usually not practical to reanalyse historic data. 

We have sought to take all reasonable steps and exercised appropriate due diligence to ensure 
the accuracy of the data reported, but we recognise that it is nonetheless subject to the inherent 
limitations noted above. We are working to improve data quality across the organisation, as 
described on page xx. Following these steps, to the board’s knowledge, the quality account is a 
true and fair reflection of the Trust’s performance. 
 
We have tried to make this document as straightforward and reader-friendly as possible. A 
glossary of terms used throughout the document can be found on page xx. 
 
If you have any questions, would like to provide feedback on this report, or to be involved in 
producing it next year, please email imperial.quality.team@nhs.net. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29

mailto:imperial.quality.team@nhs.net


Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 6 

Statement of directors’ 
responsibilities in respect of the 
Quality Account 
 
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 to prepare quality accounts for each 
financial year. The Department of Health has issued guidance on the form and content of annual 
quality accounts, which incorporates the legal requirements in the Health Act 2009, National 
Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as amended).  
 
In preparing the quality account, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that: 
 
1. The quality account has been prepared in accordance with Department of Health guidance 

and National Health Service Regulations 2010 (as amended) and presents a balanced 
picture of our performance over the period covered. 

 
2. The content of the quality account is consistent with internal and external sources of 

information including: 

 Trust board minutes and papers for the period April 2017 to May 2018; 

 Papers relating to Quality reported to the Trust board over the period April 2017 to May 
2018; 

 Feedback from Clinical Commissioning Groups; 

 Feedback from local scrutineers, including Healthwatch and local authority overview and 
scrutiny committees; 

 The Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Opinion May 2018; 

 The national inpatient survey 2017; 

 The national staff survey 2017; 

 The General Medical Council’s National Training Survey 2017; 

 Mortality rates provided by external agencies (NHS Digital and Dr Foster). 
 

3. There are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of 
performance included in the quality account, and those controls are subject to review to 
confirm they are working effectively in practice. 
 

4. The data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the quality account is robust 
and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, and is 
subject to appropriate scrutiny and review. 

 
The directors have reviewed the quality account at executive quality committee in May 2018 and 
confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the quality accounts. The quality account was reviewed at our Trust 
board meeting held on 23 May 2018, where the authority of signing the final quality accounts 
document was delegated to the chief executive officer and chair. 
 
By order of the Trust board  
     
[Signatures and date will be inserted once final document is signed off in June] 
 
Chief Executive Officer     Chairman 

Page 30



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 7 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust provides acute and specialist health care in north west 
London for around a million and a half people every year. Formed in 2007, we are one of the 
largest NHS trusts in the country, with nearly 11,000 staff.  
 
We provide care from five hospitals on four sites as well as a range of community facilities 
across the region.  Our five hospitals are Charing Cross Hospital, Hammersmith Hospital, Queen 
Charlotte’s & Chelsea Hospital, St Mary’s Hospital and Western Eye Hospital.  
 

Our Trust in numbers  
 
[Infographic: ‘Our Trust in numbers’ from the annual report will be inserted when available]  
 

Our vision and objectives 
Our vision is to be a world leader in transforming health through innovation in patient care, 
education and research.  
 
To enable us to achieve this, our strategic objectives are: 
 

 To achieve excellent patient experience and outcomes, delivered with care and 
compassion; 

 To educate and engage skilled and diverse people committed to continual learning and 
improvement; 

 As an academic health science centre, to generate world leading research that is 
translated rapidly into exceptional clinical care; 

 To pioneer integrated models of care with our partners to improve the health of the 
communities we serve; 

 To realise the organisation’s potential through excellent leadership, efficient use of 
resources and effective governance. 
 

The Trust vision and strategic objectives are currently being reviewed as part of the developing 
future strategic change programme and will be set out in next year’s accounts. 
 
We have also developed a set of operational objectives for 2017-19 which will continue to be the 
focus of our work over the coming year. They are: 
 

 Improving the way we run our hospitals and services. We will create care pathways 

with processes, ways of working and facilities that consistently achieve the best possible 

outcomes and experiences for our patients and their families, making the most of digital 

and other new technologies. 

 

 Developing more person-centred approaches to care. We will work in partnership 

with our patients and partner organisations to create sustainable services and 

1 
About our Trust 
This part of the report provides some background to our organisation and 
the people we care for. It describes our governance framework and 
structures, our values and behaviours, vision and objectives and some of 
the key strategies which are driving improvement in all areas across the 
organisation.  

Page 31



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 8 

organisational models that help our population stay as healthy as possible and ensure 

access to the most appropriate care when and where it is needed.  

 

 Making our care safer. We will build a culture where all our staff feel safety is key, are 

able to ‘speak up’ and understand their responsibilities; and where patients also feel 

confident to raise safety concerns and believe they will be addressed. 

 

 Making the Trust a great place to work. We will create a shared sense of belonging 

across our organisation, with staff feeling supported, valued and fulfilled, and a 

compelling ‘offer’ in terms of reward and recognition, wellbeing and development. 

 

 Building sustainability. We will continue to build our organisational culture and strategy 

that enable us to deliver our promise, effectively and sustainably. 

The objectives reflect our commitment to improve quality of care, and to ensure that it is 
delivered to our patients by a skilled, motivated and diverse workforce as efficiently as possible. 
They will also support us to improve our CQC ratings.  
 
Throughout the quality account much of the work to deliver these operational objectives is 
described. However for a full assessment of performance against these in 2017/18, please see 
our annual report which will be published on our website in August 2018. 
 

Our ethos and values  
To help everyone to be as healthy as they can be, we want to look out for the people we serve 
as well as to look after them. 
 
We look after people by providing care, whenever and however we are needed, listening and 
responding to individual needs. We look out for people by being their partner at every stage of 
their life, supporting them to take an active role in their own health and wellbeing. 
 
We are one team, working as part of the wider health and care community. We are committed to 
continuous improvement, sharing our knowledge and learning from others. We draw strength 
from the breadth and depth of our diversity, and build on our rich heritage of discovery. 
 
By doing all this, we ensure our care is not only clinically outstanding but also as kind and 
thoughtful as possible. We are also able to play our full part in helping people live their lives to 
the fullest. Our promise is better health, for life. 

 
Our values are: 
 

 Kind – we are considerate and thoughtful, so you feel respected and included. 

 Expert – we draw on our diverse skills, knowledge and experience, so we provide the 

best possible care. 

 Collaborative – we actively seek others’ views and ideas, so we achieve more together. 

 Aspirational – we are receptive and responsive to new thinking, so we never stop 

learning, discovering and improving. 

 

Our Governance framework and structures 
 
Management structure 
An organisational structure was put in place in July 2016 to devolve more authority to clinical 
staff providing care to patients and to reduce the number of management layers.  Services are 

Page 32



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 9 

organised into one of 24 clinical directorates, each with its own ‘triumvirate’ of lead doctor, nurse 
and manager, with dedicated support from finance, human resources and information and 
communications technology. These clinical directorates are organised into three clinical 
divisions, each led by a practising clinician, they are: 
 

 Medicine and integrated care;  

 Surgery, cardiovascular and cancer; 

 Women’s, children’s and clinical support. 
 

The three divisional directors are part of the executive management team and report directly to 
the chief executive. 
 
Imperial Private Healthcare is our private care division, offering a range of services across our 
sites. Private income is invested back into supporting services across the whole Trust. 
 
The clinical divisions are supported by six corporate divisions: 

 Office of the medical director (including quality, improvement, education and research); 

 Nursing director's office (including patient experience, estates and quality compliance); 

 Finance; 

 People and organisational development; 

 Information and communications technology; 

 Communications (including public and patient involvement) 
 
Governance framework 
We regularly review information and feedback about our services and activities at all levels 
across the organisation. This helps us ensure we are on track to meet our targets and objectives 
and to deliver our strategic plans, as well as to help us spot and address problems as soon as 
they arise. 
 
We also contribute to a range of national monitoring programmes, which allows our performance 
to be benchmarked against that of similar NHS trusts. 
 
Every month, our executive management team reviews a comprehensive set of performance 
indicators – our ‘scorecard’.  A scorecard with a core set of indicators is also reviewed by the 
Trust board at its bi-monthly public meeting. For each indicator, we look at how we are 
performing against national standards and/or our own targets that flow from our various 
strategies. In addition to our ‘scorecard’ we also prepare a monthly quality report which includes 
each of the indicators that we set out in our quality account in the previous year. In 2018/19 we 
will produce an expanded and integrated scorecard for use at all committees, more information 
is included on page xx. 
 
On our website, we publish an easy-to-understand monthly performance summary well as the 
full scorecard. 
 
There are five board committees overseeing specific aspects of our work: 

 Quality; 

 Finance and investment; 

 Audit, risk and governance; 

 Remuneration and appointments; 

 Re-development.  
 

Below the board committees is the executive committee which meets on a weekly basis. Sub-
groups to a number of our executive committees meet monthly to ensure that there is sufficient 
time and detailed work being undertaken to deliver improvements. As an example the sub-group 

Page 33



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 10 

to the executive quality committee considers the minutes from the divisional quality committees 
and is where divisions come together and trust wide themes and issues are considered. 

Our key strategies 
 
Quality strategy 
Our current Trust quality strategy ends in 2018 and there are many examples of progress during 
its lifespan, a number of which are included in this account.  The most notable is the launch of 
our quality improvement programme in 2016 which will be central to the new strategy which is 
under development and will be published later this year.  
 
The Quality strategy for 2018-23 will be aligned to the CQC domains of quality and will set out 
our direction and plan for how we will improve to a rating of ‘good’ in all domains and 
‘outstanding’ where possible. More information on the development of the new quality strategy is 
on page xx.    
 
Patient and public involvement strategy 
In 2016, we developed a Trust-wide approach to increasing and improving patient and public 
involvement in every aspect of our work. We set out ambitious goals for achieving meaningful 
involvement in strategic developments, service improvements, service delivery and improving 
individual health and wellbeing.  
 
Implementation of this strategy is overseen by our strategic lay forum, a group of 12 lay partners 
plus senior staff from the Trust, Imperial Health Charity and Imperial College. The full forum 
meets bi-monthly, reports annually to the Trust board, is actively engaged in the Trust’s work 
and plans and, this year, contributed to formal business planning for the first time. Through the 
expertise and connections of our strategic lay forum members in particular, we are also 
beginning to develop coordinated involvement approaches across North West London. 
 
People & organisational development (P&OD) strategy 
Published in 2016, this strategy is designed to support the changing needs of the organisation, 
developing skills and capabilities amongst our staff. It encompasses plans to enhance patient 
and staff experience by focusing on attraction, on-boarding, retention, development and 
continuous improvement in engagement with our workforce.  
 
Clinical Strategy  
Our current clinical strategy1 sets out how we develop, organise and connect our services and 
specialties. Over the last year we have been progressing our Trust specialty review programme 
(SRP) to support us with the development of a new five-year clinical strategy that we plan to 
publish during 2018. Information on the SRP is included on page xx. The strategy will have been 
built up from our specialties and will for the first time, give us a roadmap for our specialties and 
hospital sites. This strategy will take us through our redevelopment programme and beyond, and 
will be a key tool for continued engagement with our teams.  
 
Estates strategy and redevelopment programme 
We have the largest backlog maintenance liability of all trusts (£650m), mostly due to the age of 
our estate.  We therefore have instances where equipment fails and is difficult to repair due to 
obsolete parts. We have had to close beds and departments to react to structural issues which 
can have adverse impacts on our staff and can affect patient experience, service provision, and, 
at times, create a risk to patient safety.  
 
Our estates strategy for 2016 to 2026 provides an integrated approach to the estate with the aim 
to ensure that the Trust provides safe, secure, high-quality healthcare buildings capable of 
supporting current and future service needs.  Whilst the strategy is being progressed, the Trust 

                                                
 

Page 34

https://www.imperial.nhs.uk/about-us/our-strategy/clinical-strategy


Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 11 

board has prioritised its capital expenditure to support priority backlog maintenance and medical 
equipment replacement. For further information, please see our annual report. 
 
The redevelopment programme continues to progress with approved planning permission 
gained during this year for the new outpatient and ophthalmology building (phase one) at St 
Mary’s Hospital. The outline business case for the facility was approved by the Trust in February 
2018 and has been submitted to NHS England, NHS Improvement and local CCGs.  In addition, 
Phase two redevelopment of St Mary’s Hospital campus planning work is underway.  
 
Digital strategy 
The Trust is progressing well with its digital strategy, spanning the five years from 2015 to 2020. 
The strategy is driving more productive working internally and across the local health system, 
moving from paper records towards digital data capture and processing. The aim of our 
programme is that staff and patients can easily and securely access, update, analyse and share 
information to provide best patient care.  The primary drivers are: 
 

 Provide a complete electronic patient record that our staff continuously contribute to so 
that all relevant information is available when needed; 

 Provide the ability to share relevant information to support clinical decision making; 

 Enable patients to access, interpret, update and share their record and play a full part in 
managing their own health; 

 Optimise integrated care pathways to reduce unnecessary variation and improve patient 
outcomes; 

 Use information and analytics to support direct care, service improvement, research and 
population health. 
 

In partnership with Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust we were selected 
by NHS England to become one of 16 global digital exemplars in acute care with dedicated 
funding to deliver innovations which other organisations can then use.  
 

Page 35



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 12 

Our quality improvement plan  
 
This section of the report describes our approach to quality improvement, 
progress with developing our new quality strategy and how we monitor our 
performance throughout the year to ensure we are continuously improving 
our services. It also sets out the targets and work streams we have chosen 
to prioritise in 2018/19. 
 
Our approach to quality improvement 
 
As part of developing our 2015-18 Quality Strategy we recognised the need to build a systematic 
approach to creating a culture of continuous improvement across our organisation. This means 
having a method for developing, testing and implementing change. We believe we will achieve 
this aim through focusing on six areas of work (also called our ‘primary drivers’). This work is led 
by our Improvement Team: 
 
1. Inspire staff, patients and partners to participate in the organisation’s improvement journey 
2. Build improvement capability in our staff & patients 
3. Build improvement capacity to spread quality improvement across the Trust and beyond 
4. Enable local teams to undertake quality improvement projects through defined consultancy 

and coaching support 
5. Support the design, implementation and evaluation of strategic trust wide improvement & 

transformation programmes 
6. Define and develop how we become a learning organisation 
 
Key to this work is having a consistent and coherent improvement methodology through which 
we can conduct our improvement work. This methodology can be summarised as:  
 

 Using the model for improvement – incorporating a clear aim, well defined measures and 
space to think about change ideas, followed by rapid tests of change using multiple Plan-Do-
Study-Act (PDSA) cycles 

 Using driver diagrams (see glossary on page xx for definition) to articulate why certain work / 
projects / initiatives will logically lead to achieving the aim 

 Moving to ‘measurement for improvement’ – time series data with control limits, and 
annotations showing what changes were tried and when 

 Using coaching methods to drive improvement & transformation across the Trust 
 Co-designing change with patients, staff, carers & our wider communities 
 Putting an emphasis on sharing and spreading learning from improvement work. 

 

Enabling quality improvement work  
 
We have established an active engagement programme to inspire staff, patients and our wider 
partners and communities to participate in our improvement work. Over the last two years we 
have engaged over 4,000 staff and patients in quality improvement (QI) awareness sessions, 
with a strong emphasis on making sure that everyone understands the role they can play in 
quality improvement.  
 
We have designed, tested and implemented a comprehensive quality improvement capability 
building programme which has involved over 2,500 participants over the past two years. Our QI 
capability building programme aims to provide all staff at every level with the tools, skills and 
confidence to carry out and lead improvement work. This ranges from introductory sessions, to 

Page 36



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 13 

day-long ‘Tools for Change’ and co-design days, to our award winning Coaching and Leading for 
Improvement four-day programme, which has run five cohorts and developed over 100 coaches 
who are now leading improvement work across the organisation. This programme, together with 
the establishment of a year-long Flow Coaching programme involving nine Imperial clinician-
manager pairs, and our Quality Improvement Fellowship are examples of where we have been 
building the improvement capacity of the organisation. 
 
Through these coaches, and the input of the Improvement Team, we are actively supporting a 
wide range of local teams in undertaking quality improvement projects. The Improvement Team 
have also actively supported the design, delivery and evaluation of 39 Trust-wide improvement 
initiatives this year.  Many of these projects and initiatives have already led to significant 
improvements. Examples include reductions in length of stay (diabetic foot big room), 
improvements in care pathways (virtual fracture clinic), improvements in patient safety (sepsis 
big room) and improvements in uptake (for example a near 300% increase in staff flu vaccines in 
2017-18). Other improvement work is included throughout the quality account, with more 
information on big rooms on page xx). 
 
In becoming a learning organisation we aim to be proactive in evaluating impact, sharing and 
spreading knowledge. In doing so we have actively sought to develop collaborations and 
networks including:  
 

 Participating in the Institute for Healthcare Improvement’s Health Improvement Alliance 
Europe. This alliance supports leaders and organisations to share and test innovations and 
improvements from different healthcare systems and to spread successful learning at an 
international scale; 

 A collaborative enterprise with Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust and NHS 
Improvement to develop tools and methods to introduce measurement for improvement to 
show the impact of changes we are making across a range of quality indicators;  

 A partnership with Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and The Health 
Foundation to run a franchise version of their Flow Coaching Academy as part of introducing 
a Trust-wide approach to reducing unwarranted variation within clinical pathways;  

 Working with the National Institute for Health Research’s Patient Safety Translational 
Research Centre in bringing together researchers and clinicians around key areas of patient 
safety and innovation. 
 

Improvement methodology is increasingly becoming the way we do things at the Trust and with 
our emphasis on empowerment and engagement its benefits are starting to be seen. In 2018/19 
we will continue to focus on delivery of our primary and secondary drivers as well as improving 
the communication around the outcomes and impact of the programme.  
 

 
Developing our 2018-2023 quality strategy 
 
The Trust’s new quality strategy is currently under development and will outline our direction and 
plan for how we get to a CQC rating of ‘good’, and ‘outstanding’ where possible, over the next 
five years. The new strategy will allow us to clearly articulate how our improvement methods are 
at the heart of our approach to quality and how we plan to further strengthen and develop this 
going forward.  Our CQC rating of ‘requires improvement’ is a clear message that we must do 
exactly that - improve.  We will use our methodology to do just that. 

 
To strengthen our approach to developing the new strategy we commenced a listening 
campaign in December 2017 as well as an evidence scan to ensure it is designed to meet a 
range of national, system-wide and community needs and priorities. The campaign focused on 
what quality means to different stakeholders with a key principle of inclusiveness: connecting 
with those who we find hardest to reach, taking steps to overcome barriers to participation and 

Page 37



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 14 

encouraging everyone to have their say. Through this we have listened to over 700 people face 
to face and their perspectives are being used to shape our priorities.  A measure of success of 
the new strategy will be whether patients, staff and community groups can recognise their 
priorities in ours and in how we strengthen their involvement in our improvement journey. 
 
To oversee and coordinate the work we have convened a quality strategy design group involving 
representatives from across and beyond the organisation including members of our Lay Partners 
Forum, Healthwatch and Citizens UK. When the strategy is launched we will continue to work 
together as we deliver the priorities set out as part of the new strategy. At the same time we will 
work with partners to ensure that patients, staff and community groups are involved in the co-
design of improvement initiatives. 
 
The strategy will be published in the autumn of 2018. 

 
Monitoring quality  
 
We work closely with our commissioners (local and NHS England) throughout the year to 
monitor our performance in all areas of quality management.  We monitor progress with delivery 
of the quality strategy and work collaboratively to develop the annual quality account, acute 
quality schedule and priorities for the next year through the Clinical Quality Group. This ensures 
that our quality agenda aligns with local and national priorities.  
 
The Clinical Quality Group is our monthly forum attended by all of our commissioners, and is a 
key part of our governance structure as set out below.  
 
The governance arrangements for quality in the Trust are led by the medical director who has 
executive responsibility, and are summarised below. Progress with our quality goals, targets and 
priorities are reported through this framework, to enable monitoring from ward to board.  
 
A compliance and improvement framework is also in place to ensure we are compliant with 
regulatory requirements, led by the director of nursing. 
 
To strengthen oversight between our divisions and our executives we are planning to introduce 
bi-monthly divisional oversight reviews during 2018/19.  This will mirror the reviews already in 
place within the divisions and their directorates with the aim of better supporting trust wide 
performance improvement.   
 
The executives are also reviewing our approach to CQC compliance management.  The 
proposed approach going forward is to mirror our improvement methodology with a focus on 
those areas that are trust wide and continue to be challenging as well supporting core services 
where improvement is required. 
 
 

Page 38



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 15 

 
 

 
 
Our quality priorities for 2018/19 
 
Our goals: Our new quality strategy will set our Trust goals to match the CQC’s current 

domain definitions.  We have therefore amended them in anticipation as follows: 
 

 Safe: People are protected from abuse and avoidable harm 

 Effective: People’s care, treatment and support achieves good outcomes, promotes a 

good quality of life and is based on the best available evidence. 

 Caring: The service involves and treats people with compassion, kindness, dignity and 

respect. 

 Responsive: Services meet people’s needs  

 Well-led: The leadership, management and governance of the organisation assures the 

delivery of high quality person-centred care, supports learning and innovation, and 

promotes an open and fair culture. 

The goals will be supported by specific annual targets and monthly metrics. In 2018/19 the 
metrics and targets will be monitored through a fully integrated scorecard rather than through the 
separate performance and quality reports currently produced.  The integrated scorecard has 
been co-designed over winter 2017 following a gap analysis of the main indicator sources, our 
previous quality account metrics, feedback including from our listening campaign and CQC 
inspections as well as changes in contractual and regulatory reporting requirements.  Although 
the number of metrics has increased we believe it is all encompassing and will better support us 
to track performance, emergent risk and prioritise improvement activity.  The scorecard metrics 
and targets are provided in each quality domain in this account.  
 
The scorecard will be accompanied by metrics based variance reporting with clear 
action/improvement plans using our improvement methodology.  The same metrics will be 
included in directorate and divisional scorecards to ensure a standardised approach. 
 
In March 2018, CQC announced that they would be including ‘use of resources’ as a sixth 
quality domain. We will therefore include metrics within this domain in the 2018/19 scorecard.  

Trust board 

Quality committee 

Executive Quality  
Committee 

Sub - 

Medicine &  i ntegrated care   
Quality & safety  c ommittee 

Surgery, Cancer &  
Cardiovascular  - Quality &  

safety committee 

Women’s, Children’s &  
Clinical Support  - Quality &  

Safety committee 

Imperial Private Healthcare  
- Quality & safety  

committee 

Directorate quality  meetings Directorate quality  meetings Directorate  quality  meetings 

Quality & Safety 
Subgroup 

Clinical Quality Group 

Page 39



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 16 

They are not included in the quality account as they are still being developed.  Performance 
against them will be included in next year’s account with our improvement plans. 
 
In next year’s quality account all of the integrated scorecard metrics will be used to provide a 
review of our service performance rather than using a sub-set as is the current practice.   
 
In response to feedback on the need to reduce repetition in the account we have changed the 
format of the document.  Where we already have variance against metrics and actions are 
known or planned they are described in the section where we summarise our performance 
during this year.  Therefore we have not repeated these in this section. 
 
Using the driver diagrams for each domain, feedback from our listening campaign and CQC 
inspections as well as our operational objectives we have also identified 13 areas where we 
want to prioritise our improvement activity over the coming year.  These are described in more 
detail below, setting out our aim, emerging change ideas, and plans so far.  They are not 
described under a quality domain as many of them span multiple domains.   
 
 

Improvement 
priority 1 

To reduce avoidable harm to patients  

Rationale for 
inclusion 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Reducing avoidable harm is implicit in our strategic objective to achieve 
excellent outcomes for patients and is central to our operational objective to 
make care safer.  Although our incident reporting rates and harm profile are 
good we take avoidable harm seriously and strive to continuously minimise it.  
 
In 2017/18 we reported 27 incidents that caused severe/major harm or extreme 
harm/death, 13 deaths that were avoidable as well as an increasing number of 
SIs in recurrent categories.  We also recognise that the management of patients 
with sepsis could be improved with a focus on the time between diagnosis and 
administration of antibiotics being key.   

What will we 
do? 

We will: 

 Support each safety stream with a focus on reducing recurrence of 
incidents; 

 Test our approach to implementation of policies across the streams to 
better understand the behavioural insights work needed to support staff 
to comply; 

 Scope and implement the improvement plan for the new stream; 

 Roll out the sepsis electronic alert across the Trust with targets set for 
improvement of time to antibiotic; 

 Launch the Trust sepsis policy; 

 Evaluate the impact of the safety streams that are continuing in 2018/19 
in Q3; 

 Map the actions from all SIs to the improvement plans for each stream to 
ensure they continue to address the root causes of our incidents. 
 

Measureable 
target for 
2018/19 

We will reduce recurrence of the most commonly occurring SI’s which have 
caused or have the potential to cause patient harm: 
 

 Recognition of the deteriorating patient (including sepsis) 

 Safe mobility and prevention of falls with harm 

 Fetal monitoring 

 Safer surgery 

 Abnormal results 

Page 40



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 17 

 Positive patient confirmation 

 Reducing treatment delays for mental health patients in the emergency 
departments 
 

In addition, once our electronic alert has been rolled out we will ensure that 50% 
of patients receive antibiotics within 1 hour of diagnosis.  We will then set 
trajectories for further improvement. 
 
When combined this work will support us to reduce the number of incidents with 
the highest harm and those that are avoidable. 
 
 

Executive 
lead 

Medical Director 
 
 
 
 

Improvement 
priority 2 

To improve the safety culture across the Trust  

Rationale for 
inclusion 

Safety culture is embedded in our operational objective to make our care safer.  
We tested our culture during 2016 by inviting staff feedback through the safety 
attitudes questionnaire. A programme was then set up based on intelligence 
from research and experience from organisations at national and international 
level; incident themes; safety culture workshops; staff surveys and qualitative 
feedback including from work conducted in theatres. This resulted in a list of 
change ideas which have been prioritised as follows: 
 

 Improving our investigations; 

 Knowing what’s reportable, being encouraged and supported to report 
and making reporting more straightforward; 

 Learning better from serious incidents; 

 Sharing information about safety better. 
 

In the staff survey we saw an improvement in people feeling able to report 
incidents, however an increase in the percentage of our staff who said that they 
had witnessed potentially harmful errors, near misses or incidents in the last 
month (from 30 per cent in 2016, to 37 per cent in 2017). This is above the 
national average.  
 
Culture is not something that changes quickly so it is important that we continue 
our focus on this programme.   
 

What will we 
do? 

We will: 

 Use our live driver diagram to target improvement work; 

 Explore our approach to “just culture” through an externally supported 
workshop in the summer (see glossary on page xx);  

 Complete data analysis of staff survey results by staff group, age profile 
and gender to understand where to focus support and improvement 
energy. 

 Review our approach to supporting staff involved in incidents with a 
focus on addressing concerns raised following national high profile 
cases in 2017; 

 Include an additional question in our internal staff survey to assess 
whether staff know how to report incidents; 

 Continue to co-design improvements with staff and patients; 

Page 41



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 18 

 Internal communications of the culture work will be given additional 
focus including taking forward plans to create an Imperial safety 
campaign and video. 
 

Measureable 
target for 
2018/19 

We will aim to improve our incident reporting rates overall. 
We will expand our work to support specific staff groups with low reporting 
rates.  Improvement targets will be set when appropriate. 
 
We will improve staff survey results in questions related to staff reporting 
incidents and their perceptions of the fairness of processes  
 
Evaluation of all improvement interventions will be undertaken and reported 
during the year. 
 

Executive 
lead 

Medical Director 
 
 

Improvement 
priority 3 

To improve permanent nurse staffing levels 

Rationale for 
inclusion 

Feedback from the listening campaign has unanimously reported the 
importance of having the right number of staff to enable care to be provided, 
with a specific focus on nursing.   
 
Vacancy rates at the Trust are above target with variance across departments. 
Safe staffing is routinely maintained through the use of temporary staff and 
cover provided by senior nurses however it is accepted that substantive staffing 
should be maximised. 
 
One of the operational objectives is to make the Trust a great place to work with 
staff feeling supported, valued and fulfilled. Increasing our permanent workforce 
and retaining them will be key to this. 
 

What will we 
do? 

A strategy was approved in March 2018 to improve the supply of nurses, this 
requires significant investment and will be implemented during 2018/19.  
 
We will: 

 Commence overseas recruitment; 

 Introduce initiatives to improve retention of the existing nursing 
workforce; 

 Implement recruitment and retention premiums in the most hard to 
recruit areas; 

 Develop our nurse degree and associate apprenticeship programmes to 
grow our own nurses and associates for the future. 
 

Measureable 
target for 
2018/19 

Improve our vacancy rates to target. 

Executive 
lead 

Divisional Directors 

Improvement 
priority 4 

To ensure our staff are up to date with the mandatory skills to do their 
jobs 

Rationale for 
inclusion 

Core skills and core clinical training rates have been below target despite many 
interventions. This has been identified as one of the priorities for the Trust as we 
have not managed to reach our target and this has been repeated cited by CQC 
as an area of concern at their inspections. This is central to our operational 

Page 42



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 19 

objective to making our care safer. 

What will we 
do ? 

The electronic system for management and monitoring of training is not fit for 
purpose and not linked to our HR systems.  To support improvement by making 
sure our data is accurate and to ensure the right staff undertake the appropriate 
training a new learning management system will be procured and introduced in 
late 2018.  We will also review all mandatory training modules, agree the correct 
portfolio for each staff group and manage staff within this once the new system 
is in place.   
 
Until the new system is in place the current recording system will be used to 
track compliance with a focus on our medical staff compliance where 
performance has been most difficult to influence.  This will be done by focusing 
on: 

 Induction transfer of training for doctors in training; 

 Linking training to appraisal, excellence awards and study leave/funding; 

 Line management oversight and follow up. 
 

Measureable 
target for 
2018/19 

The target for training compliance will be monitored with trajectories for 
improvement to reach 85% in the first instance increasing to 90% once the new 
system is embedded. 
 

Executive 
lead 

Director of people and organisational development 

Improvement 
priority 5 

To ensure our equipment has planned maintenance in line with targets 

Rationale for 
inclusion 

The Trust recognises that the safe and appropriate use of medical devices (see 
glossary on page xx for definition) is critical to the delivery of high quality patient 
care. Equipment maintenance oversight and management have been 
problematic in the past most recently in assuring it is completed within 
manufacturing recommendations.   
 
At the last CQC inspection this was raised as a safety issue and although work 
was underway our staff were not clear on actions to take when equipment was 
due for routine maintenance. 
  

What will we 
do? 

We will ensure that our medical equipment has planned maintenance at a 
frequency determined by the manufacturers instructions or on a risk based 
strategy by Clinical Technical Services.  
 
Medical devices continually move around which can result in devices not being 
located for maintenance, therefore affecting the scheduled maintenance plan. 
To address this we are introducing radio-frequency identification (RFID) 
technology which will replace all of our asset labels on medical devices and 
enable their locations to be tracked. This will also comply with Globally 
Recognised Barcodes (GS1) standards (which improve management of assets 
within the NHS making services safer and more efficient) and assist with the 
Scan4Safety programme. Labels to indicate high, medium and low risk are also 
being fixed to all medical devices. 
 
An e-Learning package is also being developed to inform staff of essential 
safety aspects prior to using a medical device and this will be rolled out during 
2018.  

Measureable 
target for 
2018/19 

Targets for planned maintenance will be monitored monthly and are: 

 high risk = 98 per cent 

 medium risk = 75 per cent 

 low risk = 50 per cent 

Page 43



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 20 

 
The percentages for medical device maintenance compliance are based on 
standard figures from other hospitals and what we consider achievable from 
current performance. 

Improvement 
priority 6 

To improve the management of medicines  

Rationale for 
inclusion 

Management of medicines has been raised at each of our CQC inspections 
since 2014. In November 2017  the CQC reported that medicines were not 
consistently prescribed, given, recorded and stored well and outlined the 
following additional actions: 

 

 The Trust must ensure that control drugs cupboard key is kept securely 
and access is appropriately restricted. 

 The Trust must ensure that there are effective checking systems for 
airway trolleys and emergency medicines stored in the resuscitation 
bays. 

 The Trust must ensure that IV fluids are stored appropriately. 
 

The CQC report of 2018 identified similar concerns.  A new approach is 
clearly needed to support improvement. 
 

What will we 
do? 

Improvement methodology has been used to identify the aim and drivers for this 
programme.  The resultant plan has three key themes with ideas for change 
which will be tested and evaluated in 2018/19; 

 Storage 

 Temperature 

 Disposal 
 

A new medicines improvement group has been formed to oversee the 
programme.  
 
All training programmes will also being reviewed to ensure they support the 
improvement priorities and fully equip our staff to manage medicines safely. 

Measureable 
target for 
2018/19 

 Monthly Fridge Temperature monitoring  

 Six monthly safe storage audit 

 Six monthly CD audit 

 

Improvement targets will be set once the baseline is agreed. 

 
Improvement 
priority 7 

To ensure hand hygiene compliance is measured accurately with focused 
improvement to support staff where risk exists. 

Rationale for 
inclusion 

Monthly hand hygiene audits have been completed by front line nurses for the 
last 10 years.  Results consistently show excellent performance however 
independent audits do not always give the same results.  This and feedback 
from inspections has raised concerns about consistency of compliance.  When 
research is considered compliance would be expected to be lower than that 
seen in our point prevalence results.   
 

What will we 
do? 

A new approach to hand hygiene compliance at the Trust was approved in 
March 2018.  A trust wide improvement programme is being implemented, 
commencing in May 2018 with the launch of a new audit system.  This will see 
us moving from monthly audit to an annual programme for all in-patient areas 
carried out in partnership with our infection prevention and control team and 
divisional senior staff.  Improvement plans will be implemented for areas of 
increased risk following these audits.   

Page 44



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 21 

Communication, education and engagement will be key focus points of the 
improvement plan. 
 

Measureable 
target for 
2018/19 

Audit results of hand hygiene compliance will be measured however a target will 
not be set until the Trust baseline audit has been completed.  Research results 
will be used to set targets going forward. 
 

Improvement 
priority 8 

To continue to define, develop, implement and evaluate an organisational 
approach to reducing unwarranted variation 

Rationale for 
inclusion 

Variation in care can be unacceptable as it may be harmful or inefficient.  This is 
referred to as “unwarranted variation”; occurring by chance and being 
characterized by patients not consistently receiving high quality care. 
 
One of our approaches to reduce variation is the use of ‘flow coaching’ within a 
clinical pathway. Three pilot pathways (Sepsis, Diabetic Foot and Children’s 
Asthma and Wheeze)  were used to test the flow coaching approach in 2017/18 
(details in section xx) and in March 2018 we launched Flow Coaching Academy 
(FCA) Imperial to support a further nine pathways. 
 
The reduction of unwarranted variation across patient pathways is a key part of 
how we will improve sustainability and experience for our patients.  
 

What will we 
do? 

In 2018/19 we will define and implement our organisational approach to 
reducing unwarranted variation including: 
 

 How we systematically identify where unwarranted variation exists, 
linking with existing programmes across the Trust including the ‘specialty 
review programme’ (see page xx), clinical audit (see page xx) and 
GIRFT (see page xx) 

 Developing skills & capabilities for staff across the organisation for 
tackling unwarranted variation 

 With our finance and business intelligence colleagues, start to 
meaningfully measure outcomes from reducing unwarranted variation 
linked to the sustainability programme; 

 Continue to deliver and further develop FCA (Imperial): 
o Continue to support the three pilot pathways, measuring their 

impact and learning from their experience; 
o Support the nine new pathways and eighteen coaches selected 

from across the divisions; 
o Provide dedicated space for the weekly “big rooms” (see page for 

more information see page xx) on each site. 
 

The nine FCA (Imperial) pathways are children with acute abdominal pain, 
perioperative vascular surgery, lower urinary tract symptoms, enhanced 
recovery, mental health crisis, acute respiratory care, acute kidney injury, 
adolescence and young people and the maternity pathway. 

Measureable 
target for 
2018/19 

Each of the twelve pathways has measureable improvement targets for 
example: 

 Reduction in length of stay in diabetic foot patients; 

 Improved time to antibiotics in sepsis; 

 Improved outcomes for children and young people with asthma or 
wheeze through increasing use of asthma action plans, education and 
checking of inhaler technique. 
 

Progress will be reviewed through our governance structures throughout the 
year.  

Page 45



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 22 

Improvement 
priority 9 

Emergency flow through the hospital 

Rationale for 
inclusion 

The ‘improving patient flow programme’ was launched in early 2017 to improve 
operational performance across the whole urgent care patient pathway at the 
Trust and to enable us to meet the trajectory for performance against the four 
hour A&E wait standard.  Significant work was completed against the 
programme milestones and improvements have been realised in a number of 
areas, however we have not met our performance target. 

 
Achievement of the 4 hour wait standard is a national priority with new targets 
set for 2018/19 to meet 90% from September and 95 % in March 2019.  
 

What will we 
do? 

Our work will be structured around 6 priorities: 
 

1) Effective emergency department (ED) operations 
This work stream will be divided into three sub groups; 

1. POCT (point of care testing) in the emergency departments 
2. Redevelopment of the emergency department at Charing Cross hospital, 

creation of additional capacity and reviewing the urgent care centre 
(UCC) and emergency department pathways.  The non-admitted 
pathway in ED will also be reviewed to reduce breaches. 

3. At St Mary’s hospital, utilizing improvement methodology to drive 
efficiency including an emphasis on mental health pathways. 
 

2) Specialist Pathways 
A number of discreet projects including the outpatient parenteral antibiotic 
therapy (OPAT) service, Surgical pathways, and trauma. 
 
Following a visit to Addenbrookes Hospital, we will carry out a feasibility study of 
implementing single medical assessment between ED and acute services. 
 
3) Real Time Bed Management 
Given our limited capacity, an effective real time bed management solution is 
vital. This work will be overseen by a bespoke task and finish group. 
 
4) Improving Ward Flow 
This work stream will oversee improvements in discharge processes and use of 
discharge facilities as well as  the rollout of the SAFER bundle across the Trust.  
 
5) External Partners 
The work stream will focus on the aspects of inpatient flow that require joint 
working with external partners for improvement. 
 
6) Infrastructure 
This work stream will focus on vital support services that either directly impact 
on or have effect on both the EDs and ward flow. 
 
A helpful review was undertaken by NHSI which will report in April 2018, the 
recommendations of this will be incorporated into the programme. 
 
 

Measureable 
target for 
2018/19 

The overall target is improvement in 4 hour performance.  
The existing scorecard will be refreshed to reflect the priorities for 2018/19 with 
work stream KPIs and improvement targets. 
 
 

Page 46



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 23 

Improvement 
priority 10 

To improve access to services across the Trust through a focus on 
increasing capacity  

Rationale for 
inclusion 

Emergency and RTT performance has been challenged during 2017/18 with 
deterioration over the winter period.  Although elective activity was reduced this 
was not sufficient to ensure patients were admitted in line with standards.  Bed 
modelling has historically shown that demand does not meet capacity. 
To achieve these important access targets, additional capacity will be required 
as well as efficiency improvements. 

What will we 
do? 

Bi-weekly capacity management meetings are in place with the CEO and 
executive team.  A full review of demand and capacity will be completed with an 
options appraisal of bed space opportunities considered internally and 
externally with commissioners.   
Bed stock will be reviewed to consider best use of additional space including 
escalation space by the divisions. 
We will then review our escalation and full capacity protocols. 

Measureable 
target for 
2018/19 

If capacity is increased we will measure improvement in: 

 Number of days where black escalation is in place; 

 Number of cancelled elective patients; 

 Occupancy levels 

Improvement 
priority 11 

To improve access for patients waiting for elective surgery 

Rationale for 
inclusion 

Over a sustained period of time, the Trust has encountered a number of data 
quality & operational performance challenges to delivering a balanced position 
on elective care. Many of these challenges have been overcome through 
focused internal interventions and support from external agencies.  Despite this 
the trust has not achieved the RTT standards since 2015 and we are struggling 
to meet improvement trajectories set for the 92% incompletes target and for the 
number of patients who are waiting over 52 weeks for treatment.   
 
An external review has been commissioned by the CEO to furnish the Trust with 
a detailed scope of work to support in reviewing those factors that continue to 
affect compliance with access standards, and evaluate the initiatives in place 
that will sustain and improve the delivery of RTT 18 weeks.  This will report in 
May 2018 and its recommendations will be taken forward during 2018/19. 
 
Performance in March 2018 shows that 83.29% of patients were treated within 
target and that 267 patients waited over 52 weeks for treatment which is one of 
the highest reported numbers in the UK.  A monthly clinical harm review 
process is in place with three patients identified as coming to moderate harm 
however we do not make any excuse for the distress and anxiety that these 
long waits have on our patients.   
 
This is an integral part of our operational objective to improve the way we run 
our hospitals and is a measure of whether the trust is responsive and well led.  
We know we need to improve our performance and are committed to continue 
to do so. 
 

What will we 
do? 

We will fully implement the Trust elective care operating framework (ECOF) 
which is the change programme redesigning the way we manage elective care.  
The overall aim of ECOF is that our patients have timely access to elective 
services which will be delivered through the primary drivers of: 
 

 Patient pathways are proactively managed against clear standards 

 Capacity is planned to meet demand at each stage of a patient’s 
pathway 

Page 47



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 24 

 Operational processes are clearly defined and well understood by all 
staff where SOPs affect their roles 

 Staff have tools that enable them to effectively manage pathways 

 Data integrity and quality are proactively managed to provide clarity for 
all the audiences and staff involved in managing pathways 

 A comprehensive performance management framework ensures that 
staff are supported and held to account for their role in managing 
pathways 

 All aspects of elective care management are regularly reviewed and 
updated to meet demands of them and reflect best practice 

 Potential clinical harm to patients waiting longer than tolerance levels is 
proactively managed 

 There is visible senior leadership focus on managing elective care 
performance 

 
Plans are in place for each driver which is overseen through the governance 
framework.   
 
A key focus for 2018/19 is the implementation of training for staff as well as 
improvements to the data tracking solutions in place.  These should support 
staff to get pathways recorded accurately first time. 

Measureable 
target for 
2018/19 

Delivery of RTT performance standards as agreed with commissioners:  

 Ensure at least 92% patients wait for no longer than 18 weeks for non-
urgent consultant led treatments at Imperial College Healthcare Trust by 
March 2020 (TBC). 

 No patients wait more than 52 weeks for consultant led treatment by July 
2018. 

  

Improvement 
priority 12 

To improve compliance with equality and diversity standards 

Rationale for 
inclusion 

The equality and diversity system 2 is a tool to help NHS organisations improve 
the services they provide to local communities and provide better working 
environments, free from discrimination, for those who work in the NHS, while 
meeting the requirements of the Equality Act 2010. Trusts are expected to self-
assess their compliance against four objectives across 18 outcomes for each of 
the 9 protected characteristics. 
 
Although work has been undertaken in this area progress has not been 
overseen or co-ordinated in a systematic way.  A review was undertaken in 
2017 and an equality and diversity steering group has been established within 
the Trust. 
 
These standards are central to the operational objective to make the Trust a 
great place to work.  This is also a key element of the CQC well led framework  
 

What will we 
do ? 

The Trust EDS2 compliance assessment will be used as the framework for 
identifying good practice and areas of improvement.  This will be used to inform 
the trust action plan.   
 
Progress with the action plan will be overseen at the trust equality and diversity 
committee with regular reporting to trust board. 
 
A review of the gender pay gap will be undertaken with a focus on the medical 
consultant workforce in particular the clinical excellence awards.  The results of 
which will also feed into the action plan. 

Page 48



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 25 

 
Governance and reporting will be agreed with the all divisions across the Trust 
to ensure engagement in this important agenda. 
 

Measureable 
target for 
2018/19 

To implement systematic assessment of the EDS 2 goals throughout the 
organisation with an action plan developed to make improvements where 
necessary.   

Improvement 
priority 13 

Specialty review and clinical strategy development  

Rationale for 
inclusion 

The Trust specialty review programme (SRP) is our clinically led process to 
develop a five-year clinical strategy, which is built upwards from specialty level 
strategic plans (see page xx for more details).   The outputs of the SRP will be 
used to inform the bottom-up development of a refreshed Clinical Strategy.  The 
refreshed clinical strategy will set out how we propose to organise, deliver and 
develop our services over the next five years, providing excellent high quality 
care whilst responding to the significant challenges faced by the NHS.  The 
clinical strategy will be a core product of the Trust’s wider strategy and, in turn, 
will influence the development of other Trust-wide strategies.  The clinical 
strategy will also sit within the wider strategic context of the North West London 
STP. 
 
A key feature of the SRP is that the reviews are ‘owned’ by each specialty, with 
a focus on MDT input, such that specialty teams recognise the resulting 
strategies and are able to engage with and buy into them.  Specialty specific 
strategies ensure teams are clear on what they need to do to support the 
delivery of the Trust clinical strategy. 
 

What will we 
do ? 

All 37 specialties will have completed their 3 workshops by July 2018.  The 
outputs of the SRP will be used to inform the bottom-up development of a 
refreshed Clinical Strategy.   
 
A series of ‘wash-up’ sessions are in progress to further develop the specialty 
plans where there are inter-dependencies between specialties and also physical 
co-adjacencies across our sites.  As a result the specialty specific plans will 
need to be iterated to ensure that they are aligned with the refreshed clinical 
strategy.  This will form part of the continuing programme of specialty review 
into 2018/19 as part of the wider sustainability and transformation programme.  
 
Following on from the refreshed clinical strategy, there will be a continuing 
programme of specialty review.  The review method will be adapted to provide a 
mechanism for assessing how specialties are progressing their ambitions 
outlined in the strategy and to allowing us to understand our portfolio of services 
in even further strategic depth.  The frequency of review for each specialty will 
be determined by needs and risk assessment.   
 
Next year we will also ensure opportunities for improvement are mapped and 
support is prioritised for those areas where capacity/capability is required. We 
will also continue to iterate the approach to support directorates to make 
improvements to meet the Trusts objectives and vision as well as further 
developing our approach to measuring the impact and outcomes.  
 
The evolving SRP will become a key part of the wider sustainability and 
transformation programme in the medium and longer term. The ongoing SRP 
will inform and be informed by other related trust-wide programmes such as 
Reducing Unwarranted Variation (see page xx) and GIRFT (see page xx). 

Measureable  Specialty specific strategic plans developed for all 37 specialties 

Page 49



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 26 

target for 
2018/19 

 Refreshed clinical strategy published 

 Ongoing series of Specialty Reviews 
o Define of adapted methodology & approach 
o Begin reviewing specialties as part of the adapted approach 

 

Scorecard quality metrics 
 
Each quality domain has an aim and a suite of metrics as described above.  The metrics are set 
out in turn in the following pages and will be included in the monthly scorecard. The Trust Board 
have approved these and are assured that they include all of the mandatory requirements as 
well as being reflective of our ambitions. 
 
A driver diagram is included for each domain which sets out the drivers and ideas for change 
and improvement which will support delivery of the metrics.   
 

  

Page 50



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 27 

Quality Domain 1: Safe 
Aim/CQC Definition: People are protected from abuse and avoidable harm  

 
[Some targets are still under development and will be included in the final version] 
 

Area Description Target 

Patient safety – 
incidents and reporting 

To eliminate avoidable harm to patients in our 
care as shown through a reduction in the number 
of incidents causing extreme harm/death  

Below national 
average 

Patient safety – 
incidents and reporting 

To eliminate avoidable harm to patients in our 
care as shown through a reduction in the number 
of incidents causing severe/major harm 

Below national 
average 

Patient safety – 
incidents and reporting 

We will maintain our incident reporting numbers 
and be within the top quartile of trusts 

Top quartile 

Patient safety – 
incidents and reporting 

We will have zero never events 0 

Patient safety – 
incidents and reporting 

We will ensure all patient safety alerts issued 
through the national central alerting system are 
reviewed and acted on in the specified 
timeframes 

0 

Patient safety – 
incidents and reporting 

We will ensure all patient safety alerts issued 
through the national central alerting system are 
reviewed and acted on in the specified 
timeframes 

0 

Patient safety – 
incidents and reporting 

We will ensure 100% compliance with duty of 
candour requirements for every appropriate 
incident graded moderate and above 

100% 

Infection control and 
cleanliness 

We will achieve a 10% reduction in healthcare-
associated BSIs caused by E. coli 

10% reduction 
(n=65) 

Infection control and 
cleanliness 

We will have no healthcare-associated BSIs 
caused by CPE  
 

0 

Infection control and 
cleanliness 

We will ensure we have no avoidable MRSA 
BSIs and cases of C. difficile attributed to lapse  
in care 

0 

Infection control and 
cleanliness 

We will ensure our cleanliness audit scores meet 
or exceed the required standards 

Being developed 

Infection control and 
cleanliness 

We will meet flu vaccination targets for frontline 
healthcare workers as part of the national 
seasonal flu campaign 

National target 

Medicines management We will ensure standards for monitoring fridges  
used to  store medicines so that temperatures 
remain at safe levels and we will ensure 
controlled drugs are checked every day 

Being developed 

VTE We will assess at least 95% of all patients for the 
risk of VTE within 24 hours of their admission, 
and maintain zero cases of avoidable harm 

95% 
 
 
0 

Sepsis We will ensure at least 50% of our patients 
receive antibiotics before the sepsis alert or 
within one hour of a new sepsis diagnosis 

50% 

Page 51



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 28 

Area Description Target 

Maternity standards We will maintain the ratio of births to midwifery 
staff at 1 to 30 

1:30 

Maternity standards We will reduce postpartum infections (Puerperal 
sepsis) 

Being developed 

Safe staffing We will maintain the percentage of shifts meeting 
planned safe staffing levels at 90% for registered 
nurses 

90% 

Safe staffing We will maintain the percentage of shifts meeting 
planned safe staffing levels at 85% for care staff 

85% 

Estates and facilities We will improve medical devices maintenance 
compliance according to risk categorisation 

98% high 
risk;75% medium 
risk; 50% low risk. 

Estates and facilities We will ensure lifts are kept in service to 
minimise disruption and inconvenience  

Being developed 

Estates and facilities We will improve the number of reactive 
maintenance tasks completed within the 
allocated timeframe 

Being developed 

Estates and facilities We will ensure that planned maintenance tasks 
are completed within the allocated timeframe 

Being developed 

Estates and facilities We will ensure that compliance with statutory 
and mandatory estates requirements 

Being developed 

Staff training We will achieve compliance of 85% with core 
skills training 

85% 

Staff training We will achieve compliance of 85% with clinical 
skills training 

85% 

Staff training We will ensure that 90% of eligible staff are 
compliant with level 3 safeguarding children 
training 

90% 

Workforce and people We will have a general vacancy rate of 10% or 
less 

10% 

Workforce and people We will have a nursing and midwifery vacancy 
rate of 12% or less 

12% 

Health and safety We will ensure we have no reportable serious  
accidents, occupational diseases and specified 
dangerous occurrences in the workplace 

0 

 
 

Page 52



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 29 

Goal Primary Driver Secondary Driver 

Safe: People 

are protected 
from abuse and 
avoidable harm.  

1. We follow best practice standards (clinical, 
professional, safeguarding, Information 
governance and operational) to provide the 
safest possible patient care  

The appropriate standards/ policies/ contracts are in place 

The standards/ policies/ contracts are being implemented or part of a quality 
improvement initiative 

We have oversight of whether the standards/ policies/ contracts are having 
the intended effect and we are sharing learning 

2. We have oversight of risks and issues 
affecting the safety of patients & staff and  
proactively learns from mistakes & best 
practice 

Systems and processes for recording safety related risks and issues are in 
place and being used 

There is strong quality governance arrangements from board to ward 

We are managing and learning from safety risks and issues that occur 
internally and externally to the organisation 

3. There is a culture where safety is our 
number one priority 

There is a safe space to speak up when things go wrong and listen and 
respond to all  

Share patient and staff stories related to safety when things go wrong and 
when they go right  

Collective leadership is promoted in which everyone takes responsibility for 
the safety of patients 

Staff are aware and trained in safety culture concepts, practices and 
responsibilities 

We are exploring how to embed a “just” culture 

4. There are always enough staff on duty with 
the right skills, knowledge and experience 
and equipment 

There are safe staffing levels across all professions 

Staff are appropriately trained and competent 

We have equipment and supplies in place to provide safe care 

Staff health and wellbeing is supported 

P
age 53



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 30 

Quality domain 2: Effective 
Aim/CQC Definition: People’s care, treatment and support achieves good outcomes, 

promotes a good quality of life and is based on the best available evidence. 
 
[Some targets are still under development and will be included in the final version] 
 

Area Description Target 

Mortality indicators We will improve our mortality rates as measured 
by HSMR (hospital standardised mortality ratio)  
to remain in the top five lowest-risk acute trusts 

Top five lowest-
risk acute trusts 

Mortality indicators We will improve our mortality rates as measured 
by SHMI (summary hospital-level mortality 
indicator) to remain in the top five lowest-risk 
acute trusts 

Top five lowest-
risk acute trusts 

Mortality indicators We will ensure that palliative care is accurately 
coded 

100% 

Mortality reviews We will ensure structured judgement reviews are 
undertaken for all relevant deaths in line with 
national requirements and Trust policy and that 
any identified themes are used to maximise 
learning and prevent future occurrences. 

100% of relevant 
cases 

Readmissions We will reduce the unplanned readmission rates 
for patients aged 0-15 and be below the national 
average 

Better than 
national average 
for 2017/18 

Readmissions We will reduce the unplanned readmission rates 
for patients aged 16 and over and be below the 
national average  

Better than 
national average 
for 2017/18 

Clinical trials We will ensure that 90% of clinical trials recruit 
their first patient within 70 days 

90% 

Clinical audit We will participate in all appropriate national 
clinical audits and evidence learning and 
improvement where our outcomes are not within 
the normal range 

100% 

Patient reported 
outcomes 

We will increase PROMs participation rates to 
80%  

80% 

Patient reported 
outcomes 

We will improve PROMs reported health gain to 
be better than national average 

Better than 
national average  

Data quality We will improve data quality by reducing 
diagnostic and surgical orders waiting to be 
processed on our system in line with trajectories 

0 

Data quality We will improve data quality by reducing 
outpatient appointments not checked-in on our 
system in line with trajectories 

0 

Data quality We will improve data quality by reducing 
outpatient appointments not checked-out on our 
system in line with trajectories 

0 

 

Page 54



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 31 

 

Goal Primary driver Secondary driver 

Effective: People's 
care, treatment and 
support achieves 
good outcomes, 
promotes a good 
quality of life and is 
based on the best 
available evidence.  

1. Supporting self-care and 
self-management of 
conditions and promote a 
healthy lifestyle 

Self-care: Partner with patients to recognise, treat and manage their own health 

Self-management: Encourage and enable patients to protect their own health, 
choose appropriate treatments and manage long-term conditions 

Promote healthy lifestyles and every interaction with patients 

2. Produce and translate the 
latest advances in research 
and technology for better 
patient outcomes 

Collaborate with research partners 

Promote pioneering research ito diagnostic methods and treatments 

Ensure timely and appropriate participation of patients in clinical trials 

Introduce new care bundles 

Support improvements to patient care through innovation  

3. Systematically review 
outcomes and clinical practice 
to identify improvement 
opportunities and implement 
evidence based practices 

Undertake audits to understand where there is scope for improvement 

Review services to develop forward-looking clinical strategies and workforce 

Regular internal inspections of wards to promote safer patient care and spread 
good practice 

Regular internal inspections of core services 

Regular review of health outcomes to identify areas for improvement 

Review and standardise practices, ensuring they are in line with national 
standards, guidelines and policy 

4. Reduce unwarranted 
variation to provide 
consistently good services 

Ensure clinical teams own and use their own data to drive improvements  

Use rigorous improvement methods to design, test and implement changes 

Improve the quality  of patient records through the increased use of structured 
data 

5. Making sure care is 
coordinated to meet patient 
need 

Support transitions of care between different services and settings of care within 
the organisation 

Support transitions of care between different organisations  

P
age 55



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 32 

Quality domain 3: Caring 
Aim/CQC Definition: The service involves and treats people with compassion, kindness, dignity 

and respect. 
 
[Some targets are still under development and will be included in the final version] 
 

Area Quality account description Target 

Friends and family test To maintain the percentage of inpatients who 
would recommend our trust to friends and family 
to 94% or above 

94%  

Friends and family test To maintain the percentage of A&E patients who 
would recommend our trust to friends and family 
to 94% or above 

94% 

Friends and family test To maintain the percentage of maternity patients 
who would recommend our trust to friends and 
family to 94% or above 

94% 

Friends and family test To increase the percentage of outpatients who 
would recommend our trust to friends and family 
to 94% or above 

94% 

Friends and family test To maintain the percentage of patients using our 
patient transport service who would recommend 
our trust to friends and family  

Being developed 

Mixed sex 
accommodation 

We will have zero mixed-sex accommodation 
(EMSA) breaches 

0 

 
 

 

Page 56



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 33 

 

Goal Primary Driver Secondary Driver 

Caring: The service 

involves and treats 
people with 
compassion, kindness, 
dignity and respect 

1. Patients are looked after in a caring 
environment  

Ensure our sites are easy to access 

Identify opportunities and plans for refurbishing and redeveloping our sites 

Ensure our patient facing services have patient experience at their heart  

Ensure patients are treated in a clean and infection free environment 

Improve patient nutrition  

2. Patients have access to the most up-
to-date and accurate information to make 
decisions about their own care 

Promote openness and honesty at all times 

Support patients to have access to medical records 

Provide patient information that is clear, consistent and accessible to all 

3. Staff recognise and treat every patient 
as an individual 

Improve feedback and learning from events, complaints and compliments 

Embed the Trust values into all interactions between staff, patients and the 
public  

Recruit and develop team leaders based on their values 

Provide emotional and social support for staff 

 

P
age 57



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 34 

Quality domain 4: Responsive 
Aim/CQC Definition: Services meet people’s needs 

 
[Some targets are still under development and will be included in the final version] 
 

Area Description Target 

Referral to treatment – 
elective care 

We will reduce the percentage of patients waiting 
over 18 weeks to receive consultant-led 
treatment in line with trajectories 

92% 

Referral to treatment – 
elective care 

We will reduce the percentage of patients waiting 
over 52 weeks to zero in line with trajectories 
and implement our agreed clinical validation 
process 

0 

Cancer We will maintain the percentage of cancer 
patients who are treated within 62 days from 
urgent GP referral at 85% or more 

85% 

Theatre management We will increase theatre touchtime utilisation to 
95% in line with trajectories 

95% 

Cancelled operations We will reduce cancelled operations as a 
percentage of total elective activity  

Below national 
average 

Cancelled operations We will ensure patients whose elective 
operations are cancelled are rebooked to within 
28 days of their cancelled operation 

Below national 
average 

Critical care admissions We will ensure 100% of critical care patients are 
admitted within 4 hours 

100% 

Accident and 
Emergency 

We will admit, transfer or discharge patients 
attending A&E within 4 hours of their arrival in 
line with trajectories  

95% 

Accident and 
Emergency 

We will reduce the number of A&E patients 
spending >12 hours from decision to admit to 
admission to zero 

0 

Bed management We will reduce the percentage of patients with 
length of stay over 7 days as a percentage of 
occupied beds  in line with national planning 
assumptions 

Being developed 

Bed management We will reduce the percentage of patients with 
length of stay over 21 days as a percentage of 
occupied beds  in line with national planning 
assumptions 

Being developed 

Bed management We will maintain the average number of delayed 
beds in the month as a percentage of occupied 
beds in line with national planning assumptions 

Being developed 

Bed management We will discharge at least 33% of our patients on 
relevant pathways before noon 

33% 

Diagnostics We will maintain performance of less than 1% of 
patients waiting over 6 weeks for a diagnostic 
test 

1% 

Outpatient management We will reduce the average waiting times for first 
outpatient appointment 

Being developed 

Outpatient management We will reduce the proportion of patients who do 
not attend outpatient appointments to 10% 

10% 

Page 58



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 35 

Outpatient management We will reduce the proportion of outpatient clinics  
cancelled by the trust with less than 6 weeks’ 
notice to 7.5% or lower 

7.50% 

Outpatient management We will ensure 95% of outpatient appointments 
are made within 5 working days of receipt of 
referral 

95% 

Complaints 
management 

We will maintain numbers of PALS concerns at 
less than 250 per month 

Less than 250 per 
month 

Complaints 
management 

We will maintain the numbers of formal 
complaints at less than 90 per month 

Less than 90 per 
month 

Complaints 
management 

We will ensure that we respond to complaints 
within an average of 40 days 

40 days 

Complaints 
management 

We will ensure that at least 70% of complainants 
are satisfied with the overall handling of their 
complaint 

70% 

Patient transport We will improve pick up times for patients using 
out non-emergency patient transport service 

Being developed 

Patient transport We will improve drop off times for patients using 
out non-emergency patient transport service 

Being developed 

 
 
 

 

Page 59



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 36 

 

P
age 60



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 37 

Quality domain 5: Well led  
Aim/CQC Definition: The leadership, management and governance of the organisation assures 

the delivery of high quality person-centred care, supports learning and innovation, and promotes an 
open and fair culture. 
 
[Some targets are still under development and will be included in the final version] 
 
 

Area Description Target 

Workforce and people We will have a voluntary staff turnover rate of 
12% or less 

12% 

Workforce and people We will have a general staff retention rate of 80% 
or more 

80% 

Workforce and people We will maintain our sickness absence rate at 
below  3% 

3% 

Workforce and people We will achieve a performance development 
review rate of 95%  

95% 

Workforce and people We will achieve a non-training grade doctor 
appraisal rate of 95% 

95% 

Workforce and people We will have a consultant job planning 
completion rate of 95% or more 

95% 

Health and safety We will have a departmental safety coordinator 
in 75% of clinical wards, clinical departments and 
corporate departments 

75% 

Health and safety We will ensure at least 10% of our staff are 
trained as fire wardens 

10% 

NHSI segmentation We will maintain or improve NHSI provider 
segmentation 

- 

Page 61



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 38 

 
 

P
age 62



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 39 

A review of our services 

In 2017/18, Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust provided and/or sub-contracted 86 NHS 
services.  

 
We have reviewed all the data available to us on the quality of care in all of these NHS services 
through our performance management framework and assurance processes. 

 
The income generated by the NHS services reviewed in 2017/18 represents 100 per cent of the 
total income generated from the provision of NHS services by the Trust for 2017/18. 

Participation in clinical audits and national confidential enquiries  

Clinical audit drives improvement through a cycle of service review against recognised 
standards, implementing change as required. We use audit to benchmark our care against local 
and national guidelines so we can put resource into any areas requiring improvement; part of our 
commitment to ensure best treatment and care for our patients.  
 
National confidential enquiries investigate an area of healthcare and recommend ways to 
improve it.  
 
During 2017/18, 41 national clinical audits and 3 national confidential enquiries covered NHS 
services that Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust provides. During that period Imperial 
College Healthcare NHS Trust participated in 98 per cent national clinical audits and 100 per 
cent national confidential enquiries of the national clinical audits and national confidential 
enquiries which it was eligible to participate in. 
 
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that Imperial College Healthcare 
NHS Trust was eligible to participate in during 2017/18 are included in the table below alongside 
the number of cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage where available.  
 

National Clinical Audit and 

Clinical Outcome Review 

Programmes 

Host Organisation Eligible Participated % Submitted 

Acute Coronary Syndrome or 

Acute Myocardial 

Infarction (MINAP) 

National Institute for 

Cardiovascular Outcomes 

Research (NICOR) 

√ √ Ongoing data 

collection 

Adult Cardiac Surgery National Institute of 

Cardiovascular Outcomes 

Research (NICOR) 

√ √ Ongoing data 

collection  

BAUS Urology 
Audits: 
Percutaneous 
nephrolithoto
my 

British 

Association of 

Urological 

Surgeons 

√ √ N/A 

Statements of assurance 
from the Trust board 
In this section of the quality account, we are required to present mandatory 
statements about the quality of services that we provide, relating to financial 
year 2017/18. This information is common to all quality accounts and can be 
used to compare our performance with that of other organisations. The 
statements are designed to provide assurance that the board has reviewed 
and engaged in cross-cutting initiatives which link strongly to quality 
improvement. 

 

Page 63



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 40 

Bowel Cancer (NBOCAP) Royal College of Surgeons of 

England 

√ √ 100% 

Cardiac Rhythm Management 

(CRM) 

National Institute for 

Cardiovascular Outcomes 

Research (NICOR) 

√ √ N/A 

Case Mix Programme (CMP) Intensive Care National Audit 

Research Centre 

(ICNARC) 

√ √ Ongoing data 

collection 

Child Health Clinical Outcome 

Review Programme 

The National Confidential Enquiry 

into Patient Death 

Outcome and Death (NCEPOD) 

√ √ N/A 

Congenital Heart Disease 

(CHD) 

National Institute for 

Cardiovascular Outcomes 

Research (NICOR) 

X X Service 

decommissio

ned Coronary Angioplasty/National 

Audit of 

Percutaneous Coronary 
Interventions (PCI) 

National Institute for 

Cardiovascular Outcomes 

Research (NICOR) 

√ √ 100% 

Diabetes (Paediatric) (NPDA) Royal College of Paediatrics and 

Child Health 

√ √ 100% 

Elective Surgery (National  

PROMs Programme) 

NHS Digital 

 

√ √ Ongoing data 

collection 

Endocrine and Thyroid 

National Audit 

British Association of Endocrine 

and Thyroid Surgeons 

√ √ N/A 

Falls and Fragility Fractures 

Audit programme 

(FFFAP) 

Royal College of Physicians √ √ Ongoing data 

collection 

Fractured Neck of Femur Royal College of Emergency 

Medicine 

√ √ Ongoing data 

collection 

Head and Neck Cancer Audit 

(HANA) (TBC) 

Saving Faces - The Facial 

Surgery Research 

Foundation 

√ √ Ongoing data 

collection 

Inflammatory Bowel Disease 

(IBD) programme 

Inflammatory Bowel Disease 

Registry 

√ X Did not 

participate 

Learning Disability 
Mortality Review 
Programme (LeDeR) 

University of Bristol √ √ N/A 

Major Trauma Audit The Trauma Audit & Research 

Network (TARN) 

√ √ 97.2% 

Maternal, Newborn and Infant 

Clinical Outcome 

Review Programme 

MBRRACE-UK, National 

Perinatal Epidemiology Unit, 

University of Oxford 

√ √ N/A 

Medical and Surgical Clinical 

Outcome Review 

Programme 

National Confidential Enquiry into 

Patient Outcome And Death 

√ √ N/A 

National Audit of Breast 

Cancer in Older Patients 

(NABCOP) 

Clinical Effectiveness Unit, The 

Royal College of Surgeons of 

England 

√ √ N/A 

National Audit of Dementia Royal College of Psychiatrists √ √ 100% 

National Bariatric Surgery 

Registry (NBSR) 

British Obesity and Metabolic 

Surgery Society (BOMSS) 

√ √ N/A 

National Cardiac Arrest Audit 

(NCAA) 

Intensive Care National Audit & 

Research Centre (ICNARC) 

√ √ 100% 

National Chronic Obstructive 

Pulmonary Disease 

Audit programme (COPD) 

Royal College of Physicians √ √ N/A 

National Clinical Audit of 

Specialist Rehabilitation for 

Patients with Complex Needs 

following Major Injury 

(NCASRI) 

London North West Healthcare 

NHS Trust 

√ √ N/A 

Page 64



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 41 

National Comparative Audit of 

Blood Transfusion 

programme 

NHS Blood and Transplant √ √ 100% 

National Diabetes Audit - 

Adults 

NHS Digital √ √ 100% 

National Emergency 

Laparotomy Audit (NELA) 

Royal College of Anaesthetists √ √ Request for 

data only 

National End of Life care audit TBC – to be commissioned by 

HQIP in 2017 

√ √ Ongoing data 

collection 

National Heart Failure Audit National Institute for 

Cardiovascular Outcomes 

Research (NICOR) 

√ √ N/A 

National Joint Registry (NJR) Healthcare Quality Improvement 

Partnership 

√ √ Ongoing data 

collection 

National Lung Cancer Audit 

(NLCA) 

Royal College of Physicians √ √ 91% 

National Maternity and 

Perinatal Audit 

Royal College of Obstetricians 

and Gynaecologists 

√ √ 100% 

National Neonatal Audit 

Programme (NNAP) 

(Neonatal Intensive and 

Special Care) 

Royal College of Paediatrics and 

Child Health 

√ √ 100% 

National Ophthalmology Audit Royal College of 

Ophthalmologists 

√ x Did not 

participate 

National Vascular Registry Royal College of Surgeons of 

England 

√ √ 79% 

Neurosurgical National Audit 

Programme 

Society of British Neurological 

Surgeons 

√ √ N/A 

Oesophago-gastric Cancer 

(NAOGC) 

Royal College of Surgeons of 

England 

√ √ 100% 

Paediatric Intensive Care 

(PICANet) 

University of Leeds √ √ 100% 

Pain in Children Royal College of Emergency 

Medicine 

√ √ N/A 

Prescribing Observatory for 

Mental Health (POMH-UK) 

Royal College of Psychiatrists N/A N/A N/A 

Procedural Sedation in Adults 

(care in emergency 

departments) 

Royal College of Emergency 

Medicine 

√ √ N/A 

Prostate Cancer Royal College of Surgeons of 

England 

√ √ 100% 

Sentinel Stroke National Audit 

programme (SSNAP) 

Royal College of Physicians √ √ 100% 

Serious Hazards of 

Transfusion (SHOT): UK 

National 

haemovigilance scheme 

Serious Hazards of Transfusion √ √ 100% 

UK Parkinson’s Audit Parkinson's UK √ √ N/A 

 
The reports of twenty four national clinical audits and confidential enquires were reviewed by the 
provider in 2017/18. The majority of these have provided a satisfactory level of assurance, 
however the exceptions are listed in appendix A with the actions required to improve the quality 
of healthcare provided. All other reports are under review by our divisions with assurance 
reporting planned in line with our governance framework. 

Page 65



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 42 

 
The reports of 365 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2017/18 and the actions 
we intend to take to improve the quality of healthcare provided can be found in appendix B. 

Participation in clinical research  

In partnership with Imperial College London, the Trust is at the forefront of developing and 
delivering world-class biomedical and clinical research, collaborating with partners in industry, 
government, the NHS, and the charity sector to apply new knowledge to clinical problems. 
 
Through the Imperial College Academic Health Science Centre (AHSC) partnership, and with 
significant infrastructure funding from the NIHR Imperial Biomedical Research Centre (BRC), 
Clinical Research Facility (CRF) and other NIHR infrastructure awards, we are committed to 
encouraging innovation in everything that we do. Part of this involves carrying out pioneering 
research into novel diagnostic methods and treatments across a broad spectrum of specialities 
and for some of the most complex illnesses, with benefits for patients everywhere. Our clinical 
staff keep abreast of the latest possible treatments – active participation in research leads to 
more successful patient outcomes – and work closely with academic staff in Imperial College in 
order to translate research findings into improved treatments and diagnostics in the healthcare 
setting. 
 
Last year, following a competitive application and review process, the NIHR Imperial BRC – a 
major programme of experimental medicine in partnership with Imperial College London – was 
renewed and awarded £90m over the next 5 years. The funding has allowed the BRC to 
continue its world-class research into cancer, heart disease, brain sciences, immunology, gut 
health, infection and anti-microbial resistance, surgery, metabolic and endocrine diseases, 
health informatics, genomics, imaging and molecular phenotyping. 
 
Since starting in April 2017, the new NIHR Imperial BRC programme has implemented more 
than 150 individual research projects in experimental medicine. In total, 580 new clinical studies 
were initiated within the Imperial partnership in 2017/18. 
 
The number of patients receiving NHS services provided or sub-contracted by the Trust in 
2017/18 that were recruited during that period to participate in research approved by a 
research ethics committee was 20,238. 
 
17,202 patients have been recruited into 422 NIHR Portfolio studies in 2017/18. This included 
487 patients within 97 studies sponsored by commercial clinical research and development 
organisations. 
 
Through joint working with its academic partner, the Trust has continued to make significant 
scientific advances in 2017/18. Recent translational research highlights are included below. In 
addition the Paediatric Clinical Research Facility (PRCF) at ICHT was recently relocated to the 
Clarence Wing and refurbished.  The PCRF’s research activities focus on children with problems 
such as allergy, asthma, sickle cell anaemia, hepatitis, tuberculosis (TB), acute infections and 
sleep disordered breathing. The Facility has already attracted capital funding of £500k from the 
Charles Wolfson Charitable Trust and, following a recent public nomination, it has been selected 
by an independent judging panel to be the winner of Allergy UK’s Hospital Clinical Heroes 
Awards in 2018. 
 
Translational research highlights: 
 

 BRC investigators demonstrated a new class of experimental drugs which reduced hot 
flushes in menopausal women by almost three-quarters in just three days. The hope is 
that these types of compounds may provide an alternative to Hormone Replacement 
Therapy (HRT), which is a risky treatment for many women due to possible side effects; 

Page 66



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 43 

 As part of a multi-centre collaborative study, Imperial BRC researchers are developing 
new techniques which allow the brains of foetuses and babies to be scanned, thus 
helping doctors and scientists to understand how the brain grows and how problems may 
arise; 

 The launch of ‘gripAble™’ as a commercial product, which aims to make the training of 
arm and hand functions more accessible and improve physical rehabilitation following 
strokes, for example; 

 RAPID, a one-stop-shop for men with suspected prostate cancer, is being trialled at 
Charing Cross Hospital, aiming to reduce diagnosis times from six weeks to just one 
week; 

 Cardiovascular clinical academics developed a software ‘learning algorithm’ that can 
more accurately predict when the heart may stop in patients with pulmonary 
hypertension. In addition to accurate disease risk prediction, these artificial intelligence 
(AI) techniques can help clinicians tailor their treatments to better suit individual patients, 
without the need for invasive procedures; 

 A joint initiative between the Trust and Imperial College academics, funded by NIHR 
infrastructure, analysed group B streptococcus infections in neonates, providing new 
understanding more about how such infections may be transmitted in a hospital setting. 

More detail on each of these examples, as well as well other translational research work can be 
found on the NIHR Imperial Biomedical Research Centre website [insert hyperlink: 
https://imperialbrc.nihr.ac.uk/research/]. 

 

Our CQUIN performance – CQUIN framework  

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) is a payment framework that allows 
commissioners to agree payments to hospitals based on agreed quality improvement and 
innovation work.  
 
A proportion of Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust’s income in 2017/18 was conditional on 
achieving quality improvement and innovation goals through the CQUIN framework.  
 
In 2017/18 the value of the schemes was 2.8 per cent of the contract value for NHS acute 
healthcare services as agreed with NHS England. This equated to £5,697,799 of our planned 
income from NHS England.  
 
A summary of the 2017/18 CQUIN goals and achievement is provided in the table below. The 
figures for Q4 are based on our projected year end and are subject to final agreement. The 
quality account will be updated when confirmed (expected mid-May). 
 
NHSE 2017-
19 CQUIN 
schemes 

Description of scheme Full year 
Plan value £ 

Achieved £ / 
% 
projected 
year end 

BI1 HCV 

Improving 

Treatment 

Pathways 

through 

ODNs 

ICHT is an HCV ODN lead provider. The 

CQUIN requires prioritisation of patients with 

highest clinical need and supports the 

sustainability of treatment. The outcomes 

anticipated from this CQUIN are: 

• Improvement in patient engagement  

• The planned roll-out, of new clinical 

treatment guidance to improve outcomes 

through multi-disciplinary team treatment 

plans 

 
£3,357,631 

 
Overall 

estimate 
100% 

Page 67

https://imperialbrc.nihr.ac.uk/research/


Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 44 

• Improved participation in clinical trials 

• Enhanced data collection to demonstrate 

the effectiveness and equity of this way of 

working and the availability of new treatments 

GE3 Hospital 

Medicines 

Optimisation 

This CQUIN is to support Trusts and 

commissioners to realise agreed targets and 

metrics that will unify hospital pharmacy 

transformation programme (HPTP) plans and 

commissioning intentions. This CQUIN also 

includes year 2 of the antiretroviral drug 

switches scheme. The outcomes anticipated 

are: 

• Faster adoption of best value medicines 

with a particular focus on the uptake of best 

value generics, biologics and CMU 

frameworks as they become available. 

• Improved drugs data quality in the drugs 

MDS and outcome registries as well as to 

meet the requirements of the ePharmacy and 

Define agendas. 

• The consistent application of lowest cost 

dispensing channels. 

• Compliance with policy/ consensus 

guidelines to reduce variation and waste. 

 
£1,017,464 

 
Overall 

estimate 
95% 

IM4 Complex 

Device 

Optimisation 

Clinical decision making around device 

selection varies between implanting units. 

This scheme seeks to ensure that device 

selection remains consistent with the 

commissioning policy, service specification, 

and relevant NICE guidance while new 

national procurement and supply chain 

arrangements are embedded.  

The outcomes anticipated are: 

• Enhancement and maintenance of local 

governance systems to ensure compliance  

• Development of sub-regional network 

policies to encourage best practice including 

minimum standards for patient consent to 

ensure optimal device selection.  

• To improve timely access to all patients. 

• To ensure that referral pathways and robust 

MDT decision making processes are 

developed for appropriate cases. 

 
£223,842 

 
Overall 

estimate 
100% 

CA2 

Nationally 

Standardised 

Does 

Banding 

Adult 

This CQUIN is to incentivise the 

standardisation of doses of SACT in all 

chemotherapy units.  

The outcomes anticipated are: 

• Have the principles of dose banding 

accepted by local teams. 

 
£203,493 

 
Overall 

estimate 
100% 

Page 68



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 45 

Intravenous 

SACT 

• Have the drugs and doses approved by 

local formulary committees. 

• Have SACT prescribed in accordance with 

the doses of drugs listed in the national dose-

banding tables. 

• Agreement and adoption of standardised 

product definitions 

WC5 

Neonatal 

Community 

Outreach 

To improve community support and to take 

other steps to expedite discharge, pre-empt 

re-admissions, and otherwise improve care 

such as to reduce demand for critical care 

beds and to enable reduction in occupancy 

levels.  Babies receiving specialist neonatal 

care would have their health and social care 

plans coordinated to help ensure a safe and 

effective transition from hospital to 

community care. 

 
£284,890 

 
Overall 

estimate 
100% 

WC4 

Paediatric 

Networked 

Care 

This scheme aligns to the national PIC 

service review and aims to gather information 

which allows the demand across the whole 

paediatric critical care pathway to be 

considered. PICUs will be asked to review 

the delivery of activity undertaken by the 

acute hospitals in their usual catchment that 

trigger the Paediatric Critical Care Minimum 

Data Set. 

The outcomes anticipated are: 

• work with local acute hospitals to collate 

data over a six month period in 2017. 

• provide a summary report by February 2018 

• oversee the review of each of the referring 

acute hospitals in their usual catchment 

against the Paediatric Intensive Care (PICS) 

standards  

 
£203,493 

 
Overall 

estimate 
100% 

STP Renal This CQUIN is to encourage working across 

the primary and secondary care pathways to 

review and improve renal replacement 

therapy efficiencies and to implement the 

findings of the recent London Peer Review. 

The outcomes anticipated are: 

• To support patients to be more pro-active in 

the management of their care through the 

use of self-management tools. 

• To support the management of renal 

patients across the whole pathway by 

supporting primary care and providing rapid 

assessment and diagnosis. 

• To increase home dialysis uptake  

• Increase rate of haemodialysis with AV 

 
£406,986 

 
Overall 

estimate 
95% 

Page 69



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 46 

Fistulas 

• To improve rates of pre-emptive 

transplantation as a therapy of choice for 

those suitable with chronic kidney failure. 

 
In addition to these national schemes, we also agreed with our local NW London commissioners 
to work to all best endeavours to achieve nationally set CCG CQUINs. This agreement was 
made on the basis of achieving sector wide control totals while still demonstrating substantial 
quality outcomes within these areas. The value of the schemes would normally amount to 2.5% 
of the contract value, though in meeting the financial obligations of the local health economy this 
was reduced to 1.7%; equating to £6.71m of our planned CQUIN income from NW London 
CCGs. A brief summary of what we achieved in 2017/18 is as follows: 
 

CQUIN 
scheme 

Description of scheme Achievements 

1. Improving 
staff health 
and wellbeing 

Improvement of health and 
wellbeing of NHS staff, 
health food for NHS staff, 
visitors & patients, and 
improving the uptake of flu 
vaccinations for front line 
staff 

The overall staff FFT engagement score 
increased from 77% in 2016 to 80% in 2017. 
86% of staff recommend the Trust as a place for 
care or treatment, and 72% recommend the Trust 
as a place to work. This is the highest 
performance to date in the last three years. 
Attendees at our Schwartz rounds increased 
dramatically in 2017, and it gives our staff to 
opportunity to share personal reactions to clinical 
cases, allowing staff to reflect on and connect 
with stories.  
 
The final submission has been made to NHS 
England showed that 60.5% of our HCWs were 
vaccinated against flu in 2017/18. This is a 
significant 39.9% increase in uptake compared to 
2016/17.  

2. Reducing 
the impact of 
serious 
infections 

Timely identification and 
treatment for sepsis in 
emergency departments 
and acute inpatient settings 
 
Reduce antibiotic 
consumption and improve 
antibiotic review 

We introduced a Cerner sepsis alert designed to 
help identify adult patients who are at high risk of 
sepsis. The alert is based on a similar algorithm 
to the NICE guideline and has been validated in 
a number of hospitals across the US and UK and 
pulls in data from various sources including 
patient biochemistry and observations to identify 
patients who are at risk and require urgent 
clinical review. The number of sepsis alerts 
increased over the winter period, conversely 
confirmed cases decreased. 50% of patients with 
a sepsis alert in our EDs and acute inpatient 
wards received antibiotics within one hour. As 
part of the flow programme ICHT has developed 
a weekly sepsis ‘big room’ which allows us to 
design, test and implement changes across the 
Trust to improve identification and treatment of 
sepsis. 
 
The latest bi-annual antibiotic point prevalence 
survey has found that all indicators of antibiotic 
prescribing quality are in excess of the target 
level of 90%. Overall there has been a 1% 

Page 70



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 47 

decrease in the antibiotic consumption from 
2016/17 to 2017/18. 
 

4. Improving 
services for 
people with 
mental health 
needs who 
present to 
A&E 

Identify cohort of frequent 
A&E attenders that could 
benefit from input from 
specialist mental health 
staff, sharing data with key 
system partners, and work 
to reduce attendances 

Reviews of frequent attending mental health 
patients arriving in our EDs at the St Mary’s and 
Charing Cross Hospital sites are conducted on a 
monthly basis. The ICHT Frequent Attender 
service seeks to identify and support repeated 
users of UEC services. To reduce attendances to 
ED and subsequent hospital admission we work 
intensively with these patients. The service has 
undertaken collaborative working with a core 
cohort of 15 patients on each site. This involves 
bespoke MDT case working providing up to six 
1:1 sessions and developing long term clinical 
relationships with the patients. We have 
introduced an escalation process with our 
partners at CNWL for both In and Out of Hours 
The CNWL CRHT (Crisis Team) Model of Care 
review has proposed to stop duplication of LPS 
assessments for those cases referred for 
community follow up. 

6. Advice and 
guidance 

Provide good quality A&G 
services to GP Practices 

ICHT maintains its GP advice service for 19 
specialties, all of which are easily located on the 
Trust’s website. The e-mail addresses are 
manned by clinical leads who aim to respond to 
queries within 24 hours. Phone lines also exist 
for elderly medicine, maternity, microbiology, 
ophthalmology, paediatrics, pathology, and 
stroke and neurosciences. As part of our joint 
outpatient transformation programme we hold 
with commissioners, we have agreed on a model 
where there are templates for referral, smart 
information and guides for GPs.   

7. E-referrals Primary care referrals to 
Outpatient First attendance 
to be received through e-RS 

e-RS Steering Group formed with local 
commissioners, RFSs, and GP colleagues to 
increase the number of Primary Care referrals 
received via e-RS; dedicated project team 
established to map all specialties and sub-
specialties to the DoS and upload to e-RS. 
Training and presentations have been given in 
Practices and GP Members Forums. We 
anticipate achieving paper switch-off by 1st 
August 2018, in advance of the 1st October 2018 
deadline.  

8. Supporting 
proactive and 
safe 
discharge 

Map existing discharge 
pathways and produce 
credible plan to achieve 
submission of the 
Emergency Care Dataset 

ICHT meets with our partners Vocare, CNWL, 
WLMH, LAS, 111, and other commissioned 
services such as Home First Rapid Response 
and CIS on a monthly basis as an escalation 
point for bottlenecks to be resolved. Mapped 
discharge pathways have been developed jointly 
with CCGs to improve inpatient bed flow. We 
have developed a standardised operating 
procedure to accurately report DToCs. The plan 
to implement ECDS was produced earlier in the 
financial year.  The Safer Patient Flow Bundle 

Page 71



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 48 

has also been introduced to facilitate a reduction 
in length of stay and improve patient flow and 
safety from admission to discharge.  
 

Care Quality Commission registration status  

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) is the independent regulator of health and social care in 
England. It makes sure health and social care services provide people with safe, effective, 
caring, well-led and responsive care that meet fundamental standards. 
  
The Trust is required to register with the CQC at all of our sites and our current registration 
status is ‘registered without conditions’.  
 
The CQC has taken enforcement action against Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust during 
2017/18. This was in the form of Requirement Notices, which relate to regulatory breaches 
identified during inspections carried out in 2016/17 and 2017/18, and were set during 2017/18. 
Summary of findings and actions being taken in response are summarised below. 

 
CQC 

Requirement 
Notice 

Summary of related findings Summary of action being taken 

Regulation 
12:  

Safe care 
and 

treatment 

Medicines management policies were 
not always being adhered to in: 

 Maternity at St Mary’s Hospital 

 Medical care at St Mary’s, Charing 
Cross and Hammersmith hospitals 

 Urgent and emergency services at 
Charing Cross Hospital 

Changes were made to the Trust’s 
Medicines Management Quality 
Improvement Programme, including a 
shift to focusing on human factors in 
why medicines policies / procedures 
are not followed in practice 

 

Statutory and mandatory training was 
not always completed as required, with 
completion rates below the Trust 
target: 

 In Maternity at St Mary’s Hospital 

 In Medical care at St Mary’s, 
Charing Cross and Hammersmith 
hospitals 

 Among medical staff in Surgery at 
St Mary’s Hospital 

 Introduction of a core skills group 
to oversee Trust-wide 
improvement activities 

 Development of a Trust-level 
business case to improve the IT 
systems used for recording 
completion of training 

 Additional actions were taken in 
Maternity, specifically in relation to 
CTG training 

Airway and emergency trolleys were 
not always appropriately checked in 
Urgent and emergency services at 
Charing Cross Hospital 

 All trolleys now have checklists 
attached for daily completion 

 Completion of checklists is audited 
weekly 

  

Clinical and hazardous waste 
management guidelines were not 
always adhered to in Surgery at St 
Mary’s Hospital 

Training is being delivered to staff to 
alert them to finding and improve 
awareness of the guidelines / 
requirements 

Daily cleaning requirements were not 
always being completed and checks 
were not being undertaken to identify 
this in Surgery at St Mary’s Hospital 

 Documented cleaning schedules 
are now in place 

 Weekly cleaning audits will be 
jointly carried out by the Trust’s 
cleaning team and theatre staff 
(these are currently carried out by 
the cleaning team only), monitored 

Page 72



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 49 

by the Theatre Manager 

 Completion and outcomes of 
audits will continue to be 
monitored at monthly meetings 
with the Trust’s cleaning 
subcontractor, and will be reported 
by exception to the Trust’s 
cleaning sub-group 

Deep cleaning of theatres were not 
taking place in line with Trust policy in 
Surgery at St Mary’s Hospital  

 A deep cleaning schedule was in 
place at the time of the inspection; 
action is being taken to ensure the 
schedule is communicated to all 
relevant staff 

 Completion of deep cleans and 
outcomes of cleaning audits will 
continue to be monitored at 
monthly meetings with the Trust’s 
cleaning subcontractor 

The poor state of repair of seven 
theatres is reflected in an infection 
control risk in Surgery at St Mary’s 
Hospital 

The scope of theatre refurbishment 
has been agreed and works will be 
undertaken between April and 
December 2018, one theatre at a time. 

Regulation 
15: 

Premises 
and 

equipment 

Portable equipment (medical devices) 
did not always having safety tests and 
planned preventative maintenance 
completed when these are due, in 
urgent and emergency services at St 
Mary’s and Charing Cross hospitals 

The Trust has a planned preventative 
maintenance programme in place 
which is overseen by the Medical 
Devices and Management Group, 
Chaired by the associate medical 
director. Following the CQC’s findings 
the timeframe for the current year’s 
programme was accelerated. 

Regulation 
17:  

Good 
governance 

Performance was not always 
monitored against agreed standards in 
Urgent and emergency services at St 
Mary’s Hospital 

The inspection findings are being 
taken account of as part of the Trust’s 
annual review of the performance 
framework and related governance 
arrangements 

 
We have not participated in any special reviews or investigations by the CQC during 2017/18. All 
trusts are captured in CQC patient surveys, of which three, carried out during 2016 were 
published during 2017/18: children’s services, A&E departments, and maternity. The Trust’s 
performance in the children’s and maternity surveys was similar to previous results, and the 
Trust was not identified as an outlier in either of these. However, the Trust was identified as an 
outlier for poor performance in the A&E survey. Responses to survey outcomes are managed by 
the division responsible for the service, with support from the Trust’s Patient Experience team. 
 
During 2017/18, two of the Trust’s core services were inspected: Urgent and emergency 
services at St Mary’s and Charing Cross hospitals, and Surgery at St Mary’s, Charing Cross and 
Hammersmith hospitals. The Trust also had its first inspection of the well-led domain at Trust 
level, a new type of inspection introduced by the CQC this year.  
 

 The Trust’s overall rating for the well-led domain, which is based on findings from the 
trust level inspection of the well-led domain and performance of core services during 
inspections in the year preceding the well-led inspection, was ‘Requires improvement’. 

 Urgent and emergency services was rated overall as ‘Requires improvement’ at St 
Mary’s and Charing Cross hospitals. This reflects no change in overall rating at St Mary’s 

Page 73



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 50 

Hospital, and a worse overall rating at Charing Cross Hospital where the service was 
previously rated overall as ‘Good’. 

 Surgery was rated overall as ‘Requires improvement’ at St Mary’s and Charing Cross 
hospitals, and Good’ overall Hammersmith Hospital. 

 The Trust’s overall ratings for each domain and for the Trust overall, remain the same as 
they were in 2014. 

 

Our data quality 
 
High quality information leads to improved decision making which in turn results in better patient 
care, wellbeing and safety. There are potentially serious consequences if information is not 
correct, secure and up to date. 
 
We continued to experience challenges with data quality in 2017/18 which we are working to 
improve through our data quality framework which we introduced this year. 
 
Key data quality indicators are reported every week and are also included within our monthly 
performance scorecards to ensure data quality governance is aligned with our Performance 
Management Framework.  
 
An executive-led Data Quality Steering Group is in place and meets every month. It provides 
leadership and oversight of the development and delivery of all aspects of our Data Quality 
Framework.   
 
There are over 100 data quality indicators in total in use across the Trust, which are available via 
a data quality dashboard tool (Cymbio). New data quality indicators continue to be developed in 
response to requirements. 

 
NHS number and general medical practice code validity 
The Trust submitted records during 2017/18 to the Secondary Users Service for inclusion in the 
Hospital Episode Statistics (see glossary on page xx for definitions) which are included in the 
latest published data. The percentage of records in the published data to month 9 2017/18 (most 
recent available) which included the patient’s valid NHS number was: 

 97 per cent for admitted patient care; 

 98 per cent for outpatient care; 

 91 per cent for accident and emergency care . 
 
The percentage of records in the published data which included the patient’s valid general 
medical practice code was: 

 100 per cent for admitted patient care; 

 100 per cent for outpatient care; 

 100 per cent for accident and emergency care . 

 
Information governance toolkit scoring  
 
Information governance ensures necessary safeguards for, and appropriate use of, patient and 
personal information. The information governance toolkit is the way we demonstrate our 
compliance with information governance standards. All NHS organisations are required to make 
three annual submissions to Connecting for Health in order to assess compliance. 
 
Our information governance assessment report overall score for 2017/18 was 67 per cent and 
was graded ‘satisfactory’.  The satisfactory rating was achieved by a minimum level 2 
assessment against all standards.  The information governance toolkit return was subject to an 
independent audit conducted in October 2014 and again in March 2018.  The final audit report 
gave the Trust ‘reasonable assurance’ of the self-assessment. 

Page 74



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 51 

 
Clinical coding quality 
 
Clinical coding is the translation of medical terminology as written by the clinician to describe a 
patient's complaint, problem, diagnosis, treatment or reason for seeking medical attention, into a 
coded format which is nationally and internationally recognised. The use of codes ensures the 
information derived from them is standardised and comparable. 
 
The Trust was not subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding audit by NHS Improvement 
during 2017/18. There are no Payment by Results audits currently planned.  
 

National Outcomes framework indicators 2016/17 
 
The NHS Outcomes Framework 2017/18 sets out high level national outcomes which the NHS 
should be aiming to improve. For full information about our performance, please see pages xx-
xx. 

Page 75



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 52 

Our quality account improvement priorities for 2017/18 reflected the goals and targets 
defined in our 2015-18 quality strategy. They were outlined in our quality account last year 
following consultation with our clinical and management teams and with our external 
stakeholders, through the quality steering group.  
 
Our progress with these goals and targets is described below under each quality domain. 
Where additional actions are required for 2018/19 these are included here to avoid 
repetition.   
 
This page shows some of our quality highlights over the last year. These are explained in 
further detail throughout the following section.  
 
 
[Infographic to be included in final designed version illustrating some of the quality highlights] 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A review of our quality progress 
2017/18 

This part of the report shares the quality improvement priorities that we set 
ourselves for 2017/18 and reports our progress against each of these. It 
also outlines our performance against the NHS Outcomes Framework 
2017/18, the Quality Schedule agreed with our commissioners and national 
targets and regulatory requirements. 

 

Page 76



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 53 

Safe  

We want to ensure our patients are as safe as possible while under our care and that they 
are protected from avoidable harm. We are committed to continuously improving the safety 
of our services for patients and staff. We do this through delivering improvements in key 
areas of safety as well as by understanding and improving our safety culture. 
 
Safety culture programme 
Culture is “the ideas, customs and social behaviour of a particular people or society” which 
defines how people behave and interact with others. Safety culture is about the attitudes, 
values and behaviours that staff share about safety, often described as the “the way we do 
things around here to keep patients and staff safe”. The safety culture programme was 
launched in 2016, is led by the medical director and is in place to ensure that safety is a 
universal priority for all staff groups. It is designed to support the development of a culture in 
which all staff can describe their contribution to safety, are aware of the potential for things to 
go wrong, are supported to learn from mistakes, take action to put things right and are 
confident in speaking up if they have concerns. In line with our approach to quality 
improvement, this is a programme that encourages staff to identify local issues, plan 
improvements and test them with a focus on continuously improving safety.  
 
The programme has been designed using intelligence from research and learning including 
from our staff informally through workshops and formally through the staff survey and the 
safety attitudes questionnaire which was used in 2016 as well as through analysis of 
incidents.  A number of pieces of work were planned this year and our progress is described. 

Incident reporting improvement work-stream 
In May 2017, we launched an incident reporting reference group (IRRG) to plan, develop 
and oversee improvements to our reporting and management processes. Plans were 
developed using staff feedback obtained from engagement events where staff expressed the 
need to make reporting as simple and efficient as possible and shared their fears of the 
consequences of reporting incidents. In response we have: 

 Simplified the Datix reporting fields to minimise the time taken to complete; 

 Launched a range of communication tools to widen the learning for key safety 
improvement messages including a monthly safety briefing; 

 Supported a number of areas with low reporting rates to understand the barriers and 
explore their local “trigger lists” which should be reported; 

 Amended the incident management workflow to provide more timely feedback to 
reporters by removing an unnecessary management approval step; 

 Introduced anonymous reporting; 

 Developing an app based reporting tool with the Patient Safety Translational 
Research Centre (see glossary on page xx) with a pilot planned in the coming 
months; 

 
This work will continue to develop and evolve in 2018/19 with a focus on evidencing change 
as a consequence of reporting, improving communication and reducing the administrative 
burden on our clinical managers.  We will also introduce positive reporting. 
 

Serious incident improvement programme 
A serious incident (SI) was declared in May 2016 following the death of a baby at St Mary’s 
Hospital. An internal review and an external review by the Royal College of Obstetricians 
and Gynaecologists were commissioned which took place in March and April 2017.  A 
number of the recommendations from these reviews helped inform our serious incident 
improvement programme and we have worked hard this year to improve the quality of our 
serious incident investigations.  An end to end review of our processes revealed many areas 

Page 77



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 54 

for improvement including candour, compliance with the national framework, education and 
training, support for staff and patients/families when things go wrong.  A number of tests of 
change have already completed including changes to the management of duty of candour, 
new report templates and the introduction of new training for those involved in investigating 
and assurance. 
 
Feedback on the training has been excellent and we are seeing improvements in the quality 
of the investigation reports being presented to the review panels.  Embedding these changes 
and focusing on the experience of those involved will continue to be key going forward. 
 
 
Duty of Candour 
As well as being a requirement under the duty of candour legislation, the Trust recognises 
the importance of being open with patients when things go wrong. This involves giving 
patients accurate, truthful and prompt information as well as providing an apology.   
 
Concerns were raised in February 2017 about compliance with the duty of candour (DoC) for 
incidents that had been declared as serious. These concerns originated from a retrospective 
compliance audit in September 2016 (limited assurance) and also from a serious incident 
where the candour process was not sufficient. A full review of processes across the Trust 
was completed and compliance is now monitored through the weekly medical director’s 
incident review panel. The duty of candour policy was refreshed this year, and a mandatory 
online training module for consultants and appropriate nurses was implemented. We have 
seen a measurable improvement in compliance. Work to continue improving compliance and 
therefore experience will be an on-going priority. 
 
Safety improvement programmes 
 
Sepsis 
Sepsis is an inflammatory response triggered by infection, with the risk of in-hospital 
mortality. Early recognition and intervention can reverse the inflammatory response and 
improve clinical outcomes. Whilst clinical outcomes for patients with sepsis at the Trust are 
within the national average, the condition can be fatal and therefore is a high priority for 
continued improvement.  
 
During this year we began to use an electronic decision support module in our electronic 
patient record designed to improve the identification of adult patients at high risk of sepsis. 
The alert has been tested and is live in a number of in-patient areas. The sepsis alert has a 
reporting functionality and we are now able to use real-time analytics to drive improvements 
in care through using this report. Work to improve sepsis identification and management is 
being supported by one of three “big rooms” aimed at reducing unwarranted variation across 
care pathways through multidisciplinary working.  The roll out and standardisation of this 
work will be a key priority for 2018/19 and will be taken forward as part of the deteriorating 
patient safety stream.  
 
Safety Streams 
The safety streams were established in 2016 to focus and target work to drive improvements 
in patient safety in nine well-recognised areas of clinical risk.  Progress is summarised in the 
table below.  Each stream is chaired by an experienced clinical lead with dedicated support 
from an improvement team lead. 
 
The safety streams will continue into 2018/19 with the exception of pressure ulcer reduction 
which will be managed as part of business as usual following sustained reductions. 

Page 78



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 55 

 

Safety  Stream Rationale Progress to date Key areas for improvement 

 

The trust previously 
reported a number of 
serious incidents which 
related to the 
management of abnormal 
results. Immediate action 
was taken in response to 
these serious incidents 
including escalation of 
unsuspected abnormal 
results to the clinician and 
to the appropriate 
multidisciplinary team; 
however it was recognised 
that the issue of 
endorsement of results 
was a key risk area.  

 A large amount of background work 
has been undertaken to understand 
the difficulties and variations in 
practice; 

 Engagement of the Information 
Governance team to provide data 
from the electronic patient record to 
identify clinical teams who perform 
endorsement well; 

 An evidence scan and investigation 
into other trusts process and 
procedures; 

 Abnormal ranges of results agreed 
which once implemented  into the 
electronic patient record will lead to  
all normal results being automatically 
endorsed; 

 A Standard Operating Procedure has 
been agreed by the Trust. 

 

The key priority is to start working with 
teams to support change and ensure 
sustainability; 
 
Once teams with most variation 
identified engagement will begin to 
understand problems, barriers and key 
tests of change. 

A pilot with the division of medicine to 
understand and develop a process to 
support junior doctor rotations. 

Building capability and providing staff 
with training to support the information 
technology process and understand the 
importance of endorsement from a 
safety perspective.  

Our potential measures include: 

 Increase in endorsement of results 

 Reduction in incidents 

 Potential reduction delays in 
activation of treatment 

 Potential reduction in length of stay 

 

National Institute of 
Clinical Excellence (NICE) 
updated existing guidance 
on falls prevention in 
2013.  This emphasised 
the prevention of falls in 
hospital and highlighted 
that all patients aged 65 or 
older and those judged by 

 Policy refresh 

 Quality sprint 

 Embedding falls assessment and 
care plans in the electronic patient 
record (EPR) 

 Staff engagement in identifying falls 
as a  trigger for incident reporting 

 Undertaking the national Royal 
College of Physicians (RCP) audit in 

To support this programme of work 
across the Trust, we have engaged with 
the divisions to identify six wards to pilot 
a six month programme of work to 
support staff to drive small tests of 
change.  

This will comprise of improvement 
training to build capability and provide 
facilitation in practice to understand 

P
age 79



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 56 

a clinician to be at higher 
risk of falling because of 
an underlying condition 
are regarded as being at 
risk of falling and that their 
care be managed 
according to a number of 
evidence based 
recommendations. 

The aim of the safety 
stream is to support 
patients to mobilise safely 
and to reduce the rate of 
inpatient falls with harm. 

2017 

 Local divisional action plans agreed, 
the delivery of which will be 
supported by the improvement team 

tests of change utilising measurement 
for improvement.  

Our measures will focus around 
compliance of the three key areas of the 
RCP data including:  

 Lying and standing blood pressure  

 Assessment of medications that 
increase fall risk 

 Objective assessment of vision 
And also 

 Staff and patient experience 

 Reduction in falls with harm 

 Continued and potential increase of 
falls reporting 

 

This safety stream aims to 
reduce the number of fetal 
monitoring related 
incidents resulting in 
clinical harm and litigation. 
The stream intends to 
reduce the risk of 
incidents through 
improved training and 
improved clinical 
performance.  
 

A central monitoring IT system, ‘Fetal 
Link’, and the day-to-day use and training 
for it has been delivered (e.g. induction 
training, multidisciplinary team meetings).  
The ‘Fetal Link’ system provides a 
mechanism to monitor key clinical metrics 
(including fetal heart rate or 
cardiotocography) and escalate any 
issues quickly.  
 

Our measures include:  

 Reduction in intrapartum still 

births or neonatal intensive care 

(NICU) admissions relating 

directly to CTG interpretation 

 Reduction in incidents, complaints 
and claims relating to CTG  

 CTG used in all appropriate cases 

 Intermittent fetal monitoring done 
as per protocol 

 Converted to CTG from intermittent 
fetal monitoring at the correct point 
and in a reasonable time 

 Unexpected neonatal admissions to 
NICU due to CTG concerns 

 Time between classification of CTG 
as pathological to definitive action 
taken 

We are investigating the use of a 

P
age 80



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 57 

dashboard to monitor fetal monitoring 
outcomes and process.  

 

Our hands are the 
principle route by which 
cross-infection happens, 
and hand hygiene is the 
single most important 
factor in the control of 
infection.  The aim of this 
safety stream is to 
improve adherence to 
recommended hand 
hygiene procedures 
realised through a strong 
communication and 
education campaign and a 
new audit process that 
promotes awareness and 
supports bespoke ward 
level engagement and 
improvements. 

 A steering group has been formed  

 Initial ‘five moments’ (hand washing 
technique – see glossary on page xx) 
audit tested and rolled out 

 Baseline audit data collected 

 Ward champions identified and test 
wards identified to pilot new approach 

 Communications plan developed 

 Establish a hand hygiene awareness 
week identified and follow up launch 
activities in planning stages 

 Hand hygiene champions to attend an 
improvement sprint  

 Audit redevelopment to be launched 
in April 2018  

 Hand hygiene communication 
campaign and key messaging 

 Development of education 
packages/bundles to roll out with 
new audit 

 Hand hygiene week 

 Ensuring robust hand hygiene stock 
management and consumables in 
place  

Our measures include the number of 
ward champions, improvements as a 
result of audit, engagement with staff 
and quantity of consumables used  

 

Ensuring that patients are 
correctly identified every 
time care or treatment is 
given including where 
samples are taken and 
processed is central to the 
safe delivery of care. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A steering group to address positive 
patient confirmation within the Trust has 
been established. 

A draft policy has been written and is 
currently out for consultation. We hope to 
launch the policy in May 2018. 

Regular reporting of patient identification 
errors within the Trust has been 
established for the group, to assist in 
identifying themes and clinical areas 
requiring improvement support. 

Pilot an innovative new way to launch 
policies in the Trust to ensure staff 
understand their responsibilities with 
regards to positive patient identification.  

Thematic analysis of patient 
identification errors has highlighted 
areas of practice with the higher levels 
of patient identification errors.  These 
relate to: 
1.     Pathology including blood gases 

and wrong blood in tube 
2.     Major trauma pathways 
3.     Imaging and interventional 

radiology IR(ME)R (see glossary 

P
age 81



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 58 

on page xx) incident reporting 

Pilot projects to reduce reported patient 
identification errors have been planned 
for these areas, each with bespoke 
measures. 

 

Pressure ulcers cause 
pain, discomfort and 
distress to patients and 
can delay recovery and 
discharge from hospital.  
Whilst many patients are 
at risk of pressure ulcers 
they remain largely 
avoidable; therefore 
pressure ulcer prevention 
remains a key patient 
safety priority for the 
Trust.   

Patients in the intensive care at the 
highest risk of pressure ulcers due to the 
complex nature of their underlying 
condition.  Implementing a care bundle 
based on evidence based practice 
standards has delivered a reduction in 
pressure ulcers – particularly the most 
severe grade of pressure damage -in this 
group of patients. 

We have not reported a Trust acquired 
category 4 (the most severe pressure 
damage) since March 2014.   

We will continue to measure rates of 
pressure ulcers by grade, and also 
monitor which clinical areas have the 
highest incidence of pressure ulcers in 
order to target improvement work.   

Actions we are currently undertaking : 

 A nominated champion in each 
clinical area disseminating 
education from the in-house tissue 
viability study days 

 Exploring the data into device 
related pressure damage, 

 Further work in our intensive care 
areas to look at pressure damage 
to the ears 

 Review of the mattress contract 
and piloting of a new hybrid 
mattress in high risk areas 

 Communications campaign to 
improve the use of the pressure 
ulcer prevention app  

 A regular newsletter  

P
age 82



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 59 

 

Failure to detect, respond 
and escalate the care of 
an acutely unwell patient 
may result in further 
avoidable clinical 
deterioration, impairment 
or in extreme cases, 
death.  This safety 
stream’s primary focus is 
to enable clinical staff to 
identify those patients at 
risk and prevent clinical 
deterioration through 
accurate and robust 
observation, using data to 
identify patients at risk at 
safety briefings and 
encourage effective 
escalation conversations 
between clinical staff.  
 

 A large amount of diagnostic work was 
completed to identify key issues 

 A steering group with consistent 
membership from all clinical divisions 
has been established. 

 Relational communication workshops 
engaging frontline staff tell us what 
works and co-design resources that 
encourage good escalation 
conversations 

 Undertaking of Adult In-patient 
National Warning Score Audit across 
all inpatient beds with paediatrics and 
private patients on-going 

 Piloting data collection reporting at 
safety briefings in a small number of 
clinical areas to identify and increase 
awareness at local level.  

 Engagement with close partners to 
improve surveillance using national 
tools e.g. National Early Warning 
Score 2 (NEWS 2), alerts on the 
electronic patient record (EPR) 

Actions which we are currently looking 
to improve:  

 Continue to test and spread the 
communication tools once 
developed from the relational 
workshops to other areas 

 Resolve electronic patient record 
documentation variation of the 
Trust escalation tool (SBAR), 
NEWS (see glossary on page xx) 
totals and adjusted parameter 
values 

 Develop an implementation plan for 
NEWS 2  

 Continue to test and spread the 
data collection charts to improve 
observation compliance and 
awareness of deterioration risk  

 Develop a Deteriorating Patient 
guideline and appropriate 
monitoring strategy, which will 
include defining our measures 

 Include sepsis management with 
the roll out of the electronic alert 
and improved time to antibiotics 

 
We are working with the PSTRC who 
have a dedicated research theme on 
deteriorating patients. 

 

P
age 83



Quality account 2017/18   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 60 

 

Our own audits and the 
Care Quality Commission 
have identified the need to 
improve our medicines 
management processes. 
There is variation in 
practice across wards and 
sites, often driven by our 
complex estate.  

We have focused on four key topics to 
date (storage, security and disposal of 
medicines) and held five engagement 
events with staff (32 in total from nursing, 
pharmacy and estates) to understand the 
issues staff face in undertaking best 
practice, and their ideas for improvement.  

Our focus is on pulling out the key 
messages from policies and making 
these messages easy to follow and 
available at the point of need. This will 
be a co-designed process with staff to 
ensure any products are fit for purpose 
Also establishing the staff roles and 
responsibilities to enable and empower 
staff to do the right thing. 

A communication strategy is being 
developed.  

Our measures will include monitoring 
our existing audits of compliance with 
policy and practice,  

 

Following a series of 
surgical ‘never events’ we 
aim to create a culture of 
safety in our theatres and 
areas where we carry out 
invasive procedures to 
reduce avoidable harm 
and improve performance 
and outcomes. 
 
We are doing this by 
seeking to improve the 
use of the five steps to 
safer surgery which has 
been evidenced to 
improve teamwork, 
communication and 
safety.    

Work has focused on strengthening the 
framework for the practice of safe surgery 
in the Trust, including: 

 Review of policies to align them with 
national standards 

 Review of all interventional checklists 

 Commencing ‘no brief, no start’ in 
operating theatres across the Trust 

 Establishing an annual trust wide 
audit and divisional monthly audit 
programme, supported by divisional 
action plans to provide assurance 

 Strengthening education and training 
(including mandatory module) 

 Interviews with staff to understand 
cultural barriers in theatres 

Significant progress has been made with 
no surgical ‘never events’ declared since 
November 2016.   

Work to date has focused on setting 
clear expectations. Key areas for 
improvement moving forward are 
reviewing our measurement strategy to 
focus on the quality of the checks rather 
than the ticking of the boxes. 
Observational measurement has begun, 
and the plan is to accompany this with 
peer to peer feedback and coaching in 
situ, focusing on good practice as well 
as areas for improvement.  Sharing 
stories will form a large part of the work 
moving forward to share learning and 
improve culture.  

Our measures will include monitoring for 
an improvement in our existing audits of 
compliance with the checklist.  

P
age 84



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 61 

The table below sets out our performance against the targets set. We have made excellent 
progress against a number of these with six fully achieving our targets and one partially 
achieving.  Of the seven where the target has not been achieved we have still made progress 
including a reduction in never events. 

 
Goal/Target National 

Target / 
National 
Average  

Performance 
in 16/17 

Target for 
17/18 

Outcome in 
17/18 

Target 
achieved? 

To eliminate avoidable harm to 
patients in our care as shown 
through a reduction in the number 
of incidents causing severe/major 
harm 

0.28% 
(Apr 17 – 
Sept 17) 

0.1% (7 
incidents) 

(April-Sept 16) 

Below 
national 
average 

0.07% 
(14 incidents) 

 
 
 
 

Yes 

To eliminate avoidable harm to 
patients in our care as shown 
through a reduction in the number 
of incidents causing extreme 
harm/death 

0.11% 
(Apr 17 – 
Sept 17) 

0.0% (2 
incidents) 

(April-Sept 16) 

Below 
national 
average 

0.08% 
(13 incidents) 

Yes 

We will maintain our incident 
reporting numbers and be within 
the top quartile of trusts 

41.68 
(Apr 17 – 
Sept 17) 

42.3 (April-
Sept 2016 as 
published by 

NRLS) 
 

44.85 (full 
year) 

Over 46.76 48.97 (Apr 17 
– Sept 17) 

Yes 

We will have zero never events 
 

0 never 
events 

 

4 never events 0 never 
events 

 
 

1 never event 
 

No 

We will promote safer surgery by 
ensuring 100 per cent compliance 
with all elements of the WHO 
checklist in all relevant areas 

N/A Element 1: 
100% 

Element 2: 
100% 

Element 3: 
100% 

Element 4: 
100% 

Element 5: 
92% 

 

100% 
compliance 

Briefing:  
100% 

Sign in:   
97% 

Time out: 
98% 

Sign out:  
96% 

Debrief: 
100% 

No 

We will have no serious incidents 
where failure to follow the WHO 
checklist properly is a factor 
 

N/A 2 0 1 No 

We will have a general vacancy 
rate of 10 per cent or less 
 
 

N/A 11.6% 10% or less 12.1% No 

We will have a vacancy rate for all 
nursing and midwifery staff of 12 
per cent or less 
 

N/A 19% 10% or less 14.7% No 

We will maintain the percentage of 
shifts meeting planned safe staffing 
levels at 90 per cent for registered 
nurses and 85 per cent for care 
staff 

90% for 
registered 

nurses                          
85% for care 

staff 

97% for 
registered 

nurses 
95% for care 

staff 

90% for 
registered 

nurses                          
85% for care 

staff 

97% for 
registered 

nurses/midwi
ves 

95% for care 
staff: 

 

Yes 

We will ensure we have no 
avoidable MRSA BSIs and cases of 
C. difficile attributed to lapse  in 
care 

N/A 12 (3 MRSA 
BSIs, 9 C. 

difficile lapses 
in care) 

0 avoidable 
infections 

10 (3 MRSA 
BSI, 7 

C.difficile 
lapses in 

care) 

No 

Page 85



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 62 

We will maintain 90 per cent for 
anti-infectives prescribed in line 
with our antibiotic policy or 
approved by specialists from within 
our infection teams 

N/A 89% At least 90% 91.5% Yes 

We will reduce avoidable category 
3 and 4 Trust-acquired pressure 
ulcers by at least 10 per cent 
 

N/A 27 Less than 24 
(at least 10% 

reduction) 

17 Yes 

We will assess at least 95 per cent 
of all patients for risk of venous 
thromboembolism (VTE), complete 
root cause analysis (RCAs) for all 
potentially avoidable Trust acquired 
cases within the agreed timeframe 
and prevent avoidable death as a 
consequence 

over 95% 95.33% 
 
 
 
0 avoidable 
deaths 

over 95% 
 
 
 
0 avoidable 
deaths 

Q1: 92.71% 
Q2: 91.63% 
Q3: 95.53% 
Q4: 95.64% 

 
93.87% (full 
year data) 

 
 
0 avoidable 
deaths 

No 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Yes 

We will ensure that we comply with 
duty of candour and being open 
requirements for every incident 
graded moderate and above 

N/A New target  not 
previously 
measured 

SIs: 100% 
 

Other 
incidents: 

50% by end 
of Q2 

 

SIs: 98% 
Level 1: 89% 

Moderate: 
79% 

(Apr 17-
Feb18) 

No 

 

Safe quality highlights & challenges  

Our incident reporting rate has continued to increase and the number of incidents that cause 
severe or extreme harm to patients continues to be less that the national average: A patient 
safety incident is any unintended or unexpected incident which could have or did lead to harm 
for one or more patients receiving NHS care. Incidents are categorised by degree of harm, from 
near miss to extreme harm. 
 
We investigate all patient safety incidents which are reported on our incident reporting system, 
Datix. In addition, those graded moderate and above are reviewed at a weekly panel chaired by 
the medical director.  Incidents that are deemed to be Serious (SIs) or never events undergo an 
investigation which involves root cause analysis (see glossary on page xx for definitions).  
 
According to the latest data published by the National Reporting and Learning Service (NRLS) 
the number of incidents we have reported which cause the most harm to patients is below 
average when compared to our peers, and we are in the top quartile of reporters nationally. 
 
Our HSMR and SHMI results triangulate well with our harm profile from incident reporting as 
both show a positive picture of outcomes for patients in our care. More information on our HSMR 
and SHMI results are included on page xx. 
 
An important measure of an organisation’s safety culture is its willingness to report incidents 
affecting patient safety to learn from them and deliver improved care. A high reporting rate 
reflects a positive reporting culture. Our work in 2018/19 will focus on areas who have the lowest 
reporting rates and where recurrent issues exist. 
 
To reduce the administrative burden on frontline managers in managing incidents we are trialling 
a new administrative support function. The pilot will be evaluated in Q1 2018/19 and rolled out if 
successful. This will support clinical staff to focus on trends, themes and areas for improvement. 
 
We reduced our never events: Although we did not meet our target, we reported one never 
event this year, compared to four in 2016/17. Never events are defined as serious, largely 

Page 86



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 63 

preventable patient safety incidents that should not occur if the available preventative measures 
have been implemented.  
 
The incident reported this year was a ‘wrong route medication’ incident where an epidural line 
was connected to a peripheral cannula. There was no clinical harm caused to the patient. 
Mitigation actions are in place and are being monitored through audit.  A national patient safety 
alert has since been released outlining the actions trusts should take to introduce connections 
that prevent incidents like this one.  However these products are still not yet fully available. A 
task and finish group has been established to review the available devices and manage the roll 
out across the Trust.  
 
We reported no peri-operative never events and one SI related to WHO checklist failure: In 
2016/17 the Trust reported four never events related to practice in surgery, and two serious 
incidents due to a failure to follow the WHO safer surgery checklist (see glossary on page xx for 
definition). Focussed improvement work commenced in 2016 under the safer surgery stream.  
 
We maintained safe staffing levels: Although our vacancy rates remain higher than our targets, 
we have ensured staffing meets planned safe levels this year. Where shifts were not filled, 
staffing arrangements were optimised and any risk to safe care minimised by the senior nurses 
taking the following actions: 

• Using the workforce flexibly across floors and clinical areas;  
• The nurse or midwife in charge of the area working clinically and taking a case load;   
• Specialist staff working clinically during the shift to support their ward based colleagues.  

 
Our divisional nurse directors regularly review staffing at ward level alongside local quality 
metrics to ensure there are no quality or safety concerns regarding safe staffing levels. 
 
We have achieved a thirty-seven per cent reduction in the number of category 3 and 4 pressure 
ulcers:  A pressure ulcer is a type of injury that affects areas of the skin and underlying tissue 
when the area is placed under too much pressure. Pressure ulcers are graded from one to four 
to indicate their severity, with one indicating less damage and four indicating serious damage. 
All avoidable pressure ulcers are subject to an incident investigation and an action plan put in 
place. 
 
We met our VTE assessment target in quarter 3 and quarter 4: Venous thromboembolism (VTE) 
is a blood clot within a blood vessel that blocks a vein, obstructing or stopping the flow of blood. 
The risk of hospital acquired VTE can be reduced by assessing patients on admission. The Trust 
moved to assessment for VTE at drug prescription on admission rather than at discharge at the 
end of March 2017 in response to limited assurance on accuracy of data from auditing. There 
was an initial drop in performance across the Trust which we had anticipated and a Trust-wide 
action plan that included sharing performance data locally was implemented. As a result we met 
our 95 per cent target in quarter 3 and quarter 4. 
 
We reported 10 avoidable infections: In 2015 we began to report ‘avoidable’ infections of MRSA 
blood stream infections (BSI) and Clostridium difficile infections. For how we define ‘avoidable 
infections’ please see the glossary on page xx. Although we did not meet our target, we saw a 
decrease in avoidable infections in 2017/18, reporting 10 compared to 12 last year.  
We reported the same total number of cases for both infections as we did last year. 
 
In March 2018, the Trust also received a letter from NHS Improvement commending our 
contribution to reducing Escherichia coli bloodstream infections. The Trust was one of 59 who 
achieved a 10 per cent or greater reduction in hospital-onset infection. 
 
We have not fully met our targets for compliance with duty of candour:. Although we have not 
met our target there has been a marked improvement in our duty of candour compliance for all 
incident levels.  

Page 87



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 64 

 
[Insert infographic] Supporting Programme: QIA CIP 
A cost improvement programme (CIP) is the identification of schemes to increase efficiency or 
reduce expenditure. The most successful CIPs are often those based on long-term plans to 
transform clinical and non-clinical services that not only result in a permanent cost saving, but 
also improve patient care, satisfaction and safety.  
 
Our medical director and director of nursing review all proposed CIPs for their impact on quality 
of care using a quality impact assessment process that has been approved by our Trust Board. 
The process considers risks of implementing the CIP by considering any impact against the five 
CQC domains of safety, effectiveness, caring, responsive and well-led. This process ensures 
that any risks are identified and plans are in place to mitigate these. It also ensures that any 
efficiencies we implement will have either a positive or neutral effect on the quality of care we 
provide to our patients.  

  

Page 88



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 65 

Effective   
We want to ensure the outcomes for our patients are as good as they can be using best 
available evidence to continuously improve care and treatment. We are pleased that CQC 
increased our overall rating in this domain to ‘good’ following their inspections in 2017 which 
reflects the progress we have made over the last few years.    
 
In this section we describe our progress with the targets under the effective domain during 
2017/18 as well as with our key priority improvement work streams.  
 
Mortality review programme  
In March 2017 the National Quality Board published a framework for NHS trusts on identifying, 
reporting, investigating and learning from deaths in care. This included the need to use 
structured judgment review (SJR) in selected cases and mandated new reporting requirements 
from quarter 3 2017/18. Although the Trust had an established mortality review process and 
associated policy, we have now transitioned to this new process and the framework has been 
fully implemented. We published our new learning from deaths policy in September 2017, 
engaged a number of our staff in structured judgment review training and are now submitting 
quarterly data externally through the learning from deaths dashboard (see appendix C).  
 
Cases are reviewed monthly by our Mortality Review Group, focussing on any avoidable factors 
and learning themes. Early emerging themes map to our ‘falls’ and the ‘responding to the 
deteriorating patient’ safety streams. As more cases are reviewed the group will recommend 
work streams to be considered as part of the Trust improvement programme.  
In 2018/19 we will: 

 Continue to train, coach and support our cadre of reviewers; 

 Streamline the process between SJR and serious incident investigations; 

 Implement the national recommendations on how best to engage families in SJR and 

how to comply with duty of candour; 

 Improve learning and sharing of improvements from the reviews. 

Clinical audit programme 
Audits and service evaluations are important assurance and governance tools, producing data 
which can be used for improvement. Our Clinical Audit and Effectiveness Group oversee the 
Trusts participation in national clinical audits and the action plans for improvement as a result. In 
addition they also coordinate a trust wide audit plan to provide assurance that we are providing 
healthcare in line with appropriate standards, and to allow identification of areas where 
improvements can be made.  
 
The Trust priority audit programme continues to evolve with examples of trust wide improvement 
being taken forward as a result which are included in section xx.  In 2018/19 it will be expanded 
to include an assessment of performance against the updated never event list.  We will also 
continue to make links between this programme and the safety improvement streams ensuring 
that audit is driving improvement.   
 
Clinical guidelines programme  
Our aim is to ensure that we have no out of date clinical guideline documents (recommendations 
on how healthcare professionals should care for people with specific conditions) at any time.  
Processes are in place in divisions to manage this however we are currently reviewing our 
approach with a plan to re-launch in the first quarter of 2018/19. 
 
Quality surveillance programme 
In July 2015 it was announced that the National Peer Review Programme Team would become 
the Quality Surveillance Team (QST).  The role of the QST is to improve the quality and 
outcomes of clinical services by delivering a sustainable and embedded quality assurance 

Page 89



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 66 

framework for all NHS England (NHSE) specialised commissioned services and all cancer 
services irrespective of how they are commissioned. This is done through a programme of 
provider self-assessment and targeted peer review.  
 
The annual self-assessment process was completed at the end of June by our clinical teams. All 
66 services required to self-report did so. Action plans for services which were non-compliant 
with the quality indicators were developed.  
 
Local and NICE Guidance 
Although we have made improvements in processes in these areas it remains challenging to 
review and ensure compliance with the volume of guidance across the Trust.  In 2018/19 we will 
therefore: 

 Complete a review of all Trust clinical guidelines, linking them to national guidance where 

it exists and reducing the number of truly local documents; 

 Review progress with audit of guidance with divisions; 

 Review the policies including a scan of other hospitals and relaunch our approach; 

Getting It Right First Time (GIRFT) 
Getting It Right First Time (see glossary on page xx for definition) is a national programme 
designed to improve clinical care within the NHS by reducing unwarranted variations in quality, 
outcomes and costs.  GIRFT reviews are being conducted nationally across 30 clinical 
specialties. GIRFT is led by frontline clinicians who are expert in the areas they are reviewing. 
This means the data that underpins the GIRFT methodology is being reviewed by people who 
understand those disciplines and manage those services on a daily basis. The GIRFT team visit 
every trust carrying out the specialties they are reviewing, investigating the data with their peers 
and discussing the individual challenges they face.   
 
The Trust has started to use the outcomes from the GIRFT reviews through the specialty review 
process.  However processes for sharing and learning need to be further developed.  Contact 
has been made through the medical director’s office with the regional GIRFT director and 
supportive work is planned for 2018/19 where we will: 
 

 Centralise the process for oversight of the outcomes from GIRFT; 

 Work collaboratively with the GIRFT team to learn from other test bed organisations; 

 Involve directorate teams who have been involved in reviews to test and implement a 
new approach to using the GIRFT resources; 

 Define how GIRFT data will systematically inform the trust wide approach to reducing 
unwarranted variation and conduct thematic analysis to identify priorities for 
improvement interventions.  

 
Seven Day Services 
The seven day services programme is designed to ensure patients that are admitted as an 
emergency receive high quality consistent care, whatever day they enter hospital. Significant 
progress has been made to deliver against the four core national standards. The Trust 
participated in a national audit in Autumn 2017 which demonstrated that whilst weekend 
performance has improved overall, there remains a difference between Saturday and Sunday 
performance. We will continue our work to reduce this variation next year. 
 
West London Genomic Medicine Centre  
The Trust is the lead for the West London Genomic Medicine Centre (GMC), one of 13 NHS 
centres delivering the 100,000 Genomes Project.  The GMC has four partners: The Royal 
Marsden NHS Foundation Trust, Royal Brompton & Harefield NHS Foundation Trust, Chelsea & 
Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and West London Mental Health NHS Trust.  
 
The project was established to sequence all the genes of patients and their families with rare 
diseases as well as patients with certain common cancers, with a view to sequencing 100,000 

Page 90



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 67 

genomes by 2017.  These areas were selected due to their strong link to changes in the genome 
with the aim to transform diagnosis and treatment for patients. 
 
In 2017, a collaboration between the GMCs in West London and North Thames was agreed in 
order to enhance the delivery of the 100,000 Genomes project and to inform working towards a 
Centralised Genomics Hub as part of the reconfiguration of genetics services in England.  
 
In October 2018 the 100,000 Genomes Project will move into routine clinical care as part of the 
new Genomic Medicine Service where laboratory services for genetic testing will be centralised 
and all DNA based testing will be centrally commissioned by NHS England.  
Below are some examples of where exemplar pathways for genetic testing have been 
happening at Imperial College Healthcare Trust.   
 
Rare Diseases 

 Genetic testing for hereditary haemorrhagic telangiectasia at Hammersmith Hospital; 

 Genetic testing for different types of diabetes at St Marys Hospital; 

 Genetic testing for retinal disorders at Western Eye Hospital. 
 

Cancers 

 Commenced routine genetic testing for some patients in the Haematology Department at 
Hammersmith Hospital; 

 Genetic testing for prostate patients at Charing Cross Hospital; 

 Genetic testing for Upper GI, Colorectal, Thyroid and Oesophagus at St Mary’s Hospital; 

 Sequenced results for cancer are discussed at a weekly tumour sequencing board. 
 

The table below sets out our performance in 2017/18. Where applicable, it presents national 
targets and averages and information relating to our performance against these indicators in 
2016/17. Site level data is described where available and appropriate. 

 
Goal/Target National Target / 

National Average  
Performance in 
16/17 

Target for 
17/18 

Outcome in 
17/18  

Target 
achieved
? 

To show continuous 
improvement in national 
clinical audits with no 
negative outcomes 

N/A We have not 
been able to 
fully report 

against this goal 

All show 
continuous 

improvement 
No negative 
outcomes 

Not 
measurable. 

The target has 
been revised 
for 2018/19 

N/A 

We will improve our mortality 
rates as measured by SHMI 
(summary hospital-level 
mortality indicator) to remain 
in the top five lowest-risk 
acute trusts 

100 75.54 
 

2
nd

 lowest risk 

Top 5 74.29 (Q2 
16/17 – Q1 

17/18) 
2

nd
 lowest risk 

Yes 

We will improve our mortality 
rates as measured by HSMR 
(hospital standardised 
mortality ratio) to remain in 
the top five lowest-risk acute 
trusts 

100 64.17 
 

Top 5 67.37 (Jan – 
Dec 17) 

2
nd

 lowest risk 

Yes 

We will ensure that palliative 
care is accurately coded 

N/A 100% (for all 
reviewed 
deaths) 

100% 100% (for all 
reviewed 
deaths) 

Yes 

We will ensure mortality 
reviews are carried out in all 
cases and report specified 
information on deaths in line 
with national requirements, 
including those that are 
assessed as more likely than 
not to be due to problems in 
care, and ensure learning 

N/A 91% (Feb 2016 
– March 2017) 

100% 91% 
 
 

No 

Page 91



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 68 

and action as a 
consequence. 

We will increase PROMs 
participation rates to 80 per 
cent 

Groin hernia: 0% 
Hip replacement: 
42.8% 
Knee replacement: 
21% 
Varicose vein: 29% 
 
(April 2017 – Sept 
2017) 

Groin hernia: 
4.5% 
Hip 
replacement: 
90.8% 
Knee 
replacement: 
113.5%* 
Varicose vein: 
71.9% 
 

80% 
 
 

Groin hernia: 
7.3% 
Hip 
replacement: 
67% 
Knee 
replacement: 
70% 
Varicose vein: 
80.6% 
 
(April 2017 – 
Sept 2017) 

Yes – 
varicose 
vein 
 
No – 
groin 
hernia, 
hip 
replacem
ent & 
knee 
replacem
ent 

We will improve PROMs 
reported health gain to be 
better than national average  

See table on page 
xx for full results 

Health gain was 
unable to be 
calculated for 
groin hernia, 
and hip 
replacement 
due to 
insufficient Part 
forms returned. 
 
Knee 
replacement: 

EQ-5D: 0.298  
EQ VAS: 4.572  
Oxford Knee 
score:16.742  
 
Varicose 
Veins:  

EQ-5D: 0.080  
EQ-VAS: -1.177  
Aberdeen: -
1.282  
 

Over 
national 
average 

See table on 
page xx for 
full results 

No -  
Health 
gain 
below 
average 
for  
varicose 
veins 
 
Health 
gain 
unable to 
be 
calculate
d for 
groin 
hernia, 
knee and  
hip 
replacem
ent 
 
 

We will review all out-of-
ICU/ED and coronary care 
unit cardiac arrests for harm 
and deliver improvements as 
a result 

N/A Cases reviewed 
from December 
2016 

All cases 
reviewed 

100% 
 

Yes 

We will ensure that 90 per 
cent of clinical trials recruit 
their first patient within 70 
days 
 

54% (Q1 – Q3 
2017/18) 

85.4%  More than 
90% 

 55.5% (Q1 – 
Q3 2017/18) 

No 

*Data from completed part A (pre-surgery) forms can sometimes arrive with NHS Digital after the closure of the annual reporting 
year; also non-NHS patients who may not appear on the Trust’s information system may complete PROMS forms and these 
factors can result participation rates in excess of 100% 

 

Effective quality highlights & challenges 

 
Our mortality rates remain consistently low and we have a system in place to review all deaths 
that occur in the Trust: As part of our drive to deliver good outcomes for our patients we closely 
monitor our mortality rates, using two indicators, HSMR (Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio) 
and SHMI (Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator), which enable us to compare our 
mortality rates with our peers. Both of these have remained low, with our Trust being amongst 
the top five lowest risk acute Trusts in the country throughout the year. This year we have also 
moved up to have the second lowest SHMI of all non-specialist providers in England. As part of 
this, we also monitor the percentage of deaths with palliative care coded as this may affect the 
data (for definitions see glossary on page xx). Although our palliative care coding rates are high, 
we are confident that they are accurate with a clinical coding review process in place. 

Page 92



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 69 

 
The Trust participated in 40 out of 41 relevant national clinical audits, and action plans have 
been implemented where required: We review all national clinical audit reports in which we 
participate through our divisional governance structures and through the Clinical Audit and 
Effectiveness Group. The new CQC insights report displays national audit outcomes in a useful 
format which we are looking to incorporate into the Trust reports going forward. 
 
In 2018/19 we will ensure our processes are expedited to evidence actions to variance in results,  
use the CQC insights report to target areas for improvement and continue to learn from the audit 
results, sharing outcomes and stories of where we have done well and where we have not. 
 
For the full list of audits we participate in, and the actions we are taking in response to the 

reports we have received so far this year, please see appendix A.  

 
We are reviewing all cardiac arrests which occurred outside the intensive care unit (ICU), 
emergency department (ED) or coronary care unit for harm: When cardiac arrests occur outside 
these departments it can be because patients are not being monitored properly, or their 
deterioration has not been recognised. The Trust now has an increasingly robust process in 
place to review each of these cardiac arrests for care or service delivery issues. Two cases have 
been found to have resulted in harm this year, compared to one last year. 
 
Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs): PROMs measure quality from the patient 
perspective and seek to calculate the health gain experienced following four surgical 
procedures: surgery for groin hernia, varicose veins, hip replacement and knee replacement. 
Patients who have these procedures are asked to complete the same short questionnaire both 
before and after surgery. The Trust is responsible for ensuring completion of the first 
questionnaire (part A) pre-surgery. The number of pre-surgery forms sent to NHS Digital are 
compared to the number of surgical procedures performed at the Trust and it is this which 
provides the Trust’s participation rate.  
 
An external agency, Capita, is responsible for sending patients the second questionnaire (part B) 
post-surgery. Analysis of any differences between the first and second questionnaires are used 
to calculate the overall health gain. If insufficient Part B questionnaires are returned to Capita, 
and in turn to NHS Digital who publish the results, they will not publish an organisation’s health 
gain score. 
 
At Imperial our health gain data could not be measured for groin hernia, hip and knee 
replacement procedures due to insufficient numbers of forms being returned. The Trust has 
recognised that there are issues with data collection from Capita and are pursuing alternative 
providers for PROMS data.   
 
As of 1st October 2017 NHSE discontinued mandatory varicose veins surgery and groin hernia 
surgery PROMs collection.  
 
We did not meet our target to ensure that 90 per cent of clinical trials recruit their first patient 
within 70 days this year however we are above national average: We are committed to 
encouraging innovation in everything that we do. Part of this involves carrying out pioneering 
research into diagnostic methods and treatments across a broad spectrum of specialities and for 
some of the most complex illnesses, with benefits for patients everywhere. 
 
Since 2012, the National Institute of Health Research (NIHR) has published outcomes against 
public benchmarks, including a target of 70 days from the time a provider receives a valid 
research application to the time they recruit the first patient for that study. This metric provides 
assurance that we are giving patients the opportunity to participate in research in a timely way.  
 

Page 93



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 70 

We did not achieve our target of 90 per cent of clinical trials recruiting their first patient within 70 
days of a valid research application however we are improving due to focused work and action, 
and are also now above the national average. Performance has declined nationally following 
process/data changes introduced by the Department of Health in 2016/17. A new consultation by 
NHS England is currently proposing to establish a single set of national metrics which are more 
robust and which are resistant to different interpretations by trusts. The Trust joint research 
office team continue to develop proportionate contractual and financial review procedures whilst 
at the same time protecting the Trust and its patients from unnecessary risk or liability. 
 
 
 

  

Page 94



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 71 

Caring 
We want to ensure that our staff involve and treat people with compassion, kindness, dignity 
and respect as we know this has a positive effect on recovery and clinical outcomes. To 
improve their experience in our hospitals, we ensure that we listen to our patients, their 
families and carers, and respond to their feedback.  

 
In this section we describe our progress with the targets under the caring domain during 2017/18 
as well as with our key priority improvement work streams.  
 

Accessible information standard 
We have continued to implement the accessible information standard (see glossary on page xx 
for definition) by providing information in a range of formats and languages, undertaking 
promotional work to raise awareness about the need to ask patients if they have any specific 
communication needs and adding hearing loops in rooms where public meetings are held. We 
have also introduced an assessment process through our electronic patient record which 
enables automatic flagging of specific communication requirements patients may have. 
 

Schwartz rounds 

These meetings provide an opportunity for staff from all disciplines to reflect on the emotional 
aspects of their work. Their purpose is to understand the challenges and rewards that are 
intrinsic to providing care, not to solve problems or to focus on the clinical aspects of patient 
care. The underlying premise is that the compassion shown by staff can make all the 
difference to a patient’s experience of care, but that in order to provide compassionate care 
staff must, in turn, feel supported in their work. Research shows the positive impact that they 
have on individuals, teams, patient outcomes and organisational culture. We have continued 
to run Schwartz rounds throughout 2017/18 with positive feedback from those who attended. 

 

Wayfinding strategy 

In response to patients reporting issues with finding their way around our sites and services 
we have implemented a wayfinding project to make navigation easier for both our patients and 
staff. This has included improvements to signage and physical and digital wayfinding systems.  

 

Experience labs 
This one year learning and development programme has focussed on using patient experience 
data to inform changes and improvements in nine of our outpatient departments. Focused on 
improving patient and staff experience the programme brought multidisciplinary teams together 
and equipped them with a mix of customer service skills alongside quality improvement (QI) 
methodology. Teams used patient feedback to drive and generate measurable improvement 
and within short weekly ‘huddles’ agreed changes to test every week. Five full day collaborative 
workshops and ‘observe and learn’ sessions brought the teams back together to share their 
work and learn from one another. The teams involved achieved success shown through the 
sustained and consistent 10 per cent increase in their local survey patient experience scores.  
 
Other successes include improved communication around waiting times; teams planned, tested 
and implemented different ways to keep patients updated; from verbal, to regular white board 
notifications and electronic messages on screens. Teams also worked to improve how they use 
patients time while they’re waiting, resulting in improved patient information, patient journey 
visuals to explain the pathway,  agenda-setting sheets to help patients plan what they would like 
to ask in their appointment and other distractions including music, magazines, volunteers and 
refreshments.  
 

 

Page 95



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 72 

Improving how we use patient experience data 

We routinely collect a large amount of patient feedback data. This year we have focused on 
improving our understanding of what this is telling us and how we can better use it to improve. 
We now provide patient feedback reports to every ward and department, as well as reviewing 
data alongside key safety metrics at a local level to identify quality improvement projects.  

A new project funded by the Health Foundation was launched in September 2017. This is a 
joint collaboration with the PSTRC, to apply novel analytics to free text in the FFT feedback to 
transform how quickly we can learn from patient feedback and use it to make improvements.  

 

The table below sets out our performance in 2017/18 as a trust. Where applicable, it presents 
national targets and averages and information about our performance in 2016/17.  

 
Goal/Target National Target 

/ National 
Average  

Performance 
in 16/17 

Target for 
17/18 

Outcome in 
17/18 

Target 
achieved?  

To maintain the percentage 
of inpatients who would 
recommend our trust to 
friends and family to 94 per 
cent 

95.86%  
(April 17 – Feb 

18) 

97% 94% 97% Yes 

To maintain the percentage 
of A&E patients who would 
recommend our trust to 
friends and family to 94 per 
cent 

86.43% 
(April 17 – Feb 

18) 

95% 94% 94% Yes 

To increase the percentage 
of Outpatients who would 
recommend our trust to 
friends and family to 94 per 
cent 

93.8%  
(April 17 – Feb 

18) 

91% 94% 91% No 

We will achieve and 
maintain a FFT response 
rate of 30 per cent in 
inpatient departments 

25.14% 
(April 17 – Feb 

18) 

30% 30% 33% Yes 

We will achieve and 
maintain a FFT response 
rate of 20 per cent in A&E  

12.69% 
(April 17 – Feb 

18) 

15% 20% 14% No 

We will achieve and 
maintain a FFT response 
rate of 6 per cent in 
Outpatients 

Not reported 9.5% 6% 11% Yes 

We will improve our 
national cancer survey 
scores year-on-year 

N/A 8.6/10) 
(annual result 

from 2015 
survey) 

Above 8.6 8.5/10 
(annual result 

from 2016 
survey) 

No 

We will improve our score 
in the national inpatient 
survey relating to 
responsiveness to patients’ 
needs 

N/A 6.74 (annual 
result from 

2015 survey) 

Above 6.74 6.72 (annual 
result from 

2016 survey) 

No 

We will maintain our 
responsiveness to 
complaints – 95 per cent of 
complaints responded to 
within the timeframe agreed 
with the patient  

N/A 100% 95% 99.5% Yes 

 

Page 96



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 73 

Caring quality highlights & challenges 
We have exceeded our target for the percentage of our inpatients who would recommend us to 
friends and family: The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is a key indicator of patient satisfaction. 
We collect feedback through a range of different methods including text messaging; paper 
surveys; Trust website and our real time patient experience trackers. The FFT asks patients 
whether they would be happy to recommend our Trust to friends and family if they needed 
similar treatment. This system also means we can accurately track key protected characteristics 
(gender, age, ethnic group and disability) of those who respond, enabling us to compare 
experiences across these characteristics. We have continued to work to implement 
improvements based on any concerns that impact on one group more than another. 
  
For patients reporting a positive experience, interaction with staff continues to be the most 
significant factor. We are continuing to build upon this relationship by actively encouraging staff 
to understand and act upon patient feedback. 
 
In addition to ensuring that we are compliant with the accessible information standard and 
improving how we use patient data experience, we have: 
 

 Introduced a ‘super user’ award for our staff, to recognise those who access the patient 
feedback system the most. This system enables staff to see what our patients are saying 
at ward or department level. We have seen excellent examples of staff using this 
information to drive patient experience.  

 Commenced our new patient support volunteer programme (kindly sponsored by Imperial 
Charity) with the initial pilot phase being conducted at St Mary’s Hospital. The intention is 
for these to be implemented across all sites by summer 2019. The volunteers offer a 
befriending service and are able to identify, resolve or refer any Patient Advice and 
Liaison Service (PALS) issues as they occur. During 2018/19, the volunteers will be 
supporting us to understand more about what matters to our patients and we will be 
conducting focussed conversations during this time, looking at areas such as ‘noise at 
night’ and quality of food where have seen an increase in negative feedback. 

 Continued to build upon our work for patients with learning disabilities. The Trust has 
been involved in a Health Education England initiative to train staff across West London 
in how to care for people with learning disabilities, autism and challenging behaviour. 
More than 400 staff members have completed the training.  

 Worked with NHS Improvement on the new national learning disability improvement 
standards for NHS trusts. As part of this we were a pilot site for the national quality 
checking pilot undertaken by Changing our Lives. The audit highlighted the positive 
impact of the ‘purple pathway’ (our learning disability pathway as part of our Learning 
Disability and Autism policy). 

 Developed bespoke communication resource folders that are now in use in all areas. To 
support our staff to communicate with people who have communication problems. 

 Continued work to improve care for our patients with dementia. We were the first London 
trust to sign up for John’s Campaign (a national campaign to give carers of patients right 
to stay with their loved ones). The Trust is now a John’s Campaign ambassador.  
 

In 2017, the carer’s passport was re-launched with the support of Imperial Charity. Each ward 
and department has the new Carer’s Charter displayed as well as the new carers’ passport and 
information book available. In addition to this, we have purchased a number of carers’ beds that 
are located on each site. The beds have enabled carers to stay by the bedside, providing 
invaluable support to vulnerable people. 
 
When patients report a negative experience, the cause is usually due to ineffective systems and 
processes. We continue to take steps to improve and ensure that waiting and delays are kept to 
a minimum and, where they are unavoidable, patients are kept informed and the environment 
and staff are as welcoming and supportive as possible.  
 

Page 97



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 74 

Patient transport continues to be a key issue for those who are not able to travel to appointments 
independently. Our FFT results for patient transport continue to be below target.  Contract 
performance has seen an improvement in general this year, but does drop with increased Trust 
activity because of limited resource availability across the sector. Our current non-emergency 
patient transport contract will come to an end in November 2018 and is currently being re-
tendered in conjunction with the CCG and with the help of patient representatives and service 
users, to deliver quality improvements for our patients.  
 
We met our target for the percentage of our A&E patients who would recommend us and were 
significantly above national average: Despite not achieving the waiting time standard for A&E we 
are pleased that 94 per cent of our patients would still recommend our A&E services.  
 
We have maintained, but not improved, the percentage of outpatients who would recommend 
our Trust since last year: Although we are disappointed that our outpatient FFT rate has not 
improved, we are confident that the changes we are making as part of our outpatient 
improvement programme (see page xx for more details) will significantly improve outpatient 
experience in the long run.  
 
We did not improve on our national cancer patient experience survey results: Unfortunately we 
did not improve on our survey results from last year (8.5/10 compared to 8.6/10 last year). 
Although our overall score dropped only slightly, the number of questions which scored in the 
lowest range increased from 12 last year to 23 this year.  We also scored above or within the 
expected range for 29 out of 50 questions, compared to 38 last year. The questions where the 
Trust scored above the expected ranges related to whether taking part in cancer research was 
discussed with the patient, and if the patient was given the name of the CNS who would support 
them through their treatment.  
 
Since the survey was published in 2017, we have been focussing on: 
 

 The on-going work around the role of the CNS and strengthening links with primary care  

 The clinical haematology teams participation in the experience lab project, focusing on 
making real improvements to patient experience in this area. As this programme started 
in April 2017, the impact of this work should be evident in 2018 (see page xx for more 
information on the experience lab project). 
 

One of the main challenges is how we monitor progress throughout the year as the national 
cancer patient experience survey (NPES) is an annual survey and the report is not published 
until over 12 months after the survey has been undertaken. The Royal Marsden (RM) Partners 
have commissioned a Vanguard Patient Feedback System into which the Trust will report. The 
system is based on key questions taken from the NPES and will enable the Trust to track patient 
feedback each month. It is hoped that this will inform our on-going improvement work, 
supporting staff to measure the impact of change in an increasingly timely manner. 
 
We have exceeded our target to respond to 95 per cent of complaints within the timeframe 
agreed with the patient: The process for complaints handling is fully embedded and 
effective.  With a strong commitment to resolving concerns as promptly and effectively as 
possible and with better access to complaints investigators, we have also seen a reduction in the 
numbers of complainants taking their complaint onto the Parliamentary & Health Service 
Ombudsman (PHSO).  Overall, the volume of formal complaints continues to fall year-on-year 
which suggests that people’s concerns are being dealt with nearer the point at which they 
occur.  Clinical care and issues with appointments continue to be the most frequent categories of 
complaints received. In the latest inspection reports for the Trust, the CQC concluded that 
overall the management of complaints was “good”. 
 
The complaints team have strengthened links with the clinical divisions and attend quality and 
safety meetings to share complaints outcomes and themes.  They have also been able to 

Page 98



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 75 

improve the volume and quality of reporting to divisions and directorates so that they are better 
equipped to introduce changes where necessary.  How we learn from complaints and change 
practice was a key focus in 2017/18 and the Complaints and Service Improvement Manager ran 
a project to improve the quality of discharge for patients who may not have suitable clothes to go 
home in.  This involved reviewing the discharge process and policy and setting up a clothing 
bank on each of our three main sites.  The need for this work would not have been identified 
without the ability to systematically review and monitoring of the complaints received. 
 
In 2018/19 the complaints team will continue to provide a responsive service for complainants 
and to identify further areas for improvement.  We will introduce an online version of the 
complaints survey so that we can monitor the level of satisfaction with the services provided 

  

Page 99



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 76 

Responsive  
Having responsive services that are organised to meet people’s needs is a key factor in 
improving experience and preventing delays to treatment, which can cause harm to our patients. 
Our goal is to consistently meet the national targets.  
 
In this section we describe our progress with the targets under the responsive domain during 
2017/18 as well as with our key priority improvement work streams.  
 
Specialty review programme 
The Trust specialty review programme (SRP) is our clinically led process to develop a five-year 
clinical strategy, which is built upwards from specialty level strategic plans.  Each specialty 
participates in three workshops, to support them to develop their clinical strategies, workforce 
transformation plans and specialty level roadmaps to improve financial, operational and clinical 
sustainability.  The programme launched in April 2017 and will complete in July 2018. 
 
Following the completion of the three workshops the outputs from each are consolidated into a 
draft specialty specific strategy which then follows an agreed approvals process. A series of 
‘wash-up’ sessions are in progress to further develop the specialty plans where there are inter-
dependencies between specialties and also physical co-adjacencies across our sites.  As a 
result the specialty specific plans will need to be iterated to ensure that they are aligned with the 
refreshed clinical strategy.  This will form part of the continuing programme of specialty review 
into 2018/19 as part of the wider sustainability and transformation programme.  
 
Next year we will also ensure opportunities for improvement are mapped and support is 
prioritised for those areas where capacity/capability is required. We will also continue to iterate 
the approach to support directorates to make improvements to meet the Trusts objectives and 
vision as well as further developing our approach measurement of the impact and outcomes.  
 
Outpatient improvement programme 
Around a million people come to the Trust’s hospitals as outpatients every year and we have 
been running a major programme to improve the quality of their experience. Some of the 
highlights of this work are described in more detail below. Improvements have been more 
challenging in other areas including appointments being rescheduled at short notice and long 
waits in clinics. Both areas have been the subject of detailed analysis and addressing the root 
causes of these challenges will be a key focus for the programme in the 2018/19. 
 
Patient Environment 
Imperial Health Charity supported this programme with £3 million of investment which was used 
to redesign and refurbish our clinics at Charing Cross and Hammersmith hospitals.  This work is 
close to completion. Waiting areas are now more open and comfortable with new zones and 
updated signage which will make it easier for patients to navigate the departments and check in 
at the right place for their appointments. 
 
Using technology to improve our services 
The way we communicate with our patients has improved to keep pace with mobile lifestyles. 
This includes options for email notification of appointments as well as voicemail and text 
reminders. This work will continue into 2018/19 using learning from other trusts. 
 
Other improvements include the development of an electronic vetting system to enable clinicians 
to view referrals easily and quickly in order to decide the best course of action for a patient. One 
third of our clinical interactions are now paper free and this will be rolled out across the 
remaining clinics in 2018/19. 
 
 

Page 100



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 77 

Redevelopment of Patient Services Centre (PSC) 
The PSC was created in 2016/17 with funding from Imperial Health Charity (£3.5m).  This 
allowed us to commence centralisation of the administration of appointments and admissions 
and this work has progressed throughout 2017/18.  A number of services were integrated this 
year. Approximately two thirds of first outpatient appointments and one third of admissions and 
day case activity are currently managed via the PSC. 
 
In 2017/18 we began preparations for the NHS e-Referral ‘Paper Switch Off’ project.  This is a 
national requirement that all GP referrals should be made electronically by October 2018.   
Mapping our directory of services is key to delivery of this project and 5 per cent of services 
have been completed to date. Good progress has been made on a further 73 per cent of 
services. The Trust will focus on completing this mapping, ensuring the required IT interfaces 
are in place and that training is completed ahead of the go-live date. 
 
Thinking differently about outpatients - models of care  
To help improve services offered by ICHT’s outpatient teams four workshops were held in March 
2018. These workshops included learning from vanguard trusts as well as learning from 
initiatives already happening across services at the Trust. Key stakeholders from across the 
North West London healthcare landscape played a crucial role in shaping the recommendations 
which will be taken forward in 2018/19. 
 
In parallel we have been working collaboratively with our STP partners on the NWL outpatient 
transformation programme to review and transform pathways in several specialities including 
Dermatology, Trauma and Orthopaedics, Cardiology, Gynaecology, and Gastroenterology.  
Good progress has been made including development of NWL referral guidelines to support 
consistent high standards of care as well as an interactive visualisation tool to help identify 
referral variation in primary care.  
 
Flow Coaching Academy (Imperial) 
One of our key approaches to reducing unwarranted variation within a clinical pathway is the use 
of ‘flow coaching’.  This year we have participated in an innovative coaching programme, run by 
Sheffield Teaching Hospitals Foundation Trust and The Health Foundation which aims to 
improve how patients flow through a specific care pathway  with positive impacts on patient 
experience, safety and efficiency. Three prototype “big rooms”, each supported by a pair of 
trained improvement coaches, have been running for the Sepsis, Diabetic Foot and Children’s 
Asthma and Wheeze clinical pathways.  
 
At the heart of the approach is a one-year programme with two components: 

• Coaching pairs – leading on the improvement of a defined clinical pathway. Made up of a 
clinician working within the pathway plus another individual from outside of the pathway. 
The pairs have 18 days of face-to-face training across 11 sessions. 

• Big rooms – a weekly, face-to-face session bringing together a range of staff and patients 
involved in the pathway to discuss, plan and review improvements. The pairs put their 
learning into practice by coaching the big room, focusing on making it as easy as possible 
for patients to ‘flow’ through the pathway and reducing unwarranted variation. 
 

Learning from the work this year has demonstrated the value of using the big room as a 
means of bringing the multidisciplinary team together to design, test and implement 
improvements.  Across all three big rooms benefits were seen across the key themes of 
improvement culture, improvement skills & capability and demonstrable improvements in 
patient care.  The table below describes some of the specific improvements realised: 

 

 

 

 

Page 101



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 78 

Sepsis Diabetic Foot Asthma and Wheeze in 

Children 

 Improvement in the 

identification and 

management of sepsis. 

 Progress towards using 

real-time data  

 Staff reporting improved 

engagement with their job. 

 Junior staff empowered to 

lead improvement and 

change and increased 

motivation in their roles  

 New multidisciplinary work. 

 Decrease in length of stay for 

MDT foot patients. 

 Increase awareness of 

diabetes foot checks and 

subsequent increase in 

referrals to podiatry team. 

 Development of key Cerner 

EPR products to reduce 

variation and improve data 

quality. 

 Improvements in the way 

data is used. 

 New collaboration across 

ED, paediatrics & 

specialist allergy resulting 

in improved engagement. 

 Establishment of a base 

from which all children 

with asthma/wheeze will 

have an asthma 

management plan, check 

of inhaler technique & 

education. 

 Design & build of coding 

folders, work lists (to form 

a patient registry) & 

asthma M-page all on 

Cerner.  

 

Following the success of the pilot, the Trust is one of the first three partners selected from 
across the UK to be a ‘flow coaching academy’.  Flow Coaching Academy (Imperial) launched 
in March 2018 with 9 pathways.   

 

Waiting list improvement programme 
We have continued the work of our waiting list improvement programme to ensure that delays in 
treatment are minimised and we are now transitioning from a period of data clean-up to business 
as usual. 
 
The work will continue in 2018/19 to ensure that we continue to improve the service we provide 
to our patients. We will focus on: 
 

 Acting on the recommendation from an external review completed in 2017/18; 

 Training, supporting and coaching our staff to enter data correctly into our Cerner system 

to reduce data quality issues; 

 Continuing the roll out of our electronic validation system to increase efficiency in our 

process and better support for our administrative teams; 

 Reducing the number of patients who wait over 52 weeks for treatment; 

 Continuing to ensure our patients do not come to harm when they do wait for treatment.  

In September 2017 the Trust conducted a review of endoscopy waiting list management and 
reporting to identify root causes of on-going under performance against the six week maximum 
waiting standard for diagnostic tests. A number of recommendations were taken forward in 
response to the review overseen by an executive led endoscopy steering group. Actions 
included a number of changes to the system and processes as well as additional training for 
endoscopy scheduling staff, Improvements have been seen in diagnostic waiting times 
performance, from 4.32 per cent in October 2017 to meeting the target by the end of this year. 
 
As part of the Trust’s waiting list improvement programme, a number of clinical review processes 
have also been established. The purpose of these are to monitor the impact waiting for 
treatment is having on our patients and to ensure that avoidable harm has not/is not occurring as 
a result of delays in treatment on the RTT pathway. A senior nurse coordinates and oversees 

Page 102



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 79 

the process to review all patients waiting over 52 weeks for treatment and ensures that if 
appropriate the patient’s medical records are reviewed by a senior clinician. The clinical harm 
and individual treatment plan reviews are discussed within speciality team meetings, which 
allows each patient to be tracked and for service to expedite admission and investigation dates 
when required. If any cases of clinical harm are found resulting from an extended wait for 
treatment, the patient details are recorded on the Trust’s incident reporting system and 
investigated. 
 

The table below sets out our performance in 2017/18 as a trust. Where applicable, it presents 
national targets and averages, and information about our performance in 2016/17. Site level 
data is described where available and appropriate. 

 
Target National Target / 

National Average  
Performance in 
16/17 

Target for 
17/18 

Outcome in 
17/18  

Target 
achieved
? 

To consistently meet all 
relevant national access 
standards 

N/A 4 out of 12 met 
in all 4 quarters 

All targets met 
in all 4 

quarters 

4 out of 12 met 
in all 4 

quarters 

No 

We will reduce the 
unplanned readmission 
rates for patients aged 0-
15 and be below the 
national average 
 

9.1% 
(Oct 16 –Sept 17) 

4.95% Below national 
average 

4.92% 
(Oct 16 – Sept 

17) 

Yes 

We will reduce the 
unplanned readmission 
rates for patients aged 
over 16 and be below the 
national average  
 

8.2% (Oct 16 – Sept 
17) 

6.76% Below national 
average 

6.92% (Oct 16 
–  Sept 17) 

Yes 

We will have no inpatients 
waiting over 52 weeks for 
elective surgery, reduce 
the number of patients 
waiting over 40 weeks, 
and implement our agreed 
clinical validation process 
 
 

N/A 52 week waits: 
1,578 (16/17 

total) 
 
 

0 52 week waits: 
1,896 (17/18 

total) 
 

Clinical 
validation 
process 

described on 
page xx 

No 

We will reduce the 
proportion of outpatient 
clinics  cancelled by the 
trust with less than 6 
weeks’ notice to 7.5 per 
cent or lower 

N/A 
 
 

8% 7.5% 8.5% No 

We will reduce the 
proportion of patients who 
do not attend outpatient 
appointments to 10 per 
cent 

N/A 11.8% 10% 11.8% No 

We will ensure 95 per cent 
of outpatient appointments 
are made within 5 working 
days of receipt of referral 

N/A 77% 95% 83.7% No 

We will improve our 
PLACE scores year-on-
year; aiming to maintain 
our score above national 
average for cleanliness; 
meet the national average 
for food; be above the 
bottom 20% for condition, 
appearance and 
maintenance and for 
privacy and dignity; and 

Cleanliness: 98.38% 
Food: 89.68% 

Privacy, Dignity & 
Wellbeing: 83.68% 

Condition, Appearance 
& Maintenance: 

94.20% 
Dementia: 76.71% 
Disability: 82.56% 

 

Cleanliness: 
98.73% (above 

average) 
 

Food: 87.1% 
(below average) 

 
 

Privacy: 71.77% 
(bottom 20%) 

 

Score above 
national 

average for 
cleanliness; 

meet the 
national 

average for 
food; be above 

the bottom 
20% for 

condition, 

Cleanliness: 
99.53% (above 

average) 
 

Food: 89.41% 
(below 

average) 
 

Privacy, 
Dignity & 

Wellbeing: 

No 

Page 103



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 80 

improve our scores 
compare to last year for 
dementia and disability.    
 

 
 
 

Condition:91.02
% (below 
average) 

 
Dementia: 

62.62% (bottom 
20%) 

 
Disability: 

64.82% (bottom 
20%) 

 

appearance 
and 

maintenance 
and for privacy 

and dignity; 
and improve 
our scores 
compare to 
last year for 

dementia and 
disability 

74.74% (below 
average) 

 
Condition: 

95.72% (above 
average) 

 
Dementia: 

80.61% (above 
average) 

 
Disability: 

76.29% (below 
average) 

 

We will discharge at least 
35 per cent of our patients 
on relevant pathways 
before noon 

33% 17.5% 35% 11.7%* No 

We will ensure 98 per cent 
of admissions to an 
intensive care bed occur 
within 2 hours of the 
decision to 
admit/completion of 
surgery 

N/A New target  not 
previously 
measured 

98% within 2 
hours 

78.2% No 

* reporting commenced in November 2017 
 
The table below shows our performance against the national access standards throughout 
2017/18. The Trust consistently met four out of the twelve standards however performance was 
challenged in the others. We know that we still have much work to do to tackle long-standing 
pressures around demand, capacity and patient flow (see glossary on page xx for definition) to 
enable us to meet these targets.  
 
 
National 
Targets 
and 
Minimum 
Standards  

Measure Threshold Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4  

Target 
achieved 
in all 
quarters  

Access to 
treatment 

18 weeks referral to 
treatment - 
incomplete pathway 

92.00% 
84.48

% 
83.15% 

82.77
% 

82.98% No 

Access to 
Cancer 
Services  

2 week wait from 
referral to date first 
seen all urgent 
referrals 

93.00% 
89.47

% 
93.70% 

94.78
% 

93.55% No 

2 week wait from 
referral to date first 
seen breast cancer 

93.00% 
67.71

% 
95.90% 

95.09
% 

93.25% No 

31 days standard 
from diagnosis to first 
treatment 

96.00% 
96.97

% 
98.20% 

97.59
% 

98.00% Yes 

31 days standard to 
subsequent Cancer 
Treatment - Drug 

98.00% 
99.67

% 
100.00

% 
99.72

% 
100.00

% 
Yes 

31 days standard to 
subsequent Cancer 
Treatment - 
Radiotherapy 

94.00% 
98.70

% 
98.80% 

99.02
% 

96.16% Yes 

31 days standard to 
subsequent Cancer 
Treatment - Surgery 

94.00% 
97.09

% 
97.50% 

98.61
% 

96.65% Yes 

Page 104



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 81 

62 day wait for first 
treatment from urgent 
GP referral 

85.00% 
83.47

% 
86.30% 

87.91
% 

86.80% No 

62 day wait for first 
treatment from NHS 
Screening Services 
referral 

90.00% 
90.07

% 
93.70% 

94.48
% 

74.20% No 

A&E 
Performanc
e 

A&E maximum 
waiting times 4 hours 

95.00% 
90.03

% 
88.82% 

86.13
% 

83.64% No 

Cancelled 
Operations 

Cancelled operations 
for non-clinical 
reasons 

0.80% 0.79% 1.00% 0.96% 1.3% No 

Rebooking non-
clinical cancellations 
within 28 days 

<5% 11.1% 9.1% 11.5% 19.5% No 

 

 
Responsive quality highlights & challenges 

 
We have not met the national four hour A&E standard: A&E performance is measured by the 
percentage of patients that are seen, treated and discharged from an urgent or emergency care 
setting within four hours.  Our overall performance is derived from attends across all our 
emergency areas.  These include: 

 The main Emergency Departments (Type 1) 

 Western Eye Hospital (Type 2) 

 The Urgent Care Centres at our three main sites (Type 3). 

An ‘improving patient flow programme’ was launched in early 2017 to improve operational 
performance across the whole urgent care patient pathway at the Trust and to enable us to meet 
the trajectory for performance against the four hour A&E wait standard.  Significant work was 
completed against the programme milestones and improvements have been realised in a 
number of key areas, however performance against the four hour wait standard is lower than 
expected. We achieved an average of 87.1 per cent across 2017/18.  
 
Key challenges for the Trust included:  

 Increased demand and acuity within type 1 departments; 

 An increase in arrivals via ambulance and major trauma presentations at St Marys 

Hospital; 

 High levels of bed occupancy; 

 The number of days with black capacity alerts.  

The Trust was compliant against seven of the eight national cancer standards in last three 
quarters of 2017/18:  Although we did not consistently meet all eight cancer standards across 
the year, improvements have been seen. These improvements have been the result of a number 
of actions across each of the targets, including increasing MRI capacity to deliver same day 
scanning and reporting for prostate cancer referrals and increasing CTC scanning and reporting 
capacity to support the colorectal straight to test pathway. In September the Trust signed a 
memorandum of understanding with RMP Vanguard to deliver the £943k investment over the 
next two years to fully establish the prostate RAPID diagnostic pathway.  
 
We have not met the national performance targets for referral to treatment (RTT) and we 
continue to have significant numbers of patients waiting 52 weeks and over for treatment on a 
RTT pathway: In 2016 and 2017, the Trust identified issues with how we were managing our 
waiting lists as well as underlying capacity problems in a number of areas. We have not met the 

Page 105



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 82 

standard of 92 per cent of patients treated within 18 weeks of referral this year, reporting an 
average of 83 per cent across the year. Improvement trajectories have been agreed with our 
commissioners and NHSI and a waiting list improvement programme is in place (for more details 
see page xx).   
 
The Trust reported 1,896 patients waiting over 52 weeks in 2017/18, which is an increase on the 
1,578 patients reported last year. The clinical review process is detailed on page xx. Three 
cases of clinical harm have been confirmed for patients waiting over 52 weeks since the process 
began in August 2016.  
 
In 2017/18 we also included an ‘on admission’ clinical harm review for patients waiting 52 weeks 
and over for treatment within specialities that are included within the ‘high risk’ category.  To 
date there have been no incidences of clinical harm.   
 
A dedicated email address was set up for GP colleagues to alert us to patients who were 
potentially at risk of harm due to their wait. No cases of harm have been identified by this route. 
 
We improved our PLACE (patient led assessment of the care environment) scores in all 
categories: PLACE (see glossary on page xx for definition) was introduced in 2013 as an annual 
patient led initiative that monitors and scores the environment under the following headings: 

 Cleanliness; 

 Privacy, Dignity & Wellbeing; 

 Food & Hydration; 

 Condition, Appearance & Maintenance; 

 Dementia (introduced in 2015); 

 Disability (introduced in 2016). 
 

All patients should be cared for with compassion and dignity in a clean, safe environment. 
PLACE assessments provide a clear message, from patients, about how the environment or 
services might be enhanced.  
 
This year’s results showed an improved position in all six areas, with five of the six areas also 
meeting the targets that we set ourselves for this year:  

 Cleanliness – scores above national average. 

 Food and hydration – although our results remain slightly below average, they have 
improved since last year.  

 Privacy, Dignity & Wellbeing – although our results remain below average, they have 
improved since last year and we are no longer in the bottom 20 per cent. 

 Condition, appearance and maintenance – scores have improved and are above national 
average 

 Dementia – results show the most significant improvement. We have now moved from 
the bottom 20 per cent to above the national average. 

 Disability – scores remain below average, but are no longer in the bottom 20 per cent. 
 

These improvements were the result of a detailed action plan led by the PLACE steering group, 
as well as progress with our wayfinding, clinical and estate strategies. A number of areas have 
benefitted from major refurbishment programs including works to enable the introduction of new 
equipment, services being moved to larger spaces, and replacement of flooring and 
refurbishment of side room and bathroom facilities across the different hospital sites. In addition 
regular unannounced cleaning inspections have been introduced in clinical areas and a new 
seasonal menu has been developed with support from patient representatives to improve the 
standards of food.  
 
A detailed analysis of the 2017 assessment findings has taken place to assess any recurring 
themes and a detailed action plan will again be implemented to improve scores again next year.  
 

Page 106



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 83 

We have not achieved our target to discharge at least 35 per cent of our patients on relevant 
pathways before noon: Untimely discharge has been identified as one of the most common 
reasons why A&E departments fill and patients have long waits to be seen and admitted or 
discharged. Planning discharges before the peak in admissions is an effective way to smooth 
the total demand for beds and run safer, more effective services.  
 
By discharging patients earlier where clinically appropriate, we are in a better position to place 
all patients appropriately in the right ward, in the right bed and at the right time. Due to the 
indicator needing to be reviewed and validated in depth, reliable reporting did not commence 
against this target until November 2017. The Trust is supporting wards to implement the SAFER 
flow bundle which combines five elements of best practice to improve patient flow and prevent 
unnecessary waiting for patients. This includes early discharge to make beds available on the 
wards to admit new patients from A&E. This year 11.7% per cent of our patients were 
discharged before noon compared to 17.5 per cent last year.   
 

  

Page 107



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 84 

Well-led 
 
Evidence shows that staff who are engaged and happy in their jobs, respected and given 
opportunities to learn, provide better care for their patients. We have implemented a number of 
improvements to increase staff engagement throughout the organisation. 
 
In this section we describe our progress with the targets under the well-led domain during 
2017/18 as well as with our key priority improvement work streams.  
 
Leadership development programme 
Last year we committed to further developing training programmes as well as piloting 
management and leadership apprenticeship programmes. The Trust runs a suite of leadership 
and management development programmes for staff across the organisation. Linked to the 
Trust’s talent and succession plan, these programmes equip our leaders with the skills to be 
highly effective in their roles. Our ‘Horizons’ and ‘Aspire’ leadership programmes bring together 
our senior leaders and develop their ability to lead across teams and systems in an authentic 
and engaging way. Our ‘Headstart’ and ‘Foundations’ programmes are highly practical and 
participative management development programmes for those who are new to management or 
looking to broaden their existing skill set.  
 
Our offer is continually evolving with two new programmes added in 2017; ‘Springboard’ for 
band 5-6 nurses in support of our retention strategy and ‘Engage’ to further improve our 
employee’s experience of working here. In August 2017, following our progress in the 2016 NHS 
Staff Survey and the development of our local ‘Engage’ workshop and toolkit for managers we 
were featured as a best practice case study published by NHS Employers.  
 
We also organised, in partnership with the Patient Safety Translational Research Centre 
(PSTRC), a two-day leadership course aimed at senior leaders in the Trust and College to 
enhance collaborative learning on leadership for safer care.   
 
Retention strategy 
During 2017/2018 we fully launched our recruitment and retention plan for our nursing and 
midwifery staff (bands 2-6). A number of initiatives were introduced including: 
 

 Creating a new brand for recruitment; 

 Launching career clinics; 

 Automatic offers for students; 

 Extending the Preceptorship to one-year; 

 Introducing a new leavers survey;  

 Implementing a new leadership programme for band 5/6 nurses; 

 Creating a retention toolkit.  
 

Our action plan was showcased by NHSI as part of their master class series in November 
2017. 
 
Occupational Health service review 
In July 2017 we commissioned an external strategic review of our occupational health service to 
ensure that it was set up in the most appropriate way to deliver an effective and high quality 
service for our staff. The review assessed the service provided both to the Trust and to external 
clients. A number of improvements were made to the service in response to the 
recommendations of this review, including: 
 

 An upgrade to the software sytem to enable more efficient scheduling, processing and 
delivery of work; 

Page 108



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 85 

 More streamlined working with the recruitment team to enable speedier health clearance 
of newly-recruited employees; 

 Revision of pricing.  
 

We have also submitted a Safe Effective Quality Occupational Health Services (SEQOHS – see 
glossary on page xx for definition) re-accreditation case. As part of the accreditation process, the 
assessors are scheduled to conduct their on-site visit, which is the final part of the assessment 
process, in May 2018. 
 
Improving the offer to our staff from our occupational health service including timeliness and 
efficiency is important to support health and well being. An action plan is in place to deliver this 
improvement and will be key to delivering this during 2018/19. 

 
Staff engagement programme 
We made a commitment last year to develop plans to improve based on what our staff tell us. 
The results of our annual internal staff survey are included below. In response, directorates 
were asked to prepare engagement action plans which showed enormous breadth of action 
and activity to promote engagement. Some activity centred on effective implementation of pre-
existing processes including PDRs and Make a Difference Awards, whilst others focused on 
innovative actions to address very local concerns such as improving rest areas for staff and 
the introduction of new newsletters.  
 
We also ran the ‘In our Shoes’ focus groups again this year, which are an opportunity for staff 
to share with each other what makes a good day and what makes a bad day at work, and 
identify what the Trust can do to improve staff experience. Over 800 employees across the 
organisation participated. 
 
  
Ward accreditation programme 
Our internal annual ward accreditation programme (WAP) was launched in 2014 and continues 
to support ward, unit and department managers to understand how they are delivering care, 
identifying what works well and where further improvements are needed. Areas are assessed 
against a number of criteria, and given a rating, from gold (achieving highest standards with 
evidence in data) to white (not achieving minimum standards and no evidence of active 
improvement work).  
 
In 2017 overall, out of 90 areas reviewed, 38 had improved since last year. 34 per cent of clinical 
areas were rated as gold, 32 per cent were rated as silver, and four per cent were rated as 
white. 
 
To support continued improvement in leadership, which was highlighted as an area for 
improvement in the first year of the WAP, the Trust has launched a bespoke Band 5 and 6 
nursing and midwifery leadership programme. The impact of this will be measured during the 
2018 programme, which will also be expanded to include more clinical areas and to support the 
new Trust quality strategy. 
 
Patient and public involvement strategy 
In 2016, we developed a Trust-wide approach to increasing and improving patient and public 
involvement in every aspect of our work. Progress with the strategy in 2017/18 has included: 

 A new digital patient reference group - providing input and feedback on the 
development of apps, the use of digital patient records and other online opportunities to 
help ensure our digital strategy meets the needs and preferences of our patients and 
communities 

 The establishment of an additional 22 lay partner roles – enabling patients and local 
people to play a full part in the Trust’s key projects and programmes, bringing the total 

Page 109



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 86 

to 44 and influencing major developments such as waiting list improvements, estates 
redevelopment and a new patient transport tender  

 The creation of a new volunteer role to support improvement projects – focusing on 
gathering feedback directly from patients, carers, family and friends in clinical 
environments 

 Publishing our first involvement toolkit for staff – offering advice and practical support 
to involve patients and the public in services and improvement work. 
 

We also include patient stories at each of our bi-monthly public board meetings to learn from 
the experiences of our patients.   
 
Flu campaign 
Flu vaccination rates at the Trust  have been reducing over preceding years and with only 20.6% 
of ‘frontline healthcare workers’ vaccinated in 2016/17 we were a national outlier (Source: CQC 
Insight Report, December 2017).   
 
In August 2017, it was agreed that a new approach was needed.  The Improvement Team were 
asked to design and implement a comprehensive vaccination plan in preparation for the 2017/18 
flu season. The vaccination programme was active between 25 September 2017 and 31 January 
2018 and by March 60.5% of our frontline healthcare workers had been vaccinated against flu.   
 
Whilst the Trust did not meet NHS England’s target of ensuring that at least 70 per cent of 
frontline healthcare workers were vaccinated, the results represent a significant improvement in 
protecting more of our staff than ever before. We finished the flu campaign as the most improved 
Acute Trust in England; achieving an improvement of very nearly 40 per cent from last year’s 
performance. 
 
Digital 
The digital big room (see page xx for more information on ‘big rooms’) has identified seven 
priority areas for 2018/2019. These act as really important enablers across ‘improvement 
priorities’ for trust wide digital transformation. The digital priority areas overlap with GDE 
priorities and comprise: 

i) Optimal use of existing digital features; 
ii) Going paperless; 
iii) Introducing voice recognition; 
iv) Device and system integration; to develop systems that connect and share 

information safely and securely; 
v) Developing a mobile App interface; 
vi) Care Information Exchange (CIE); 

 vii) Analytics; to ensure provision of access to data to develop real time feedback 
mechanisms to collect and act upon data. 

 
The table below sets out our performance in 2017/18. Where applicable, it presents national 
targets and averages, and information about our performance in 2016/17. Site level data is 
described where available and appropriate. 
 

Goal/Target National 
Target / 
National 
Average  

Performance in 
16/17 

Target for 
17/18 

Outcome in 
17/18 (data to 
end Feb 2018) 

Target 
achieved? 

To increase the percentage of 
staff who would recommend this 
trust to friends and family as a 
place to work 

N/A 65% (internal staff 
survey published 
Sept 2016) 
 
62% (national staff 
survey published 
March 2017) 

67% 
(internal staff 
survey) 
 
64% 
(national 
staff survey) 

72% (internal 
staff survey 
published August 
2017) 
 
66% (national 
staff survey 
published March 

Yes 

Page 110



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 87 

2018) 

To increase the percentage of 
staff who would recommend this 
trust to friends and family as a 
place for treatment 

N/A 83% (internal staff 
survey published 
Sept 2016) 
 
70% (national staff 
survey published 
March 2017) 

85% 
(internal staff 
survey) 
 
72% 
(national 
staff survey) 

86% (internal 
staff survey 
published August 
2017) 
 
73% (national 
staff survey 
published March 
2018) 

Yes 

We will achieve a voluntary 
turnover rate of 10 per cent 
 

N/A 10.22% 10%  9.1% Yes 

We will maintain our sickness 
absence rate at below  3.10 per 
cent 
 

N/A 3.00% 3.10%  2.9% Yes 

We will achieve a performance 
development review rate of 95 
per cent 
 

N/A 86.24% 95% 88.5% No 

We will achieve a non-training 
grade doctor appraisal rate of 95 
per cent 

90.1% 91.13% 95% 84.5% No 

We will achieve compliance of 
90 per cent with statutory and 
mandatory training 

 95%  85.60% 90% 87.4% No 

We will further develop our ward 
accreditation programme to 
ensure it links with other quality 
initiatives and has quality 
improvement at its heart 

N/A Programme re-run Programme 
re-run 

Programme re-
run 

Yes 

We will reduce the number of 
programmes with red flags in the 
GMC’s national trainee survey 
by 5 per cent 

N/A 25 red flags 
(50% reduction on 
previous year) 

5% 
reduction  

11 programmes 
with red flags (24 
red flags in total) 
 

No 

We will increase the overall 
number of green flags in the 
GMC’s national trainee survey 
by 5 per cent 
 

N/A 54 57 or more 53 No 

We will obtain a minimum score 
of 0.5 for placement satisfaction 
for all student placements as 
measured by SOLE 

N/A 76% (academic 
year 2016/17) 

100% of 
placements 
with 0.5 or 
more 

79% No 

We will have a departmental 
safety coordinator in 60% of 
clinical wards, clinical 
departments and corporate 
departments  

N/A 91.87% 
(departments with 
trained 
coordinators) 

60% 49% No 

We will ensure at least 10 per 
cent of our staff are trained as 
fire wardens 

N/A New target  not 
previously 
measured 

10% 9% N/A 

We will ensure we respond to all 
exception reports from junior 
doctors within 14 days of an 
application being made and that 
we deliver improvements as a 
result 

N/A New target  not 
previously 
measured 

Within 14 
days 

45% N/A 

 

Well-led quality highlights & challenges 

 
We have achieved our goal and increased the percentage of staff who would recommend our 
Trust as a place to work and as a place for treatment: We monitor staff engagement through the 
national staff survey and through our annual internal survey ‘Our Voice’ which was run between 

Page 111



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 88 

May and June 2017. 2,802 of our people responded, which represents 33 per cent of the total 
workforce.  
 
The survey included questions about whether staff would recommend the Trust to friends and 
family as a place for treatment or a place to work. We were very pleased to see that our scores 
for both of these increased again this year; they are our best results for these two questions 
since the staff survey was introduced in November 2013.   
 
In addition to these, the top 5 performing questions across our survey were:   
 

 I understand how my work makes a difference to other people (96 per cent) 

 I am clear about the values and behaviours expected of me at work (94 per cent) 

 I am clear about my own objectives and responsibilities (94 per cent) 

 I am trusted to prioritise my workload myself (93 per cent) 

 The people in my team work together to provide a great service (90 per cent) 
 

Our staff were less positive about the following questions: 
 

 Senior leaders are genuinely interested in staff opinions and ideas (57 per cent) 

 Senior leaders communicate well with the rest of the organisation (57 per cent) 

 Senior leaders are visible and approachable (56 per cent) 

 I generally have enough time to complete all my work (54 per cent) 

 Poor behavior and performance is addressed effectively in this organisation (48 per cent) 
 

Information on what we did in response to this feedback is included on page xx 
 
The national staff survey results were published in March 2018, which also showed an 
improvement in the percentage of our staff who recommend the Trust to friends and family as a 
place to work and as a place for treatment. Our overall engagement score was 3.84 which is 
above (better than) average when compared with trusts of a similar type. 
 
We achieved some very positive scores in the national staff survey, above the national average, 
including in the following four areas: 
 

 Quality of non-mandatory training, learning or development (4.17 out of 5, against a 
national average of 4.05); 

 Percentage of staff agreeing that their role makes a difference to patient/service users 
(91 per cent, against a national average of 90 per cent); 

 Quality of appraisals (3.20 out of 5, against a national average of 3.11); 

 Staff satisfaction with the quality of work and care they are able to deliver (3.99 out of 5, 
against a national average of 3.91). 
 

Nevertheless, the survey results also make it clear that we still have much more to do. We have 
below average scores when compared to other trusts in relation to the numbers of our staff 
reporting experiences of harassment, bullying or abuse in the workplace as well as 
discrimination, and witnessing potentially harmful errors, near misses or incidents. The results in 
these areas, as follows: 
 

 35 per cent of our staff experienced harassment, bullying or abuse from patients, 
relatives or the public in the last 12 months. 

 29 per cent experienced harassment, bullying or abuse from staff in the last 12 months. 

 37 per cent witnessed potentially harmful errors, near misses or incidents in the last 12 
months. 

 19 per cent experienced discrimination at work in the last 12 months.  
 

Page 112



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 89 

Nevertheless, the survey results also make it clear that we still have much more to do. We have 
below average scores when compared to other trusts in relation to the numbers of our staff 
reporting experiences of harassment, bullying or abuse in the workplace as well as 
discrimination, and witnessing potentially harmful errors, near misses or incidents. The results in 
these areas, as follows: 
 

 35 per cent of our staff experienced harassment, bullying or abuse from patients, 
relatives or the public in the last 12 months. 

 29 per cent experienced harassment, bullying or abuse from staff in the last 12 months. 

 37 per cent witnessed potentially harmful errors, near misses or incidents in the last 12 
months. 

 19 per cent experienced discrimination at work in the last 12 months.  
 

Good progress continues to be made on improving the level of support and information available 
to our staff in relation to violence and aggression in the workplace. This includes training during 
induction and the provision of a ‘tool box’ of information with a particular emphasis on conflict 
resolution. Work is also underway to improve security arrangements in hot spot areas including 
CCTV and access control changes and upgrades. Whilst this section relates to staff well-being, if 
our staff are at risk then our patients are also at risk.  
 
The results for the 2017 National Staff Survey are currently being analysed to inform local and 
strategic engagement plans. 
 
We have met our voluntary turnover rate target: We are pleased to have seen a decrease in staff 
voluntarily leaving the Trust this year and have met our voluntary turnover rate target. A key 
aspect of reducing the voluntary turnover rate is to ensure staff have the opportunity for career 
progression, feel their job is worthwhile and fulfilling, and they are supported to develop. Some 
of the ways we are working to ensure this include: 

 The implementation of the Nurse Recruitment & Retention Strategy; 

 Careers clinics (band 2 – 6 nurses and midwives); 

 Development of Springboard (band 5/6 Nurse Development Programme); 

 Exploration of flexible benefits for staff; 

 Further development of flexible recruitment and retention premium (RRP); 

 Becoming an ‘employer of choice’ for student nurses and midwives; 

 “Great place to work week”, Pulse magazine and “Your working life” intranet pages. 
 

Our sickness absence rate remains low: Low sickness absence is an indicator of effective 
leadership and good people management. We are continuing our focus on supporting the health 
and wellbeing of our staff along with supportive management interventions for those who are 
absent due to sickness. There are a range of activities and services available within the Trust 
including occupation health, staff counselling, stress management, yoga and meditation classes, 
and smoking cessation clinics. In September 2017 we also ran our third ‘Living Week’ which is a 
campaign of events designed to get staff fit, active and having fun.  
 
We have maintained our performance overall in  the General Medical Council’s National Training 
Survey of junior doctors and our performance for placement satisfaction as measured by SOLE 
(student online evaluation): We aim to provide the best learning environment for our doctors. 
Two important elements we use to monitor the satisfaction of our trainee doctors and medical 
students are: 
 

 Student Online Evaluation (SOLE): The feedback we receive from our medical 
students through the local SOLE system has previously been mixed. Our aim is to focus 
on improving their experience in a consistent manner, with the target of obtaining a 
minimum score of 0.5 (which corresponds to a ‘mostly agree’ score) for satisfaction for all 

Page 113



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 90 

student placements. In 2016/17, we achieved this target for 79 per cent of our 
programmes this year, compared to 76 per cent last year.  
 

General Medical Council’s national training survey (GMC NTS): This annual survey 
can highlight not only problems with teaching in organisations, but also patient safety 
issues and problems with bullying and undermining. The results of the GMC NTS were 
published in July 2017. Whilst the 2016 survey demonstrated significant improvement on 
previous results, the 2017 results indicate that we have maintained our performance 
overall. Ongoing supportive improvement plans are in place for specialties of concern 
through education specialty reviews. 
 

Two specialties (ophthalmology and neurosurgery) have been removed from enhanced 
monitoring by the GMC due to their sustained improved performance.   Critical care at 
Charing Cross Hospital remain under enhanced monitoring with a formal action plan in 
place with monthly review meetings with the medical director.  Actions being taken 
include: 

 Increasing  registrar level posts to decrease rota intensity; 

 Increasing consultant supervision by increasing consultant level posts; 

 Providing suitable rest facilities for our junior doctors. 
 

Since the results of the 2017 survey, we have been focusing on driving further change 
by: 

 Strengthened governance with education specialty reviews chaired by the medical 
director and continued support for local faculty groups embedded as business as 
usual.; 

 Sharing good practice from the specialties with green flags; 

 Embedding time for education in job plans and making it sustainable; 

 Supporting the development of the multi-professional workforce through the 
implementation of the integrated education strategy;  

 Enhanced our faculty development programme for consultant supervisors to include 
refresher modules and provision of educational appraisals.  
 

Although we have not met our percentage target for the number of doctors who have had an 
appraisal, we had positive feedback from  our Higher Level Responsible Officer Quality Review 
Visit:  It is a national requirement that non-training grade doctors have an annual medical 
appraisal as part of the General Medical Council’s Revalidation process (see glossary on page 
xx for definitions), during which doctors have a formal structured opportunity to reflect on their 
work and to consider how their effectiveness might be improved, with the focus on enhancing 
quality and improvements in patient care. A number of actions are being taken to increase 
compliance including monthly professional development drop-in sessions across all Trust sites 
and reviewing the PREP system to ensure it is user friendly and easy to navigate by doctors. 
There is also ongoing contact with doctors who are overdue with application of the Trust policy 
where appropriate.   
 
In February 2017 the Trust was visited by the London Revalidation Team to assess against the 
Core Standards Framework for the supervision, support and management of medical staff by the 
organisation and the Responsible Office (see glossary on page xx for definition).  The visit 
highlighted a number of areas of good practice including appraisers having refresher training 
that was well evaluated by participants, the production of electronic revalidation monthly 
newsletters, and good working relationships between the medical staff team and the revalidation 
team. An action plan has been developed for areas highlighted for improvement.  

 
 
 

Page 114



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 91 

We have not met our target for the percentage of staff who have had a performance 
development review (PDR): Our appraisal scheme ‘Performance Development and Review 
(PDR)’ for staff, excluding doctors, is aimed at driving a new performance culture across the 
Trust. Although we are below target we have improved on last year’s result.  
The National Staff Survey results for 2017 indicate that out of those who completed the survey, 
89% had been appraised within the last 12 months which is above the national average.  In 
addition respondents stated that the quality of appraisals was above the national average and 
was in our top five highest performing results. We continue to run a one day essential training 
course for all managers undertaking PDRs. We have also introduced an additional half day 
training to support managers in preparing for specific PDR conversations, maintaining a real 
focus on making sure that staff have meaningful and positive PDR meetings. 

 
We have not achieved our target of 90 per cent of staff being compliant with core skills training: 
Our core skills training programme ensures the safety and well-being of all our staff and patients; 
this includes modules which have a direct impact on patient safety. The percentage of staff who 
have completed all the core skills modules has slightly decreased this year; we continue to 
target areas where compliance is particularly low. We have an ongoing work programme to 
maximise compliance rates which includes introduction of pre-assessment modules, a review of 
target groups, better communication and improving access to training.   
 
We have not achieved our target to have 10 per cent of staff trained as fire wardens and 
departmental safety coordinators in 60 per cent of clinical wards, clinical departments and 
corporate departments: Targets for the departmental safety co-ordinators (DSCs – see glossary 
on page xx for definition) and fire wardens are included to drive improvements in health and 
safety. Targeted work has been underway to increase the numbers of trained staff, however high 
demand on our clinical areas has restricted the availability of our staff to attend the training 
sessions. In response, a more concise training package for fire wardens has been developed 
this year and a new e-learning course is being considered for DSC training. We are also 
reviewing the way that we measure DSC compliance to ensure accurate reporting next year. 
 
A task and finish group approach has been commenced to achieve compliance with DSC 
numbers.  All departments have been invited to join the group and a targeted approach will be 
employed to ensure we achieve improved coverage across all areas during the coming year. 

 
  

Page 115



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 92 

The Acute Quality Schedule 2017/18 

Each year, we agree a number of quality metrics with our commissioners which we are required 
to deliver as part of our contract. These include nationally mandated metrics, as well as locally 
agreed ones.  Our commissioners (local and NHS England) monitor our performance with these 
indicators throughout the year through the Clinical Quality Group.  They include most of the 
quality strategy priority goals and targets described above. We have achieved the majority of the 
quality schedule metrics throughout the year and have agreed plans with our commissioners to 
help us improve in areas where we have not performed consistently. 
 

Maternity performance indicators 
The quality schedule includes 14 key targets to drive improvement in maternity care. In all 
quarters this year, we have achieved the following eight targets: 

 

 90 per cent breastfeeding initiation rate within 48 hours of the baby’s birth. We have also 

made significant progress towards achieving UNICEF Baby Friendly Accreditation.  

 95 per cent of women receiving one-to-one midwife care in established labour. We are 

delighted that this key metric is consistently met and this aligns with the findings of the 

national maternity survey.   

 100 per cent of women with a named midwife or named team. We are using this as a 

building block for the ‘Better Births’ early adopter work to improve continuity of care for 

women.  

 14 per cent of women giving birth in a midwifery led unit. We are very proud of our two 

highly rated Birth Centres.  

 Less than five per cent of women smoking at the time of delivery. We continue to work 

with Public Health Partners to support women to give up smoking.  

 Less than three per cent of women experiencing third or fourth degree tears. We monitor 

this closely and ensure that women are receiving the latest evidenced based care in this 

important area. 

 98 hours per week consultant presence on the labour ward at St Mary’s Hospital 

 1:30 midwife to birth ratio. We continue to be funded to this ratio and have many 

mechanisms in place to ensure safe midwifery staffing across our service.  

 
Areas of challenge  
 

Maternity booking assessments in 12 weeks and 6 days.  

We achieved this performance target for three out of four quarters this year. We did not meet 
this target for the last quarter following a change in structure of the Patient Services Centre in 
addition to a shortage of staff. This is a focused area of attention with plans in place to improve 
this metric. 

 
Home births 

The number of women giving birth at home remains below the threshold of 1 per cent. Maternal 
choice is one of the main factors driving this.  In addition, 40 per cent of women that give birth at 
the Trust are from outside of our catchment area although they are included in the denominator. 
We continue to strive to increase home birth choices where clinically appropriate. 
 
Percentage of women having a non-elective caesarean section and percentage of women 
having an elective caesarean 
Performance against these targets fluctuated, although we met non-elective caesarean section 
targets in three out of four quarters. We just missed the target (16.1%) in Q2. We have a 
process in place to review non-elective caesarean sections. We met the elective caesarean 

Page 116



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 93 

section targets in two out of four quarters. Counselling occurs for women requesting an elective 
caesarean section. 
 
Postpartum haemorrhage 
Our performance against this target has improved since last year. In 2016/17 our performance 
was 3.1 per cent against a target of 2.8 per cent. Following the introduction of a focussed action 
plan we have now met the target in all quarters, except in Q2 where we reported 2.84 per cent.  
 
Hours of consultant labour ward cover 
The Trust met the RCOG threshold for the number of hours of consultant presence on the labour 
ward at St Mary’s hospital (60 hours per week for units under 4000 maternities per year), but not 
at Queen Charlotte’s and Chelsea Hospital (168 hours per week). Neither hospital met the 
London Maternity Quality Standards and CCG target of 168 hours per week. These targets are 
not evidenced based and recent evidence shows that 168 hour consultant labour ward presence 
does not lead to an improvement in patient outcomes. Following this emerging evidence, the 
RCOG wrote to all Clinical Directors of Maternity retracting from its commitment to the 168 hour 
standard for consultant presence on labour ward in maternity units with over 5000 maternities. 
The London Maternity Clinical Leadership Group have revised  London Quality Standards and 
are due to imminently publish the updated standards which will not include a requirement to 
have 168 hour consultant presence on labour ward.  There is currently a significant shortage of 
junior doctors at Queen Charlotte’s and Chelsea Hospital and with Trust board support we have 
now reduced consultant labour ward presence from 113 to 98 hours and redeployed resident on-
call consultants to perform daytime duties. This will maintain safety during the day and night as 
consultants remain on-call overnight and can be called in to the hospital if required. This will be 
reviewed when the staffing situation improves. This has been in place now for several months 
and no significant risks have emerged from the slight reduction in hours. 

 
Safeguarding training 
We are committed to the protection and safeguarding (see glossary on page xx for definition) of 
all patients, including children and young people. As part of this, we provide staff with different 
levels of safeguarding training, depending on their role. Throughout 2017/18, compliance with 
training has remained below our target of 90 per cent for most levels although we have seen 
gradual improvement for Level 2 adult safeguarding training and are now just below target at 87 
per cent. Training compliance remains a important but challenging priority for us and we have 
included compliance with level 3 children’s safeguarding training as one of our quality account 
targets for 2018/19. Level 3 child safeguarding is delivered as a four hour face-to-face session.  
 
Level 1 & 2 training for both adult and child training is delivered via e-learning modules. We have 
communication plans in place to improve compliance, including regular reminders to staff and 
reviews of monthly compliance reports with managers.  In addition, all staff are required to 
confirm that they are up to date with their core mandatory training as part of their annual 
personal development review.  

 
We have not reported any serious incidents related to adult safeguarding in 2017/18, but two 
serious incidents were generated by children safeguarding concerns. In order to ensure learning 
from any incidents, summary care records are disseminated out to staff in the Trust during 
training and supervision sessions and we have introduced ‘learning flyers’. In addition, learning 
themes from any incidents recorded on our reporting system, Datix, are shared with staff. 
 
 
 

Page 117



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 94 

The NHS Outcomes framework indicators 2017/18 

The NHS Outcomes Framework 2017/18 sets out high level national outcomes which the NHS should be aiming to improve. The framework provides 
indicators which have been chosen to measure these outcomes. An overview of the indicators and our performance is outlined in the table below. 
Some of this data is repeated because we chose to include these indicators as our quality strategy targets for 2017/18. It is important to note that 
whilst these indicators must be included in the quality accounts, the most recent national data available for the reporting period is not always data for 
the most recent financial year. Where this is the case, the time period used is noted underneath. This data is included in line with reporting 
arrangements issued by NHS England. Further information about what we are doing to improve our performance can be found in the individual target 
pages. 
 
Indicator ICHT 2017/18 National 

Average 
(Median 

Reporting 
Rates) 

Where 
Applicabl
e - Best 

performer 

Where 
Applicable 

- Worst 
Performer 

Trust Statement 2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 

SHMI 
value 
and 
banding  

74.29 

 
(Q2 2016/17 – 
Q1 17/18) 
 
Second lowest 
SHMI ratio of 
all non-
specialist 
providers in 
England  

100 

 
(Q2 2016/17 
– Q1 17/18) 

72.61 

 
(Q2 
2016/17 – 
Q1 17/18) 

122.77 

 
(Q2 
2016/17 – 
Q1 17/18) 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: 
• It is drawn from nationally reported data  
• We have reported a lower than expected SHMI rate for the last three 
years.  
• ICHT has the second lowest SHMI ratio of all non-specialist providers in 
England 
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this rate, and so the 
quality of our services, by: 
• Continuing to work to eliminate avoidable harm and improve outcomes. 

• Reviewing every death which occurs in our Trust and implementing 

learning as a result. See page xx for more information on our 
implementation of the new Learning from Deaths framework. 
 

75.54 
 
Second 
lowest 
SHMI ratio 
of all non-
specialist 
providers in 
England 

73.8 
 

Third lowest 
SHMI ratio 
of all non-
specialist 
providers in 
England 

73.17 
 

Third 
lowest 
SHMI ratio 
of all non-
specialist 
providers 
in England 

Percenta
ge of 
admitted 
deaths 
with 
palliative 
care 
coded  

 

52.6% 

 
(January to 
December 
2017) 

 

29.6% 

 
(January to 
December 
2017) 

 

Not 
applicable 

Not 
applicable 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• It is drawn from nationally reported data.  
• It shows we have the second highest rate of palliative care coding as 
measured by this indicator of all acute non-specialist providers. 
• We are confident that we have a robust process in place to ensure that we 
are coding patients correctly. 
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so 
the quality of our services, by: 
• Continuing to work to improve the accuracy of our clinical coding.  

54.9% 

 
 

53.5%  

 
24.6% 

 

Patient 
reported 

Not available EQ-5D: 0.089 
EQ-VAS: -

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  

* 
(Low 

* 
(Low 

* 
(Low 

P
age 118



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 95 

outcome 
scores 
(PROMs) 
for groin 
hernia 
surgery  

0.132 

 

(April – Sept 
17) 

• Data was not available on the NHS Digital PROMS database. 
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so 
the quality of our services, by: 
• Groin hernia surgery PROMs collection has been ceased at a national 
level. 
 
See page xx for further information.  

sample 
size) 
 

sample 
size) 

 

  

 
 

sample 
size) 
 

PROMs 
for 
varicose 
vein 
surgery  

EQ-5D: 0.077 
EQ-VAS: 
1.324 
Aberdeen 
varicose vein 
score: -1.899 

 
(April – Sept 
17) 

EQ-5D: 0.096 
EQ-VAS: -
0.418 
Aberdeen 
varicose vein 
score: Not 
available 

 
(April – Sept 
17) 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• It is drawn from the independently administered NHS Digital PROMS 
database. 
• It shows that we had health gain below national average for varicose 
veins. 
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so 
the quality of our services, by: 
• Whilst varicose veins surgery PROMs collection has been ceased at a 

national level, ICHT are developing measures to allow on-going monitoring 
of the outcomes for patients. 
 
See page xx for further information. 

EQ-5D: 
0.083 
EQ-VAS: 
0.3 
Aberdeen 
varicose 
vein score: -
0.1 
 

EQ-5D: 
0.038 EQ 
VAS: -2.966 
Aberdeen 
varicose 
vein score: -
2.724 

EQ-5D: 
0.047 
EQ VAS:-
1.093 
Aberdeen 
varicose 
vein score: 
-2.224  

PROMs 
for hip 
replacem
ent 
surgery  

Not available Not available Not 
available 

Not 
available 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• Data was not available on the NHS Digital PROMS database. 
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so 
the quality of our services, by: 
• implementing our action plan. 
 
See page xx for further information. 

* 
(Low 
sample 
size) 
 

EQ-5D: 
0.475 EQ 
VAS: 
14.259 
Oxford Hip 
Score: 
24.229  
 

EQ-5D: 
0.453 
EQ VAS: 
12.756 
Oxford Hip 
Score: 
22.537 
 

PROMs 
for knee 
replacem
ent 
surgery  

Not available  Not available  Not 
available 

Not 
available 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• Data was not available on the NHS Digital PROMS database. 
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so 
the quality of our services, by: 
• implementing our action plan. 
 
See page xx for further information. 

* 
(Low 
sample 
size) 
 

EQ-5D: 
0.292 EQ 
VAS: * low 
sample 
size 
Oxford 
Knee Score: 
13.420 

EQ-5D: 
0.326 
EQ VAS: 
10.411 
Oxford 
Knee 
Score: 
14.940 

P
age 119



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 96 

28 day 
readmiss
ion rate 
for 
patients 
aged 0-
15  

 

4.92% 

 
(Dr Foster data 
– Oct 16 – 
Sept 2017) 

9.1% 

 
(Dr Foster 
data – Oct 16 
– Sept 2017) 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: 
• It is drawn from the nationally reported data obtained from Dr Foster 
• We have maintained our low unplanned readmission rate for both 
paediatric patients and adult patients with both rates remaining below 
national average throughout the year.  
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so 
the quality of our services, by: 
• Continuing to ensure we treat and discharge patients appropriately so that 
they do not require unplanned readmission. 
• Working to tackle long-standing pressures around demand, capacity and 
patient flow.  

5.15% 

 
(Oct 2015-
Sep 2016) 
 

4.81%  
 
(Jan-Dec 
2015) 

6.31% 

28 day 
readmiss
ion rate 
for 
patients 
aged 16 
or over  
 

6.92% 

 
(Dr Foster data 
– Oct 16 – 
Sept 2017) 
 

8.2% 
 
(Dr Foster 
data – Oct 16 
– Sept 2017) 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

See above. 6.64 % 
 
(Oct 2015-
Sep 2016) 
 

7.39%  
 
(Jan-Dec 
2015) 

 

8.84% 

Percenta
ge of 
staff who 
would 
recomm
end the 
provider 
to 
friends 
or family 
needing 
care 

73%  
 
[national staff 
survey – 
published 
March 2018] 

71% 
 
[national staff 
survey – 
published 
March 2018] 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• It is drawn from the nationally reported data from the National Staff Survey 
which was published in March 2018.  
• The results show an improvement in our national staff FFT score 
compared to last year, which is also above average for acute trusts. 

 Results from our local engagement survey also show an improvement, 
with 86% of staff recommending the Trust. 

 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so 
the quality of our services, by: 
•See page xx for information on our improvement plans. 

70% 
 

68%  
 

71% 

Percenta
ge of 
admitted 
patients 
risk-
assesse
d for 
VTE  

 
 
93.87% 
(2017/18 full 
year data) 
 
Q1: 92.71% 
Q2: 91.63% 
Q3: 95.53% 
Q4: 95.64% 
 

95.36% 
(Q3 17/18) 

100% 
(Q3 
17/18) 

76.08% 
(Q3 17/18) 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• It is drawn from the nationally reported data published quarterly by NHS 
England. 
• Last year, an internal audit identified some issues with our data for this 
indicator. In response, the Trust moved to assessment for VTE at drug 
prescription on admission rather than at discharge at the end of March 2017. 
• We have monitored VTE risk assessments on a monthly basis throughout 
the year. After an initial drop in performance across the Trust which we had 
anticipated, a Trust-wide action plan that included sharing performance data 
locally was implemented.  

95.33%  
 
 

95.87%  
 
 

96.56% 

P
age 120



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 97 

 We met our target in Q3 and Q4. 

 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so 
the quality of our services, by: 

 Using CRAB outcome data in 2018/19 which should be more specific 
 

Rate of 
C-Diff 
per 
100,000 
bed days 

17.64 
 
Total cases: 63  

13.2 (2016/17 
data) 

0.0 
 (2016/17 
data) 

82.7 
 (2016/17 
data) 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: 
• It is drawn from nationally reported data 
• We monitor performance regularly through our Trust Infection Control 
Committee and weekly taskforce meeting. 
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so 
the quality of our services, by: 
• To reduce the risk of infections occurring in the hospital we will continue to 
work on reducing the use of anti-infectives (antibiotics) and improving hand 
hygiene. 

18.03 
(63) 

20.9 
(73) 

22.6 
(79) 

Respons
iveness 
to 
inpatient
s 
personal 
needs: 
National 
Inpatient 
survey 
score 

No new data 
has been 
published 
since the 
2016/17 
scores that 
were published 
in May 2017. 
 
 

Not available 9.2 
[national 
inpatient 
survey 
overall 
score – 
published 
May 
2017] 

 

7.4 
[national 
inpatient 
survey 
overall 
score – 
published 
May 2017] 

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: 
• it is drawn from the nationally reported data from the National Inpatient 
Survey which was published in May 2017. 
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so 
the quality of our services, by: 
•See pages x-x for information on our improvement plans. 

8.2 
[overall 
score] 
 
6.72  
[responsive
ness score] 

7.9 
[overall 
score] 
 
6.74  
[responsive
ness score] 

75.8 
[overall 
score] 

 
6.82 
[responsiv
eness 
score] 

Rate of 
reported 
patient 
safety 
incidents 
per 1,000 
bed days  
 
 

47.96  
 
(NRLS data 
April – Sept 
17) 

41.68 

 
(NRLS data 
April – Sept 
17) 

76.2 

 
(NRLS 

data April 
– Sept 17) 

23.47 

 
(NRLS 

data April – 
Sept 17) 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• The NRLS data is nationally reported and verified. 
• The data shows all incidents reported by ICHT for the period April – 
September 17: our incident reporting rate for this period was 47.96 against a 
median peer reporting rate of 41.68  
• Our individual incident reporting data is made available by the NRLS every 
six months 
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so 
the quality of our services, by: 
• Improving how we report, manage and learn from incidents as part of our 
ongoing safety culture work. See page xx for further information. 

April – Sept 
16:  42.3  

 
Oct 16 – 
March 17; 
46.82 
 
 
(rate per 
1,000 bed 
days) 
 
 

April – Sept 
15: 41.38  
 
Oct 15 – 
March 16: 
43.18  
 
(rate per 
1,000 bed 
days) 
 

April – 
Sept 14: 
42.98 
 
Oct 14 – 
March 15: 
40.69 
 
(rate per 
1,000 bed 
days) 
 
 

Percenta
ge of 

0.1% 
severe/major 

0.28% 
(severe harm) 

  Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  

April – Sept 
16: 0.1% 

April-Sept 
15: 0.1% - 

April-Sept 
14: 0.1% 

P
age 121



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 98 

patient 
safety 
incidents 
reported 
that 
resulted 
in 
severe/m
ajor 
harm or 
extreme 
harm/de
ath  

 
 

harm (6 
incidents) 

 
0.1% extreme 
harm/death (6 
incidents) 

 
(NRLS data 
April – Sept 
17) 
 
Full year 
internal data: 
27 

 
0.11% 
(extreme 
harm/death) 
 
(NRLS data 
April – Sept 
17) 

• It is drawn from the nationally reported data from the NRLS  
•We reported 0.1% severe/major harm incidents (6 incidents) compared to a 
national average of 0.3%, and 0.1% extreme/death incidents (6 incidents) 
compared to a national average of 0.12%.  
• Based on our full year internal data, we have also achieved a small 
reduction in the total number of incidents causing extreme harm/death or 
severe/major harm in 2017/18, reporting 27 compared to 28  in 2016/17.  
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so 
the quality of our services, by: 
 
• see pages xx-xx for an update on our improvement plans.      

severe/majo
r harm (7 
incidents) 
0.0% 
extreme 
harm/death 
(2 incidents)  
 

 
Oct 16 – 
Mar 17: 
0.1% 
severe/majo
r harm (6 
incidents) 
0.1% 
extreme 
harm/death 
(10 
incidents) 

severe/majo
r harm (8 
incidents) 
0.1% - 
extreme 
harm/death 
(5 incidents 
) 

 
Oct 15 – 
March 16:  
0.1% 
severe/majo
r harm (10 
incidents) 
0.1% 
extreme 
harm/death 
(8 incidents) 

 

severe/maj
or harm (6 
incidents) 
0.3% 
extreme 
harm/deat
h (19 
incidents) 
 
Oct 14 – 
March 15:  
0.1% 
severe/maj
or harm  (9 
incidents) 
0.1% 
extreme 
harm/deat
h (8 
incidents) 
 

Inpatient 
Friends 
& Family 
Test 

97% 96% 

 
100% 

 
64% 

 
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• it is drawn from the nationally reported data 
• we have actively monitored our performance throughout the year.  
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so 
the quality of our services, by: 
• see pages xx-xx for an update on our improvement plans.        

97% 
 
(2016/17) 

96%  
 
(2015/16) 

95% 
 
(2014/15) 
 

A&E 
Friends 
& Family 
Test 

 

94% 86%  100% 

 
46% 

 
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• it is drawn from the nationally reported data 
• we have actively monitored our performance throughout the year.  
 
We have taken the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of our services, by: 
• see pages xx-xx for an update on our improvement plans.                                                                    

95%  
 
(2016/17) 

92%  
 
(2015/16) 

88% 
 
(2014/15) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 122



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 99 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 123



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 100 

 

Statements from 
stakeholders 
(to be inserted once received) 
 
  

Page 124



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 101 

Independent Auditor’s 
Assurance Report 
(to be inserted once received)

Page 125



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 102 

Appendix A: National Clinical Audit 
 
As described on page xx, the reports of twenty four national clinical audits and confidential 
enquires were fully reviewed by the provider in 2017/18. The majority of these have provided a 
satisfactory level of assurance, however the exceptions are listed below with the actions 
required to improve the quality of healthcare provided.  
 
National Audit of Dementia 
St Mary’s was ranked first place for aspects of care relating to nutrition, which is reflective of the 
considerable work put in by the dementia care team (NOSH project and other initiatives). There 
was a significant improvement in the standard of documentation relating to discharge since the 
2012/13 audit. The Trust also scored higher than the national average on initial screening, 
clinical assessment and the summary of symptoms for discharge summary. Recording the 
functional assessment of the patient was below the national average, and we have updated the 
delirium pathway as an action to improve this.  
 
The audit highlighted areas for improvement where we are already aware of the challenges, 
such as creating a dementia friendly environment and adequate social space in the very old 
estate at St Mary’s. The audit also identified inappropriate bed moves for patients with dementia, 
and this is another area for focus in over the coming year.as an issue that requires improvement.  
 
National Neonatal Audit Programme (NNAP) 
This audit monitors whether the care provided to babies and their families matches up to 
professionally agreed standards, and compares the results against all levels of neonatal units in 
England, Scotland and Wales. This audit provided substantial assurance against six of the audit 
findings, with reasonable assurance for two.  
 
Over the next year we need to improve the number of babies who have their temperature taken 
within one hour of admission to the neonatal unit. We have utilised posters to raise awareness 
and have taken additional actions to ensure transport incubators are warmed up in advance to 
prevent deterioration in body temperature. 
 
MBRRACE–UK Perinatal Confidential Enquiry 
This confidential enquiry focusses on intrapartum-related deaths, specifically those born at term, 
excluding major abnormality (but including those anomalies where the cause of death was felt to 
be related to the intrapartum period rather than the anomaly). The enquiry explored preventable 
failures along the whole care pathway, but with a particular focus on care during labour, delivery 
and any resuscitation which may have contributed to the death. 
   
Over the next year we are going to continue to train consultants to use Structured Judgement 
Review (SJR) forms, and plan for all healthcare professionals who are routinely present at births 
should undertake regular Newborn Life Support training. 
 
Serious Hazards of Transfusion (SHOT): UK National Haemovigilance Scheme 
This audit identified areas for improvement nationally with the transfusion process. We already 
have a checklist in place beside the patient to record the final administration check before 
transfusion is commenced. Over the next year we intend to develop a system to formally assess 
the risk of transfusion associated circulatory overload, as this is the major cause of death and 
morbidity.   
 
RCP/BTS Adult Asthma 
This audit assessed adult patients with acute asthma exacerbation who were admitted as in-
patients, and looked at patient demographics, assessment, management, discharge bundle, 
follow up arrangements and re-admission rates. This showed that the local patient cohort 
appears to have more severe or complex disease than the national average. Documentation of 
PEF post bronchodilation was poor at 84%. Although patients were seen by an asthma nurse on 

Page 126



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 103 

discharge, there was no specific discharge bundle in place. Follow up arrangements were not 
always conducted in a timely way which led to a slight increase in readmission rates. 
 
Since this audit, and over the next year, we have appointed an asthma lead clinician and 
implemented the discharge care bundle. We are continuing to recruit to nurse specialist roles 
and are integrating teams across both acute sites. We are improving training and education of 
nursing staff and junior doctors to improve standards of care, and are developing improved 
online training regarding inhaler and PEF technique. We have held a ‘Asthma Big Room’ quality 
improvement session since the audit, and these were some of the improvement ideas that were 
generated at this session.  
 
Elective Surgery National PROMs Programme 
Previous audits had shown that the Trust was a negative outlier for knee surgery, and this was 
not evident in the latest audit report. Our actions for the coming year include improving our 
response rates for post-operative questionnaires, tendering a new data collection service and 
using the information we receive from PROMs to shape improvements in care. The first project 
using this approach will be a review of post-operative analgesia regimes. 
 
Critical Care Case Mix Programme (ICNARC) 
The Critical Care Units are compliant with quarterly data submission, which is then used to 
inform the annual report. This year’s report showed some extremely positive progress, such as 
low rates of unit acquired blood stream infections, particularly those related to catheter use, and 
no non-clinical transfers. 
 
The areas for improvement over the next year are delayed discharges, particularly at the St 
Mary’s site. There is currently work being undertaken to reconfigure Level Two areas and open 
additional beds on the St Mary’s site. There are also actions in place to improve readmissions at 
Charing Cross, high risk sepsis referrals the Hammersmith, and outcomes for patients at low risk 
of death at St Mary’s.  
 
 
 
  

Page 127



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 104 

Appendix B: Local Clinical Audit 
 
Trustwide Priority Audits 
 
Over the year the trust has identified a number of areas for targeted audit work across the 
organisation. These have been selected as areas where improvement is needed, areas of risk or 
in order to support a strategic aim.  Audits conducted in these areas have been coordinated 
centrally and reported to the trust Quality and Safety Group for oversight and monitoring of 
actions and to provide assurance. Many of these audits are ongoing or form part of a wider 
improvement project and they will be taken forward with specific actions or a requirement for 
further or wider audit and QI involvement. These audits include: 
  

 Patient Falls 

 Medications and Medicines 

 Safer surgery and the WHO surgery checklist safety stream 

 Patient Consent 

 Duty of Candour 

 Nasogastric tubes and feeding: Adults; critical care patients 

 Pain: Assessment, recording and management 

 The deteriorating patient: (NEWS and MEWS scoring) 

 Hand hygiene 

 Completion of action plans following Serious Incidents 
 
 
Some of the actions taken following the completion of these audits include: 

 Changes to Trust policy following Duty of Candour audit. This will be re-audited in 
2018/19. 

 A safety stream with a Quality Improvement focus has been set up following the safer 
surgery audit. Regular audits run throughout the year, and there will be a repeat Trust-
wide WHO check list audit in Q2 2018/19.  

 NEWS and MEWS audit led to improvements in the calculation of early warning scores in 
the electronic patient record. There was also a focused piece of work within maternity 
services to improve the standards of documentation of observations.  

 Improvements were made to documentation and handover of NG tube placements in 
Critical Care following the audit. Naso-gastric tube placement will be audited across the 
Trust during 2108/19. 
 
 

Local Clinical Audits 
 
Over 2017/18 there were 365 local audits registered in the Trust. The findings and action plans 
from these audits are presented at Directorate or Divisional level with local oversight of the 
action plans. Some of these audits have wider implications for the organisation and are then 
presented at Quality and Safety sub-group meetings where learning is shared and directed 
towards improvement.  
 
A selection of these audits where specific learning or improvement has been identified includes: 
  
The colorectal surgery team audited practice within their team undertaking procedures in the 
out-patient department. From this, they were able to quantify the number of procedures being 
completed and the grade of doctor performing them. As a result, the team were able to 
implement improvements in coding to ensure accurate records were kept and that the correct 
tariff was being applied. 

Page 128



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 105 

Hammersmith General ICU reviewed the common practice of fasting patients prior to invasive 
procedures and were able to make improvements to safely reduce the length of time that ICU 
patients are kept nil by mouth. 
 
The diabetes team looked at the causes of the delays in discharge experienced by some of the 
patients on a diabetic foot pathway. This has led to redesign of some clinical pathways around 
larvae therapy, vacuum assisted closure of wounds and time to theatre. 
 
The trauma and orthopaedic team audited the time to first review and subsequent treatment for 
patients sustaining hand and wrist fractures. They identified unacceptable delays and have been 
able to reduce these by modifying patient pathways, improving communication and developing a 
new virtual fracture clinic. This has been successfully funded in the pilot stage by an NIHR-
CLAHRC grant application. 
 
The neurology team have audited the presentation and management of patients with 
papilloedema in the trust via a number of complex pathways. This is a complex referral system 
form a regional catchment area including emergency departments, GPs, ophthalmology units 
and opticians. They have been able to identify potential delays in the pathway and ways to 
streamline this. These are under discussion with stakeholders to agree a more efficient regional 
process. 
 
The neurosurgery team reviewed their practice and performance in the provison of driving 
advice to patients treated for non-traumatic sub arachnoid haemorrhage. They identified a 
number of areas for improvement and have undertaken a programme of education for their 
junior medical staff. 
 
The paediatric ophthalmology service audited their practice and performance to identify any 
serious complications of strabismus surgery. The audit identified no areas of concern. 
The maternity team audited the prevalence and outcomes of recorded major obstetric 
haemorrhage and the use of the trust protocol. Outcomes were generally good however they 
were able to identify areas for improvement in identification of risk factors, reporting, use of 
tranexamic acid and cell salvage. This is now a ‘rolling audit’ and will be revisited to confirm 
ongoing improvement. 
 
The trauma and orthopaedic surgery department conducted an audit of the use of aspirin for 
VTE prophylaxis in hip and knee arthoplasty. This identified that aspirin is safe and effective in 
selected patients. The department is reviewing the trust guidelines and agreement for future 
standards with the trust thrombosis committee. 
 
The anaesthetic team conducted an audit of the preoperative fasting of patients before elective 
surgery and advice given to patients. They found considerable variation in advice and practice 
and have revisited the guidance and initiated an education programme for staff. This is now an 
area of joint working between the anaesthetic team and the trust quality improvement team. 
 

Page 129



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 106 

Appendix C: Quarterly Learning From Deaths Dashboards 
 

P
age 130



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 107 

  

Glossary 
 
Academic Health Science Centre (AHSC) – a partnership between one or more universities 
and healthcare providers focusing on research, clinical services, education and training. AHSCs 
are intended to ensure that medical research breakthroughs lead to direct clinical benefits for 
patients. 
 
Accessible Information Standard (AIS) – launched in August 2016, the standard aims to make 
sure that people who have a disability, impairment or sensory loss are provided with information 
that they can easily read or understand and with support so they can communicate effectively 
with health and social care services. 
 
Anti-infectives – drugs that are capable of acting against infection. They include antibacterials, 
antifungals and antivirals. These agents are often referred to collectively as antibiotics. 
 
Avoidable infections – within the Trust we define ‘avoidable infections’ as: a case of MRSA BSI 
occurring 48 hours after admission; and a case of Clostridium difficile that is both PCR and toxin 
(EIA) positive occurring 72 hours after hospital admission when there is non-compliance with the 
antibiotic policy or the patient crossed pathways with a known case of the same ribotype (a 
method used to compare the genetic relatedness of different C. difficile strains). 
 
Big Room - A big room is a regular standardised meeting which provides time and space for a 
range of staff and patients to come together to discuss improvements to the quality of patient 
care. 
 
Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE) - gram-negative bacteria that are resistant 
to the carbapenem class of antibiotics. They are resistant because they produce an enzyme 
called a carbapenemase that disables the drug molecule 
 
Cardiac Arrest – also known as cardiopulmonary arrest or circulatory arrest, a cardiac arrest is 
a sudden stop in blood circulation due to the failure of the heart to contract effectively or at all. 
 
Cardiotocography - a technical means of recording the fetal heartbeat and the uterine 
contractions during pregnancy. The machine used to perform the monitoring is called a 
cardiotocograph, more commonly known as an electronic fetal monitor (EFM). 
 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) – the independent regulator of health and social care in 
England. It makes sure health and social care services provide people with safe, effective, 
caring, well-led and responsive care, and encourages care services to improve. 
 
Cerner - supplier of health information technology (HIT) solutions, services, devices and 
hardware 
 
Clinical Coding – the translation of medical terminology as written by the clinician to describe a 
patient's complaint, problem, diagnosis, treatment or reason for seeking medical attention, into a 
coded format which is nationally and internationally recognised. The use of codes ensures the 
information derived from them is standardised and comparable. 
 
Clinical Guidelines – these are recommendations of how healthcare professionals should care 
for people with specific conditions. They can cover any aspect of a condition and may include 
recommendations about providing information and advice, prevention, diagnosis, treatment and 
longer-term management. They aim to help health professionals and patients make the best 
decisions about treatment or care for a particular condition or situation.  

Page 131

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Heart


 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 108 

Clinical Nurse Specialist (CNS) – provide expert advice related to specific conditions or 

treatment pathways. They focus on improving patient care and developing services. 

Clostridium difficile – an anaerobic bacterium that can live in the gut of healthy people where it 
does not cause any problems, as it is kept in check by the normal bacterial population of the 
intestine. However, some antibiotics used to treat other illnesses can interfere with the balance 
of bacteria in the gut which may allow C. difficile to multiply and produce toxins that damage the 
gut.  Symptoms of C. difficile infection range from mild to severe diarrhoea and more unusually, 
severe inflammation of the bowel.  
 
Core Skills Training – nationally defined and mandated training programmes which all Trust 
staff must complete in accordance with the requirements of their roles. 
 
CQUIN - Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) is a payment framework that allows 
commissioners to agree payments based on agreed quality improvement and innovation work. 
 
Datix – patient safety and risk management software for healthcare incident reporting and 
adverse events. This is the system the Trust uses to report incidents, manage risk registers and 
as of 1st April 2016, to record mortality reviews.  
 
Departmental Safety Coordinator (DSC) – appointed by departmental managers to assist 
them in meeting their health, safety and wellbeing responsibilities. 
 
DNA (‘did not attend’) – when a patient misses a hospital appointment.  
 
Driver Diagrams – a visual model used in quality improvement (QI) methodology that identifies 
all the things that must in place to achieve an aim by breaking it down into small steps that can 
be directly influenced with change ideas and can be measured. 
 
Dr Foster – provider of healthcare variation analysis and clinical benchmarking. 
 
Duty of Candour – Secondary care providers registered with CQC in England are subject to a 
statutory duty of candour, introduced in November 2014. It is a statutory requirement to ensure 
that patients and their families are told about patient safety incidents that affect them, receive 
appropriate apologies, are kept informed of investigations and are supported throughout. 
 
Emergency readmissions – unplanned readmissions that occur within 28 days after discharge 
from hospital. They may not be linked to the original reason for admission.    
 
Five moments - The My 5 Moments for Hand Hygiene approach defines the key moments when health-

care workers should perform hand hygiene. 
 
Flow – the progressive movement of people, equipment and information through a sequence of 
processes. In healthcare, the term generally denotes the flow of patients between staff, 
departments and organisations along a pathway of care. 
 
Flow coaching - providing training to build team coaching skills and improvement science at 
care pathway level 
 
Friends and Family Test (FFT) – The NHS FFT was launched in 2013 to help service providers 
and commissioners understand whether their patients are happy with the service provided. It is a 
quick and anonymous way for patients to give their views after receiving care or treatment. 
 
General Medical Council (GMC) – The GMC regulates doctors in the United Kingdom. They 
set standards, hold a register, quality assure education and investigate complaints. 
 

Page 132



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 109 

Getting it Right First Time (GIRFT) – is a national programme designed to improve medical 
care within the NHS by reducing unwarranted variations.    
 
Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) - HES is a data warehouse containing details of all 
admissions, outpatient appointments and A&E attendances at NHS hospitals in England.  
This data is collected during a patient's time at hospital and is submitted to allow hospitals to be 
paid for the care they deliver.  
 
Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR) – an overall quality indicator that compares a 
hospital’s mortality rate with the average national experience, accounting for the types of 
patients cared for.  
 
Information Governance – ensures necessary safeguards for, and appropriate use of, patient 
and personal information. 
 
Integrated Care – NHS England has recently changed the name of accountable care systems 
to integrated care systems. Integrated care happens when NHS organisations work together to 
meet the needs of their local population. 
 
IR(ME)R – the Ionising Radiation (Medical Exposure) Regulations 2000 is legislation which 
provides a framework intended to protect patients from the hazards associated with ionising 
radiation.  
 
Local Faculty Group – a group in each department which meets regularly to take responsibility 
for the learning environment, and undergraduate and postgraduate training in that service.  
 
Luer lock - an industry standard tapered termination utilized by most syringe manufacturers 
including medical Hypodermic syringes. Luer Lock needles are common because their design is 
controlled by a series of universal standards which guarantees compatibility between 
manufacturers. 
 
Medical Appraisal - all doctors must undertake and record an annual medical appraisal in order 
to demonstrate that they comply with Good Medical Practice as required by the GMC. 
 
Medical Devices – any instrument, apparatus, material, software or healthcare product, 
excluding drugs, used for a patient or client for: 

 diagnosis, prevention, monitoring, treatment or alleviation of disease;  

 diagnosis, monitoring, treatment or alleviation, or compensation for, an injury or 

handicap; 

 investigation, replacement or modification of the anatomy or a physiological process; 

 control of conception 

Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) – a type of bacteria that's resistant to 

a number of widely used antibiotics. This means MRSA infections can be more difficult to treat 
than other bacterial infections.  Staphylococcus aureu is a common type of bacteria. It's often 
carried on the skin and inside the nostrils and throat. If the bacteria get into a break in the 
skin, they can cause life-threatening infections, such as blood poisoning or endocarditis. 
 
Model for improvement - a method for structuring an improvement project, guiding the 
development of an idea and testing it out using a simple framework.  The model consists of two 
parts: 1) Three questions help us define what we want to achieve (aim), what ideas we think 
might make a difference (change ideas), and how we’ll know if a change is an improvement 
(measures).  2) PDSA (Plan Do Study Act) cycles to implement and test change ideas. Multiple 
PDSA cycles allows the change to be refined and improved through repeated cycles of testing 
and learning as a vehicle for continuous improvement. 

Page 133

http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/Blood-poisoning/Pages/Introduction.aspx
http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/Endocarditis/Pages/Introduction.aspx


 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 110 

 
National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS) – the NRLS enables patient safety incident 
reports to be submitted to a national database on a voluntary basis and is designed to promote 
learning. Participation enables us to compare our incident reporting rates with our peers. 
 
Never events – serious, largely preventable patient safety incidents that should not occur if the 
available preventative measures have been implemented. 
 
NEWS – national early warning score is a score allocated to physiological measurements, 
already recorded in routine practice, when patients present to, or are being monitored in hospital 
 
Outpatient parenteral antimicrobial therapy (OPAT) - OPAT is the administration of 
intravenous antimicrobial therapy to patients in an outpatient setting or in their own home. 
 
Palliative Care – a multidisciplinary approach to specialised medical care for people with 
serious illnesses. It focuses on providing patients with relief from the symptoms, pain, physical 
stress, and mental stress of a serious illness, whatever the diagnosis. Palliative care is normally 
offered to terminally ill patients, regardless of their overall disease management style, if it seems 
likely to help manage symptoms such as pain and improve quality of life. 
 
Patient advice & liaison service (PALS) – PALS offers confidential advice, support and 
information on health-related matters. They provide a point of contact for patients, their families 
and their carers. 
 
Patient led assessments of the care environment (PLACE) – A national system for annually 
assessing the quality of the patient environment in hospitals, hospices and day treatment 
centres providing NHS funded care. The assessments see local people go into hospitals as part 
of teams to assess how the environment supports privacy and dignity, food, cleanliness and 
general building maintenance. It focuses entirely on the care environment and does not 
cover clinical care provision or how well staff are doing their job. Results are reported publicly to 
help drive improvements.  
 
Patient reported outcome measures (PROMs) – tools we use to measure the quality of the 
service we provide for specific surgical procedures. Patients complete two questionnaires at 
different time points, to see if the procedure has made a difference to their health. 
 
Patient safety incident – any unintended or unexpected incident which could have or did lead 
to harm for one or more patients receiving NHS care. Patient safety incidents are categorised by 
harm level, defined as follows by the NRLS: 

 Near miss –incident that had the potential to cause harm but was prevented, resulting in 

no harm.  

 No harm – incident that ran to completion but no harm occurred.  

 Low harm: incident that required extra observation or minor treatment and caused 

minimal harm. 

 Moderate harm: incident that resulted in a moderate increase in treatment and which 

caused significant but not permanent harm.  

 Severe harm:  incident that appears to have resulted in permanent harm. 

 Extreme harm/death:  incident that directly resulted in the death of one or more persons. 

Patient safety translational research centre (PSTRC) - The NIHR Imperial Patient Safety 
Translational Research Centre (PSTRC) is part of National Institute for Health Research (NIHR).  
It is a partnership between Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust and Imperial College London, 
with researchers from a specialised set of research groups working together to improve patient 
safety and the quality of healthcare services. 

Page 134



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 111 

 
Performance Development Review (PDR) – our annual performance review process for all 
staff, excluding doctors, which is aimed at driving a new performance culture across the Trust.   
 
Patient-Led Assessments of the Care Environment (PLACE) - system for assessing the 
quality of the patient environment. The assessments primarily apply to hospitals and hospices 
providing NHS-funded care in both the NHS and private/independent sectors but others are also 
encouraged and helped to participate in the programme. 
 
Pressure ulcer – a type of injury that affect areas of the skin and underlying tissue. They are 
caused when the affected area of skin is placed under too much pressure. They can range in 
severity from patches of discoloured skin to open wounds that expose the underlying bone or 
muscle. 
 
Quality Improvement (QI) – is a formal approach to the analysis of performance and systematic 
efforts to improve it. It is a method for developing, testing and implementing changes so that 
improvements can be made quickly.  
 
Referral to Treatment (RTT) – consultant-led Referral To Treatment (RTT) waiting times, which 
monitor the length of time from referral through to elective treatment. 
 
Responsible Officer - individuals within designated bodies who have overall responsibility for 
helping doctors with revalidation. 
 
Revalidation – the process by which all licensed doctors and nurses are required to 
demonstrate on a regular basis that they are up to date and fit to practise in their chosen field. 
 
Radio-frequency identification (RFID) – technology which uses radio waves to identify, 
authenticate, track and trace objects or devices. RFID has two main components: a tag and a 
reader 
 
Root Cause Analysis (RCA) – a systematic investigation that looks beyond the people 
concerned to try and understand the underlying causes and environmental context in which the 
incident happened. Serious incidents and never events undergo RCA as part of the 
investigation.  
 
Safe Effective Quality Occupational Health Services (SEQOHS) - set of standards and a 
voluntary accreditation scheme for occupational health services in the UK and beyond. 
SEQOHS accreditation is the formal recognition that an occupational health service provider has 
demonstrated that it has the competence to deliver against the measures in the SEQOHS 
standards. 
 
Safeguarding – protecting people's health, wellbeing and human rights, and enabling them to 
live free from harm, abuse and neglect. It is fundamental to high-quality health and social care. 

 

SBAR – an acronym for Situation, Background, Assessment, Recommendation; a technique that 

can be used to facilitate prompt and appropriate communication. 

 

Schwartz Rounds – meetings which provide an opportunity for staff from all disciplines across 

the organisation to reflect on the emotional aspects of their work. Research  shows the positive 

impact that they have on individuals, teams, patient outcomes and organisational culture. 

Page 135



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 112 

 
Secondary Users Service (SUS) – the single, comprehensive repository for healthcare data in 
England which enables a range of reporting and analyses to support the NHS in the delivery of 
healthcare services. 
 
Serious Incident (SI) – events in healthcare where the potential for learning is so great, or the 
consequences to patients, families and carers, staff or organisations are so significant, that they 
warrant using additional resources to mount a comprehensive response.  
 
Standardised hospital mortality indicator (SHMI) – a national way of measuring mortality. It 
includes deaths related to all admitted patients that occur in all settings – including those in 
hospitals and those that happen 30 days after discharge.  
 
Stakeholder – a person, group, organisation, member or system who affects or can be affected 
by an organisation's actions. 
 
Structured judgement review (SJR) - based upon the principle that trained clinicians use 
explicit statements to comment on the quality of healthcare in a way that allows a 
judgement to be made that is reproducible.  
 
Student Online Evaluation (SOLE) – online module evaluation which gives medical students 
the opportunity to feedback on their experience in a simple, secure and confidential way. 
 
Venous thromboembolism (VTE) – a blood clot within a blood vessel that blocks a vein or an 
artery, obstructing or stopping the flow of blood.  
 
Ward accreditation programme (WAP) – Reviews of patient areas during which patient care is 
observed, documentation reviewed, the environment assessed and discussion with patients, 
carers and staff members takes place.  
 
WHO checklist – The World Health Organization Surgical Safety Checklist ensures that surgical 
teams have completed the necessary listed tasks to ensure patient safety before, during and 
after surgery. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 136



 Quality account 2017/18   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust | 113 

Contact us and map of sites 
 

5 

Page 137



 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
HEALTH, INCLUSION AND SOCIAL CARE POLICY 

AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 
 

20 JUNE 2018 
 

 

 
OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY (2017-2022) 
 

 
Report of the Lead Director for Regeneration, Planning and Housing Services 
 

 
Open Report 
 

 
Classification - For Information 
 
Key Decision: No 
 

Consultation 
Adult Social Care  
Housing Property Services 
Housing Services 
Housing Solutions 
Housing, Growth and Strategy 
 

 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 
Accountable Director: Jo Rowlands – Lead Director for Regeneration, Planning 
and Housing Services 
 

Report Author:  
 
Labab Lubab 
Partnerships & Strategy Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
 
Tel: 020 753 4203 
E-mail: labab.lubab@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report summarises the Older People’s Housing Strategy 2017-2022 and 
 the approach the Council will employ to ensure the best housing outcomes for 
 older people living in the borough.  
 
1.2 In the strategy, the Council has set four key objectives to be delivered: 

Page 138

Agenda Item 8

mailto:labab.lubab@lbhf.gov.uk


 

 

 
1. Maximise the use of existing stock to appropriately accommodate older 

people in Hammersmith & Fulham 

2. Increase older people’s awareness of their housing options to best meet 

their needs 

3. Facilitate the development of more homes that meet the needs of older 

people 

4. Support older people to maintain their independence  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. To note the vision of the Older People’s Housing Strategy and the action 

plans for achieving each objective as outlined in section 3 of the report and 
Appendix 2. 
 

3. VISION AND OBJECTIVES 
 

3.1 The Older People’s Housing Strategy has been jointly commissioned by the 
 Council’s housing services and adult social care service. It outlines the key 
 issues and challenges for  older people’s housing in the borough and 
 identifies priorities for joint and co-ordinated action. 
 
3.2 The strategy flows from the Council’s 2015 Housing Strategy ‘Delivering the 
 Change we Need in Housing’ which sets out the Council’s intention to 
 increase the provision of genuinely affordable homes in the borough to meet 
the  needs of resident and improving the private rented sector. 
 
3.3 Hammersmith and Fulham’s vision is to enable older people in the borough to 
 live independently and have opportunities to access suitable accommodation 
 that meets their need. 
 
3.4 We have set four key objectives to be delivered with accompanying action 
 plans outlined in Appendix 2. 
 
3.5 The objectives are: 

 Objective 1 – Maximise the use of existing stock to appropriately 
 accommodate older people 

 
3.6 There’s strong evidence that poor quality or inappropriate housing can trigger 
 health and social care needs, worsen existing needs and lead to early loss of 
 independence and more intensive interventions. Therefore, the Council must 
 make better use its own housing stock and that of local housing associations.  
 
3.7 To measure the impact, the Council will monitor the number of older people 

supported to move to appropriate accessible accommodation, the number  of 
older people supported to move to smaller accommodation, the number of 
homes ‘future proofed’ for older people’s needs, and a reduction of fuel 
poverty amongst older people. 

Page 139



 

 

 Objective 2 – Increase older people’s awareness of their housing 
 options to enable them to make the best accommodation choices. 

 
3.8 Many older people prefer to remain in their own home and receive the 
 support they require. Although there a significant number would consider a 
 planned move and research shows older people who have moved report high 
 levels of satisfaction. There are however two key barriers that prevent older 
 people from moving; 
 

 lack of information about housing options 

 lack of suitable options 
 

3.9 In this strategy, the Council has undertaken to publicise the housing options 
 available to older people and will set measures that include monitoring the 
 number of people provided with housing options advice, number of integrated 
 assessment completed (Housing and Adult Social Care) and the number of 
 older people who respond to publicity drives. 

 Objective 3 – Facilitate the development of more homes that meet the 
 needs of older people 

 
3.10 The current offer of older people’s housing is limited. The Council is aware 
 that existing specialist accommodation reports high level of satisfaction from 
 residents and forms an important part of the older people’s offer. The Council 
 will therefore take a leadership role at a local level in identifying how best to 
 meet changing demand and need and shape the conversation with 
 developers, the GLA and DCLG. 
 
3.12 Already in the pipeline are 80 new units of extra care homes in White City. 
 Housing, Growth and Strategy division review and comment on the Council’s 
 Local Plan and are in regular meetings with GLA to review the development 
 pipeline and discuss emerging upcoming schemes. 
 
3.13 Officers will continue to monitor the affordable housing supply and report on 
 progress on the number of homes secured through the different supply routes. 

 Objective 4 – Support older people to maintain their independence 

 
3.15 In the 2015 Housing Strategy ‘Delivering the Change We Need in Housing’ 
 The Council has outlined its commitment to reinvigorating partnerships with 
 housing associations. The Council will work with Housing Associations to 
 identify integrated approaches to prevention of loneliness and isolation and 
 promote housing options and services of interest to older people 
 
3.14 The council will develop partnership approach to maintaining older people’s 

independence through joint working with local housing associations. Provide 
information and training on signposting older people to the appropriate 
services, monitor the numbers of older people signposted to services and 
number of older people who report feeling isolated 

Page 140



 

 

4. CONSULTATION 

 
4.1 The Older People’s Housing Strategy has been jointly commissioned by the 
 Council’s housing services and adult social care service. It outlines the key 
 issues and challenges for  older people’s housing in the borough and 
 identifies priorities for joint and co-ordinated action. 
 
4.2 Consultation has been undertaken with Adult Social Care as well as Housing 
 Services, Housing Options, Housing Property Services and Housing, Growth 
 and Strategy divisions. 
 
5. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
3.1. This is not applicable but the Council will monitor the impact of the strategy in 

respect of equality implications and produce an Equality Impact Assessment 
where required. 
 

4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1. At this stage, there are no direct legal implications. 
 

4.2. Legal implications given by David Walker - Principal Solicitor (020 7361 2211) 
 
5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1. There are no immediate financial implications as a result of this report. 

Decisions taken as part of the implementation of this strategy are likely to 
have some financial implications and these will be considered as each 
decision comes forward for approval. 
 

5.2. Financial implications given Firas Al-Sheikh – Acting Head of Financial 
Investment Strategy (ext.: 4790) 

 
6. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

 
6.1. There are no implications for business.  

 
6.2. Business implications completed by Prema Gurunathan – Strategic Business 

Growth Manager. 
 
7. COMMERCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1 Not Applicable 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1 – Older People’s Housing Strategy (2017-2022) 
Appendix 2 – Older People’s Housing Strategy Action Plans 

Page 141



©
 B

y:
de

si
gn

. 0
20

 8
75

3 
17

64
 –

 2
01

7.
 2

57
.2

2.

Older people’s  
housing strategy 
2017-2022

Page 142



2 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

Page 143



 3 

Contents

Foreword 4

1. Summary 5

2. Introduction 6

3. Vision and objectives 7

4. Context 8

5. Examples of interventions in older people’s Housing 9

6. Objective 1 – Maximise the use of existing stock to appropriately 
accommodate older people in Hammersmith & Fulham

10

7. Objective 2 – Increase older people’s awareness of their housing 
options to enable them to make the best accommodation choices.

13

8. Objective 3 – Facilitate the development of more homes that meet 
the needs of older people

15

9. Objective 4 – Support older people to maintain their independence 17

10.  Monitoring and Reporting 19

Appendices

1. Appendix 1 22

2. Appendix A – Additional Tables 37

3. Appendix B – Additional Maps 38

4. Appendix 2: Examples of Approaches to Older People’s Housing 44

Page 144



4 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

Foreword
We, at Hammersmith and Fulham, are committed to working with residents on the 
things that affect them.

The Older People’s Housing Strategy looks at providing comprehensive housing 
services through great partnerships; working in a joined-up way between housing, 
adult social care and the third sector to increase and improve options for our senior 
citizens. 

It is also holistic; the strategy is H&F’s plan to better understand the housing 
options older people need and want, maximise the use of existing housing stock, 
increase housing options, build up support services around prevention, support 
independence, and work with residents and services to combat social isolation and 
loneliness.

By 2030, one third of the UK population will be over 60. Right now, more than half 
the older people in H&F live in social or private rented housing, a higher proportion 
than elsewhere in London. For half of our senior residents, day-to-day activities 
are restricted, either a lot or a little. As such, we really need to understand older 
people’s individual composite needs and ensure these are reflected in the housing 
options available. 

We want to make sure that the right options are available at the right time, and we 
will ensure that good advice on housing options and available packages, as well as 
support in the home, are given early.

The Older People’s Housing Strategy builds on the great work we are already 
doing in terms of accommodation services (sheltered housing, extra care housing, 
residential care, nursing care), preventative services and advice services. 

We have not stopped there. We know our senior residents have an important 
role to play in shaping the future of our borough. So we have recently created the 
community-led Older People’s Commission. 

The commission will work to improve quality of life for older people in the borough 
and make it the best borough in which to enjoy and make the most of later years. 
The commission has provided feedback on the Older People’s Housing Strategy and 
will help us see through the implementation of our commitments and actions.

Councillor Lisa Homan Councillor Ben Coleman

Page 145



 5 

1. Summary 

This strategy addresses how the London Borough of 
Hammersmith & Fulham (H&F) will work to ensure the 
best housing outcomes for older people living in the 
borough, and will play an important part in reducing 
the demand on health and social care resources.

The strategy also recognises the importance of 
internal and external partnerships and their  critical 
importance to delivering the best outcomes for older 
people. Therefore, this strategy is underpinned by a 
commitment to joint working.

H&F’s vision is to enable older residents to live 
independently and have opportunities to access 
suitable accommodation that meets their needs.

The strategy contains  
four key objectives:
1 Maximise the use of existing stock to 

appropriately accommodate older people 
in LBHF

2 Increase older people’s awareness of their 
housing options

3 Facilitate the development of more homes 
that meet the needs of older people

4 Support older people to maintain their 
independence  

Key actions that arise from the four objectives, 
which will continue over the life of the strategy:

• Where necessary, we will support older people to 
move to appropriate accessible accommodation

• Where appropriate, we will support older people to 
downsize to appropriate accommodation

• We will continue to improve our homes, to future-
proof them for older people’s needs

• We will work to reduce and tackle the issues arising 
from fuel poverty among older residents

• We will work to provide comprehensive housing 
options advice to older people through housing 
and adult social care services

• We will continue to develop integrated assessment 
arrangements in co-operation with health and 
social care colleagues  

• We will continue to engage directly with older 
residents to ensure that they are aware of this 
strategy, their rights and their housing options

• We will continue to review and, where necessary, 
amend the local plan

• We will continue to press for Greater London 
Authority funding to facilitate the delivery of 
specialist housing in the borough

• We will deliver 60 extra care homes

• We will continue to develop a partnership 
approach aimed at maintaining older people’s 
independence. Our partners will include older 
residents, local housing associations, health and 
social care providers and appropriate third sector 
organisations

• We will develop and maintain an information 
package for older people, their families and carers 
with details of access to local ‘homeshare’ schemes

• We will develop and monitor the quality and 
availability of signposting information available to 
older people

• This strategy and its associated work programme 
will address the issues of loneliness and isolation 
and will form a part of a co-operative effort with 
health and social care colleagues to tackle these 
problems

The strategy and its objectives have been reviewed 
and endorsed by the Older People’s Commission.

Page 146



6 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

2. Introduction
This strategy has been jointly commissioned by 
the council’s housing services and adult social care 
service. The aim is to set out the council’s approach 
to meeting housing needs of older people in 
Hammersmith & Fulham. The term ‘older people’ 
refers to those over 65, however this is a broad term, 
and within it individuals’ housing support needs will 
differ greatly.  

It outlines the key issues and challenges for older 
people’s housing in the borough and identifies 
priorities for joint and co-ordinated action.  This 
strategy has been developed in consultation with 
internal and external stakeholders working with 
older people in H&F, as well as the Older People’s 
Commission; an independent community-led body 
made up of residents, volunteers, charities and 
healthcare experts. 

We spoke to local organisations and older people’s 
forums and considered national and local research to 
understand the challenges that older people face in 
securing good housing and remaining at home.

In a climate of significant financial pressure, increasing 
demand and changing needs, the emphasis of the 
strategy is on targeting resources effectively and 
working with partner agencies to develop initiatives 
and housing options to support independence and 
reduce demand for more intensive support. While 
the council has good working relationships with key 
partners such as health and third sector, this strategy 
recognises we must work more closely with others 

to enable us to meet the challenges of providing 
appropriate housing solutions for older people in our 
borough and anticipating their future needs.

We’ll use the objectives and actions from this strategy 
to review how we work with others to fully support 
effective delivery. The Older People’s Housing Strategy 
flows from, and links to:

1 The council’s Housing Strategy 2015 – a 
document which sets out the council’s intention 
to increase the amount of genuinely affordable 
housing being delivered, improve the private rented 
sector and consider options for the future of the 
council’s housing stock via a residents’ commission. 

2 The council’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(2013-14) and Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(2013-15) includes the priority: ‘Better access for 
vulnerable people to sheltered housing’. 

3 The Draft Local Plan Boroughwide Policy 
addresses the needs of people who need care and 
support. 

4 The Poverty and Worklessness Commission was 
launched to identify and tackle long-term causes 
of poverty and worklessness. It has identified the 
priority of ‘improving well-being of vulnerable older 
people in the borough’.

The Older People’s Housing Strategy also links to 
H&F’s development of an adult social care prevention 
strategy, isolation work programme and the council’s 
smarter budgeting exercise.

Page 147



 7 

3. Vision and Objectives 
Hammersmith & Fulham’s vision is to enable 
older people in Hammersmith & Fulham to live 
independently and have opportunities to access 
suitable accommodation that meets their need. 
However, the council, along with other public sector 
organisations, is facing significant financial challenges 
and must find a way to deliver services in a more 
effective way, focusing on people and places. 

To ensure that this strategy supports the council’s 
delivery of effective people-centred services, it is 
underpinned by three key principles:

1 Early intervention and prevention – we want to 
shape council services to better identify and work 
with those at risk of deterioration and to target 
services to tackle issues at an early stage. 

2 Partnership working – Good housing options and 
safe, secure, and affordable housing is essential in 
delivering better outcomes for older people. Older 
people’s housing needs cannot be viewed from a 
housing perspective alone. We will work with adult 
social care and health and third sector partners.   

3 Customer-focused approach – through better 
partnership working and early intervention we 
want to make every contact count, so people aren’t 
faced with a maze of departments and agencies.

Page 148



8 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

4. Context
The UK has an ageing population. By 2030, it’s 
estimated that one third of the population will be 
over 60. Although health incomes are improving for 
older people, it is still anticipated that as people live 
longer, they will develop long-term conditions and 
disabilities, particularly dementia but also conditions 
that affect mobility. Overall it’s expected the number 
of people with disability, dependency and care needs 
will increase significantly over the next 20 years.

As people live longer and health needs change, the 
specialist housing currently on offer may not be right 
for the future. National policy is underpinned by the 
principle of keeping older people at home if possible, 
improving the specialist offer, making the most of 
assistive technology and recognising that improving 
housing alone will not meet health and well-being 
aspirations. Housing improvements should be made 
in conjunction with good care and support services. 

Population data shows that H&F has a relatively young 
population with a higher working age population 
than other London boroughs. However, the largest 
predicted population growth over the next 10 years in 
the borough is expected in the 85+ age group, with 
the number aged 65-85 also expected to grow by a 
fifth (GLA population projections 2014).

Page 149



 9 

5. Examples of interventions in older people’s Housing
Nationally shifting demographics remain a key 
concern for policy makers, and a range of innovative 
interventions are being trialled to address the range of 
concerns that stem from an ageing population. These 
programmes include:

• Focusing on how partnership can deliver more 
effective outcomes

• The use of learning from other countries

• Understanding how technology can support 
desired outcomes

• Finding solutions with multiple beneficiary groups.

We have considered four approaches that have been 
trialled in the UK, and how Hammersmith & Fulham 
can learn from these experiences. Full information on 
each scheme is provided at Appendix 3.

Freespace: The London borough of Redbridge 
piloted a scheme offering older owner occupiers the 
opportunity to lease their home to the council and 
move to more appropriate accommodation. The 
council refurbishes the family-sized property, securing 
an interest-free loan on the property, then uses the 
home to provide temporary accommodation. The 
older person maintains ownership of the home, and 
is supported throughout their move, while the council 
secures accommodation for a homeless family.

Co-housing: The Older Women’s Co-Housing Group 
(OWCH) launched a co-housing scheme in Barnet 
in 2015 – the first of its kind in the UK. Under the 
scheme, housing is grouped, set up and run by 
residents, each of whom is a member of the owning 
company. Each pledges to a shared set of values 
and shares a common area (in addition to their 
own accommodation and personal space). A 
housing association partner is co-opted on 
to the elected management committee and 
functions as a landlord for the social rented 
flats in the scheme.

Flat refurbishment: Manchester City Council and 
Northwards Housing (the council’s arms-length 
management organisation) refurbished a derelict 91-
flat towerblock into a modern extra-care scheme. The 
refurbishment was funded by a mix of government 
grant, funds from Northwards and savings generated 
by the council in other areas. Flats are allocated 
according to need and Northwards is paid to manage 
the scheme on behalf of the council. A private sector 
company provides specialist care services, with 
residents only paying for what they use.

Elderly care and technology: The housing 
association One Housing Group invested heavily 
in redesigning its housing for older people with 
technology included as a fundamental component 
rather than an afterthought. State-of-the-art 
technology within its extra care schemes, sheltered 
housing and specialist retirement schemes (such 
as alarms, pill dispensers and helplines) have been 
supplemented by monitoring technology for scheme 
managers.

Page 150



10 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

6. Objective 1 – Maximise the use of existing stock 
to appropriately accommodate older people in 
Hammersmith & Fulham

Background
One of the council’s best resources is its own housing, 
and that of local housing associations, but it doesn’t 
lend itself to the needs of those with physical 
disabilities. In the 2015 Housing Strategy we said we 
must be more innovative and proactive in identifying 
housing options from existing social housing. Given 
the scarcity of accessible stock we must make sure 
it’s matched appropriately to support good housing 
outcomes and minimise waste.

There’s strong evidence that poor quality or 
inappropriate housing can trigger health and 
social care needs, worsen existing needs and lead 
to early loss of independence and more intensive 
interventions.

 Issues that may impact on the appropriateness of an 
older person’s home include:

• Size: Surveys show older people prefer to live in 
two-bedroom, rather than one-bedroom, flats. 
However, in the borough 6.9% have one or more 
spare rooms. Larger homes are more expensive to 
maintain, and heat, and are more likely to contain 
stairs, reducing accessibility. 

• Accessibility: Just over 51% of older people in the 
borough stated that their day-to-day activities were 
limited (either a lot or a little). Homes that do not 
have level access, or have internal staircases, can 
increase the risks of falls.

• Location: To support older people to maintain 
their independence and prevent social isolation, 
homes should be located near amenities, and 
within existing community support networks.

Some existing stock in the borough is already suitable 
for those with support needs, whether through 
original design or subsequent adaptation. We are also 
able to adapt some of our existing stock. 

Local context
19% of older people in the borough live in council 
‘general needs’ accommodation. The council has 
around 11,300 general needs homes. Three quarters 
are flats, half have no ground-floor entrance and 
some lack lifts, making them less suitable for older 
people with mobility needs.  

Hammersmith & Fulham mirrors national trends of 
increasing proportions of the older population living 
with chronic and disabling conditions. The number 
of people living with dementia is expected to rise 
by 24% by 2025, while current levels of dementia 
diagnosis (48%) exceed the national level (42%). 
Just over 51% of older people in the borough stated 
that their day-to-day activities were limited to some 
extent. This reflects levels across London and England. 
Poor health impacts on the type of housing that is 
suitable for older people, while poor housing can be a 
contributing factor in negative health outcomes.

Levels of under-occupation in H&F are lower than 
Londonwide (half compared to three quarters), which 
may reflect the high level of social housing stock 
(home to over 45% of the older population). However 
just over 50% of the population have one or more 
spare rooms, though many social housing tenants 
report that having an additional room is essential for 
visitors, so do not see themselves as underoccupiers. 
Just under 23% of H&F tenants over 65 have three 
bedrooms compared to 18% for private renters or 
those living rent-free.

Page 151



 11 

Our commitment
We will… Which will mean…

Work with Housing Association partners to review and 
improve our systems for allocating and matching all 
accessible and adapted stock.

Older people seeking to move will be matched to 
housing that better meets their needs.

Develop a protocol for future planned works 
programmes to consider options for upgrading existing 
stock in line with Equality Act best practice and to future-
proof for the benefit of older people.

Our stock is more suitable for the needs of older people, 
and as people age they can remain in their homes for 
longer.

Review and improve the current disabled facilities grant 
and aids and adaptations services.

The process of adapting existing accommodation in line 
with older people’s needs is customer-focused, enabling 
older people to stay in their home where appropriate.

Work with health and social care to review assistive 
technology opportunities.

Older people will be provided with appropriate 
technology to support them.

Pilot an improved downsizer offer to social renting 
tenants allowing downsizers one bedroom above 
allocation and putting together an enhanced package to 
remove barriers to downsizing.

Older people living in social rent who wish to move will 
be enabled to do so.

Pilot a mutually beneficial package for older H&F 
leaseholders to move to social rented homes, building on 
the Freespace model.

Older owner occupiers who wish to move will be helped 
to do so.

Review and improve the approach to tackle fuel poverty 
and cold homes with health and adult social care.

That the number of older people suffering from fuel 
poverty will be reduced. 

Our Action Plan
Action Responsibility By when

Identify the council’s accessible housing stock and 
update the accessible housing register.

Housing Services Started September 2017

Review scheme of allocations to include accessible 
housing stock. This work will include linking with 
housing association partners.

Housing Solutions  
& Housing Services

Completed 

Develop future-proofing protocol for planned works 
programmes.

Property Services  Completed

Review the current disabled facilities grant and aids and 
adaptations services.

Adult Social Care  
& Property Services

 March 2018

Implement recommendations from disabled facilities 
grant review.

Adult Social Care  
& Property Services

 June 2018

Review assistive technology opportunities. Adult Social Care  
& Housing Services

 Summer 2018

Page 152



12 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

Our Action Plan
Action Responsibility By when

Develop business case and gain approval for social rent 
downsizer offer pilot.

Housing Service  
(w/ Housing Solutions)

 Completed

Implement social rent downsizer offer pilot. Housing Service  
(w/ Housing Solutions)

 Completed

Review outcomes of social rent downsizer offer pilot. Housing Service  
(w/ Housing Solutions)

 Completed

Develop business case and gain approval for leaseholder 
downsizer offer pilot. 

Housing Service  
(w/ Adult Social Care)

 April 2018

If feasible, implement leaseholder downsizer offer pilot. Housing Service  
(w/ Adult Social Care)

 TBC

Review outcomes of leaseholder downsizer offer pilot. Housing Service  
(w/ Adult Social Care)

 TBC

Review approach to tackle fuel poverty and cold homes. Property Services  
& Environment Health

 April 2018

Implement outcomes of fuel poverty/cold homes review. Property Services  
& Environment Health

 April 2018

Measures:
• Number of older people supported to move to appropriate accessible accommodation

• Number of older people supported to move to smaller accommodation

• Number of homes improved so they are future-proofed for older people’s needs

• % reduction of fuel poverty among older people

 

Page 153



 13 

7. Objective 2 – Increase older people’s awareness of their 
housing options to enable them to make the  
best accommodation choices.

Background
While many older people prefer to remain in their own 
home, a significant number would consider a move. 
Research shows older people who have moved report 
high levels of satisfaction. Existing national evidence 
supports the consensus that most older people prefer 
to remain and, where necessary, receive support in 
their own homes. However, many older people will 
consider a planned move. Key barriers that prevent 
older people from moving have been identified as:

1 Lack of suitable options

2 Lack of information about housing options

There are several factors that have been identified as 
restricting the suitability of older people’s downsizing 
options. For some older people tenure can be a 
barrier, while the size of accommodation may also be 
a concern. Location of housing and cost of moving are 
also key considerations.

Overcoming barriers to moving home is important as 
research by Henley Business School1  found that many 
over 75s who had moved home said they should have 
done it sooner when they were younger and more 
able. Once they’d moved, older people expressed 
satisfaction with their homes. However, for many 
older people moving home is often triggered by a 
crisis such as loss of income, bereavement or health 
problems which may prompt them to consider a 
smaller home or specialist accommodation. 

Local context
According to the 2015 Index of Multiple Deprivation, 
more than 37% of the older population in 
Hammersmith & Fulham live in the top 30% of most 
deprived areas nationally, with over a fifth in the top 
20%. Almost 32% of over 65s in the borough receive 
pension credit. This is high compared to London as a 
whole (25%) and England (19%). The relative poverty 
of older people in the borough limits the type of 
housing they can afford as well as making cost a more 
critical barrier to any downsizing activity. 

1  http://centaur.reading.ac.uk/24443/1/HousingMarketsinOldAge.pdf

In H&F, older people can be supported in housing 
choices via good advice and information and the 
development of a good housing offer based on local 
need and preferences.

Page 154



14 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

Our commitment
We will… Which will mean…

In partnership with health and adult social care, pilot 
a new approach to housing options advice for older 
people, integrated with People First.

More older people will be advised of the options they 
have available to them, and understand a clearly 
articulated offer.

Agree mechanisms between health, adult social care and 
housing to deliver integrated assessment to minimise 
duplication of effort.

Older people will not have to work with multiple 
departments, and will receive a more joined-up service.

Publicise the available housing offer for older people, 
including pilot schemes, particularly targeting hard-to-
reach groups.

Older people will be made aware of the advice and 
support available, to better inform their options.

Our Action Plan
Action Responsibility By when

Develop new approach to housing options advice, linked 
with People First information offer.

Housing Solutions  
w/ Adult Social Care  
& Housing Services

April 2018

Pilot new approach to housing options advice, linked 
with People First information offer.

Housing Solutions  
w/ Adult Social Care  
& Housing Services

July 2018

Report outcomes of housing options advice pilot. Housing Solutions  
w/ Adult Social Care  
& Housing Services

September 2018

Develop linked assessment mechanism with health, adult 
social care and housing where need is identified.

Housing Solutions  
& Adult Social Care

April 2018

Develop new marketing materials regarding the housing 
offer for older people.

Housing Solutions  
w/ Housing Services (Sheltered)

April 2018

Distribute marketing information on housing offer for 
older people.

Housing Solutions  
w/ Housing Services (Sheltered)

June 2018

Measures
• Number of older people provided housing options advice

• Number of integrated assessment completed

• Number of older people who have responded to our proactive publicising of housing options

Page 155



 15 

8. Objective 3 – Facilitate the development of more homes 
that meet the needs of older people

Background
The current offer of older people’s housing is limited 
with no private sale or rent specialist or downsizer 
accommodation. Existing specialist accommodation 
reports high satisfaction from residents and forms 
an important part of the older people’s offer. We will 
take a leadership role at a local level in identifying 
how best to meet changing demand and need, and 
shape the conversation with developers. 

Local context
Of over 65s in H&F, 53% rent, while 95% live in 
general needs accommodation. This is in line with 
older people’s preference to remain in their own 
home rather than move to specialist accommodation, 
and is also indicative of the limited supply of specialist 
accommodation in the borough. In new housing 
developments, H&F is addressing the issue of 
accessibility through a Local Plan target of 100% of 
new developments to lifetime home standards.

Page 156



16 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

Our commitment
We will… Which will mean…

Deliver 60 units of extra care in White City (including 15 
shared ownership).

60 older people will be able to have their needs met in 
tenancies appropriate to their financial position.

Review Local Plan content and consider whether 
amendment is required.

That new homes developed in the borough meet the 
needs of older people.

Set up a working group with housing associations to 
explore future housing options for older people.

That we are able to identify and remove obstacles to 
developing appropriate accommodation for older people.

Link with GLA on specialist housing fund. More funding in the borough for the delivery of specialist 
housing appropriate to the needs of older people.

Our Action Plan
Action Responsibility By when

Deliver 60 units of extra care in White City (including 15 
shared ownership).

Housing Strategy  
& Adult Social Care 2019/2020

Review Local Plan content and recommend changes. Housing Strategy  
(w/ Adult Social Care) On-going

Set up a working group with housing associations to 
explore future housing options for older people. Housing Strategy April 2018

Begin conversations with GLA on specialist housing fund. Housing Strategy On-going

Measures
• Provide updates to the Local Plan as necessary.

• Level of funding leveraged to deliver specialist housing in the borough.

• Deliver 60 new extra care homes in the borough.

Page 157



 17 

9. Objective 4 – Support older people to maintain  
their independence

Background
As identified across several council strategies, there 
are many opportunities to support older people to 
maintain their independence. The tools to support 
a preventative approach include making changes 
to a property to meet physical needs through aids 
and adaptations and disabled facilities grants, 
making better use of assistive technology, ensuring 
new homes are built to lifetime home standards 
and meeting the target for wheelchair accessibility. 
Floating support services will help maintain 
independence. 

Local context
The Housing and Care Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment found that residents in touch with one 
service often benefit from others, but may not find 
their way to that service easily. 

Pressure on resources and numbers of residents 
needing support means councils must get the 
most from each contact. All contracted services 
and providers must actively promote and facilitate 
engagement with health and well-being and focus 
on self-reliance, self-care or appropriate access to the 
right service at the right time. We must also ensure 
our approach and plans are sensitive to differing 
needs from a cultural perspective. 

45% of older people in H&F live alone; one of the 
highest levels in the country. Older people living 
alone are more likely to live in the rented sector. 
Loneliness can impact health and psychological well-
being which may lead to higher care costs. The high 
proportion of older people living alone, combined 
with the challenging nature of H&F housing stock, 
increases the risk of isolation and loneliness among 
the borough’s senior population.

22% of older people in H&F are from non-white 
ethnic backgrounds. This is significantly higher than 
for England as a whole, but in line with the ethnic 
profile of the over 65s in London. Black and Minority 
Ethnic groups (BME) are diverse. In H&F 12% of the 
population identify as Black/African/Caribbean/Black 
British and 6% as Asian/Asian British. The significance 
of more than a fifth of the borough’s older people 
being from BME groups is that some are at higher 
risk of certain health conditions than white groups, 
and are more likely to report poor health.2 Language 
may be a barrier for minority ethnic communities, 
with 2016 research showing that language was 
shown to play a more important role than ethnicity 
in perceptions of the quality of care older people 
received.3

2 http://www.ageuk.org.uk/documents/en-gb/for-professionals/research/
information%20and%20advice%20needs%20of%20bme%20older%20
people%20(2008)_pro.pdf?dtrk=true

3 “You don’t know what you are saying ‘Yes’ and what you are saying ‘No’ to”: 
hospital experiences of older people from minority ethnic communities;  
by Jo Ellins, Jon Glasby: Cambridge University Press, January 2016, pp 42-83. 
Ageing and Society, vol 36, no 1, January 2016, pp 42-83.

Page 158



18 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

Our commitment
We will… Which will mean…

Build partnerships with housing associations to identify 
potential savings through a more integrated approach to 
prevention of loneliness and isolation.

Hammersmith & Fulham’s resources will go further in 
supporting older people.

Raise awareness of homeshare initiatives locally. Older people are aware of the options they have to 
participate in the homeshare scheme, which has been 
shown to reduce social isolation and loneliness among 
participants.

Raise awareness of the work of the Older People’s 
Commission.

More older people are encouraged to feed in to the work 
of the commission.

Actively engage housing providers in the borough such 
as housing associations and private housing providers.

Work with providers to raise the standard of housing 
standards and living conditions for older residents in the 
borough.

Our Action Plan
Action Responsibility By when

Identify key contacts at housing associations for 
outreach, sustainment and prevention work, and invite 
to partnership discussions.

Housing Solutions / Floating 
support (w Housing Strategy)

Completed 
November 2017

Develop a joint approach with housing associations for 
outreach, sustainment and prevention.

Housing Solutions April 2018

Develop information package and marketing material 
and including local homeshare schemes.

Housing Solutions, Housing 
Services and  Adult Social Care

September 2018

Set up regular monitoring meetings with housing 
associations to discuss housing management issues and 
particularly in relation to older people.

Housing services  
(w Housing Strategy

April 2018

Measures
• Development of a partnership approach to maintaining older people’s independence through joint 

working with local housing associations

• Development of new resources, and brief staff on signposting older people to local homeshare schemes

• Number of older people signposted to services

• Number of older people who report feeling isolated

Page 159



 19 

10.  Monitoring and Reporting
Monitoring the implementation of this strategy is key 
to ensuring that H&F fulfils its objectives. The housing 
service division, in partnership with adult social care, 
will develop and agree annual targets for each of the 
measures identified in this strategy. 

A performance management dashboard will be 
developed by the departmental heads of services, to 
collate data from the relevant services responsible for 
implementation and delivery of the strategy. 

This information will form the basis of regular 
quarterly update reports submitted to the Lead 
Director for Regeneration, Planning and Housing 
Services, the directors of adult social care and the 
Older People’s Commission.

Page 160



Page 161



Appendices

Page 162



22 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

1. Appendix 1 

Older People in Hammersmith 
& Fulham – Evidence Base

Key findings
• The borough has one of the lowest proportions of 

population that is aged 65 or over.

• 22% of older people are from non-white ethnic 
backgrounds.

• The proportion of older people that provide 
unpaid, informal care is low.

• 17.1% of older people in the borough remain 
economically active (that is employed, or 
unemployed but looking for work).

• 49% of older people that live alone, and almost 
16% of all families that consist of people that are 
all over 65 have just one bedroom. These are both 
high compared to London and England.

• 93.1% of older people living in the borough either 
have the required number of bedrooms in their 
accommodation or have more than required.

• According to the 2015 Index of Multiple 
Deprivation over 37% of the older population live 
in the top 30% of most deprived areas (nationally), 
with over a fifth in the top 20%.

• Almost 68% of the older population of the 
borough live in areas which are in the top 30% 
most deprived nationally for Income Deprivation 
Affecting Older People, with over 18% living in the 
most deprived decile.

• Almost 32% of the population of the borough 
aged 65 or over are receiving Pension Credit. This is 
high compared to London as a whole (at 25%) and 
England (at 19%).

• The Borough has the 4th highest proportion of 
older people (aged 65 or over) that live alone (at 
43%).

• 53.2% of the population aged 65+ live in social 
rented or private rented accommodation and are 
highly unlikely to be able to afford market or some 
affordable housing products.

Population data
Population data shows that Hammersmith & Fulham 
has a relatively young population with a higher 
working age population than the proportions in 
other London boroughs. 11% of total households are 
aged 65 and over. The borough has the 9th smallest 
proportion of older people (65+) in England. The 
highest concentration of older people in the borough 
are in Palace Riverside ward (over 15%), in areas of 
private housing which is in the south of the borough. 
Almost 68% of the older population in the borough 
live in areas which are in the top 30% most deprived 
nationally with over 18% living in the most deprived 
decile.

The largest predicted population growth over the 
next 10 years in the borough is expected in the over 
85 age group although the number aged 65 – 85 
is also expected to grow by a fifth (GLA population 
projections 2014). People are living longer and at the 
same time there is a gradual shift in the older people 
population of people living longer periods of time 
with chronic and disabling conditions. For example, 
the number of those living with dementia is expected 
to rise by 24% to 2025 and the current levels of 
dementia diagnosis (48%) are higher than the national 
level (42%). 

Page 163



 23 

  

Just over 51% of older people living in the borough stated that their day to day activities were limited (either a lot 
or a little). This is similar to the levels in London and England.

Disability Hammersmith & Fulham London England
#  % # %  # %

All categories: Long-term health 
problem or disability

16,024 876,636 8,343,008

Day-to-day act ivities limited a lot 4,253 26.5 229,783 26.2 2,085,119 25.0

Day-to-day act ivities limited a little 3,932 24.5 224,551 25.6 2,212,813 26.5

Day-to-day activities limited 8,185 51.1 454,334 51.8 4,297,932 5 1.5

Day-to-day act ivities not limited 7,839 48.9 422,302 48.2 4,045,076 48.5

Source : 2011 Census, Office of National Statistics, DC3404EW

Only 10.6% of older people living in the borough provide some level of informal, unpaid care. This is low when 
compared to London as a whole (12.4%) and to England (13.8%).

Carer Hammersmith & Fulham London England
#  % # %  # %

All categories: Provision of unpaid 
care

16,413 904,749 8,660,529

Provides no unpaid care 14,667 89.4 792,596 87.6 7,467,921 86.2

Provides unpaid care: Total 1,746 10.6 112,153 12.4 1,192,608 13.8

Provides 1 to 19 hours unpaid care a 
week

967 5.9 56,407 6.2 583,535 6.7

Provides 20 to 49 hours unpa id care 
a week

218 1.3 14,972 1.7 151,063 1.7

Provides SO or more hours unpaid 
care a week

561 3.4 40,774 4.5 458,010 5.3

Source : 2011 Census, Office of National Statistics, LC3304EW

40% (6,610) of those aged 65 and over in 2011 were married (including those who were separated but still 
legally married); this compares to 50% in London and 57% in country as a whole.

The proportion of those aged 65 and over who were divorced increased by half from 10% in 2001 to 15% in 
2011; this compares to 9% in London and 11% in England.

In 2011, 37% (5,992) of those aged 65 and over in H&F were living as a couple, an increase from 34.5% (5,869) 
in 2001. Those living as married couples increased from 32% to 34% and the proportion living as cohabiting 
couples increased from 2.8% to 3.2%.

Page 164



24 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

8%

14%

18% 25%

31%

4%

Age 75 to 79

Age 90 and over

Age 85 to 89

Age 80 to 84

Age 65 to 99

Age 70 to 74

Source : 2011 Census, Office of National Statistics, LC1117EW

56.3% of those aged 65 or over are female in the borough slightly higher than the rate for London (56.2%) and 
for England (55.6%).

78% of the population aged 65 or over are from White ethnic backgrounds, with 11.5% from Black 
backgrounds. This is the same level for London as a whole but significantly lower than the rate for England (at 
95.3%).

78%

2%

2%

12%

6%

White

Black/African/ 
Caribbean/Black Bristish

Mixed/Multiple ethnic group
Asian/Asian British

Other enthnic group

Source : 2011 Census, Office of National Statistics, LC2101EW

17.1% of older people in the borough remain economically active (that is employed, or unemployed but looking 
for work); 82.9% are economically inactive. 76.2% of all older people in the borough are retired.

Nationally 10% of older people remain economically active, with 86% of older people being retired. This is 
compared to 13.3% in London being economically active and 81.1% of London’s older people being retired.

Page 165



 25 

Economic Activity Age65 and over %s
Economically active: In employment: Employee: Part-time (including full-time students) 659 4.02

Economically active: In employment: Employee: Full-time (including full-time students) 928 5.65

Economically active: In employment: Self-employed: Part-time (including full-time students) 556 3.39

Economically active: In employment: Self-employed: Full-time (including full-time students) 552 3.36

Economically active: Unemployed (including full-time students) 106 0.65

Economically inactive: Retired 12,510 76.22

Economically inactive: Student (including full-time students) 80 0.49

Economically inactive: Looking after home or family 91 0.55

Economically inactive: Long-term sick or disabled 503 3.06

Economically inactive: Other 428 2.61

16,413

Source : 2011 Census, Office of National Statistics, DC6107EW

Occupancy
Levels of under-occupation are lower than is typical of London (half compared to three quarters), which may 
be a reflection of the high level of social housing stock (home to over 45% of the older population). However just 
over 50% of the population have 1 or more rooms than required although many social housing tenants report 
that having an additional is essential for visiting residents and therefore would not perceive themselves as under 
occupiers. Just under 23% of LBHF tenants over 65 have 3 bed rooms compared to just under 18% for those 
private renting or living rent free. This highlights the need to have an attractive targeted downsize offer which 
address barriers to moving and helps older people to move to more appropriate housing that better meets their 
needs and frees up valuable family size accommodation.

There are almost 9,300 older people in the borough who have 1 or more rooms in their accommodation than 
they actually need. Just over 2,300 (or 14.7%) have 1 or more rooms fewer than they require. This is high when 
compared to London (9.2%) and England (3.3%).

The table below shows the household composition of households that consist entirely of older people (including 
those that live alone) and the number of bedrooms. 49% of older people that live alone, and almost 16% of all 
families that consist of people that are all over 65 have just one bedroom. These are high when compared to 
London (33.3% and 8% respectively) and England as a whole (22.9% and 5% respectively).

Household 
Composition

All 
categories: 
Number of 
bedrooms

 1 
bedroom

2 
bedrooms

3 
bedrooms

4 
bedrooms

5 or more 
bedrooms

%1 
bedroom

LBHF

One person household: 
Aged 65 and over

7,058 3,463 1,922 1.242 337 94 49.06

One family only:  
All aged 65 and over 

1,621 257 490 570 230 74 15.85

London

One person household: 
Aged 65 and over

312,022 103,924 92,158 95,010 16,612 4,318 33.31

One family only:  
All aged 65 and over

134,063 10,727 32,532 65,076 19,882 6,046 8.00

England

One person household: 
Aged 65 and ever

2,725,596 623,899 935,962 962,856 165,401 37,478 22.89

One family only:  
All aged 65 and over

1,789,465 90,701 495,569 859,915 277,321 65,959 5.07

Source : 2011 Census, Office of National Statistics, DC1402EW

Page 166



26 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

Occupancy rating provides a measure of whether a household’s accommodation is 

overcrowded or under occupied. There are two measures of occupancy rating, one based on the number of 
rooms in a household’s accommodation, and one based on the number of bedrooms. 

The ages of the household members and their relationships to each other are used to derive the number of 
rooms/bedrooms they require, based on a standard formula. The number of rooms/bedrooms required is 
subtracted from the number of rooms/bedrooms in the household’s accommodation to obtain the occupancy 
rating. 

An occupancy rating of -1 implies that a household has one fewer room/bedroom than required, whereas +1 
implies that they have one more room/bedroom than the standard requirement.

15%

36%

27%

22%

Occupancy rating 
(rooms) of -1 or less

Occupancy rating 
(rooms) of +2 or more

Occupancy rating 
(rooms) of 0

Occupancy rating 
(rooms) of +1 or more

Source : 2011 Census, Office of National Statistics, DC3403EW

93.1% of older people living in the borough either have the required number of bedrooms in their 
accommodation or have more than required.

Occupancy rating (bedrooms) Hammersmith & Fulham London England
#  % # %  # %

All categories: Occupancy rating 
(bedrooms) 

16,024 876,636 8,343,008

Occupancy rating (bedrooms)  
of +2 or more

4,512 28.2 365,804 41.7 4,253,643 51.0

Occupancy rating (bedrooms)  
of +1

4,611 28.8 258,801 29.5 2,696,734 32.3

Occupancy rating (bedrooms)  
of 0

5,802 36.2 208,783 23.8 1,252,728 15.0

Occupancy rating (bedrooms)  
of -1 or less

1,099 6.9 43,248 4.9 139,903 1.7

Page 167



 27 

LBHF Housing tenure
Based on 2011 census figures there were 16,024 
people aged 65 or over living in households in 
Hammersmith & Fulham. The breakdown of tenure 
for those households is:

114 133 224 967 1678 2724 3152 1348 6155

Ex
tra

 c
ar

e

Re
sid

en
tia

l c
ar

e 
ho

m
e 

(in
/o

ut
 b

or
ou

gh
)

Nu
rs

in
g 

ca
re

 h
om

e 
(in

/o
ut

 b
or

ou
gh

)

Sh
el

te
re

d

Pr
iv

at
e 

re
nt

ed
/ r

en
t f

re
e

O
th

er
 so

cia
l r

en
te

d

Co
un

cil
 re

nt
ed

O
w

ne
d 

w
ith

 m
or

tg
ag

e

O
w

ne
d 

ou
tri

gh
t

The majority of the over 65 population live in general 
needs housing with only 6.4% in sheltered or extra 
care sheltered (see chart above). Just over 42% 
of the over 65 population live in owner occupied 
accommodation (73% England) with the majority 
owning the property outright and just over 53% of 
the population live in social rented or private rented 
accommodation. The 2011 Census showed 1.7% 
of the population living in residential or nursing 
care (locally authority funded, NHS funded or 
privately funded). A snap shot of locally authority 
funded residential care and nursing care placements 
show that in March 15 there were 114 residents in 
residential care and 217 in nursing care. This number 
has shown a gradual decline over the last 10 years 
from a number of 175 in residential placements 
and 260 in nursing placements which supports the 
Council’s commitment to supporting people at home 
where possible. 

Hammersmith & Fulham has a higher proportion of 
affordable/social rent properties (31.2%), than other 
London boroughs (24.1%). Hammersmith & Fulham 
has a very high average house price when compared 
to other parts of the country. At September 2014, 
the average price for a property sold was £795k - the 
highest average house price in the borough since 
records began. This is over 1.7 times higher than the 
average price for London as a whole. Generally, house 
prices are lowest in the north of the borough, and 
highest in the south.

Current LBHF tenant profile 
The majority of social housing tenants aged 65 and 
over live in general needs housing rather than in 
specialist types of housing for older people. There 
are almost 3 times as many 70 - 79 years olds in 
general needs compared to sheltered housing and 
over double the number of residents aged 80+ 
live in general needs rather than sheltered housing. 
The borough has the 4th highest proportion in the 
country of older people who live alone (43%). Of 
those older people living alone 50% live in social 
rented and a further 12% in the private rented sector 
and over 58% have a long term health problem or 
disability. This profile alongside challenges of the 
housing stock increases the risk of isolation and 
loneliness in the older people’s population in LBHF.

At March 2016 there were approximately 4145 tenants 
or households members aged 65 and over in LBHF 
social housing and this equates to 17% of the total 
number and of these 934 live in sheltered housing, 
the remainder live in general needs. Over 2000 

Page 168



28 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

tenants or household members across both specialist 
and general needs housing are aged 75 and over. 
The 2011 Census figures show that a further 2700 
people aged 65 and over live in Register Providers 
(referred to as Housing Associations throughout this 
document) properties in the borough with around 
559 in Housing Association sheltered. Around 88% of 
LBHF sheltered housing tenants are aged 65 and over 
and almost 10% are between 60 and 65. 

With the majority of older people living in general 
needs rather than specialist housing, it is important 
that practical solutions to maintaining independence 
need to work for the majority of residents, and not 
just those living in specialist schemes. 

There is currently a needs assessment underway for 
sheltered housing and data from this will be available 
to inform the development of the older people’s 
housing strategy.

Social Housing Demand 
• At May 2016 of the 1,868 households on the 

Housing Register there are 173 where the main 
applicant is aged 65+. Looking at all household 
members there are 224 in total who are aged 65+.

• At the end of May 16 there were 86 (out of 1868) 
households on the housing register that were 
flagged as eligible and interested in sheltered 
housing.

• The average waiting times for sheltered for those 
rehoused in 2015/16 was 24.7 months based on 
registration date. 

• Of the 32 applicants aged over 65 seeking adapted 
properties 14 require 2 bed or above and therefore 
sheltered will not be an option and those who are 
willing to consider sheltered may find that their 
needs cannot be met within existing stock. 

• In 2014/15 around 4% of homelessness 
acceptances were aged 65 and over. 

• At March 2016 there were 37 households in 
temporary accommodation where the main 
applicant was aged 65 and over and where the 
council has accepted a duty to rehouse or are 
currently investigating the case

• Currently 53 people on the Home Buy register are 
age over 60 which is just over 0.5% of the overall 
waiting list.

Social Housing Stock
General Needs
The Council has around 11,353 units of general needs 
housing and three quarters of the borough’s general 
needs housing stock is flats with nearly half having no 
ground floor entrance and some having no lifts. 35% 
of Hammersmith & Fulham’s Housing Stock is one 
bedroom properties. This is a higher proportion than 
both West London and London. There are a lower 
proportion of two and three bedroom properties in 
LBHF compared to Greater London. The accessible 
housing register records for general needs housing 
show:

Category Definition No of 
local 
authority

No of 
Housing 
Association

A Fully 
wheelchair 
accessible

0 1

B Wheelchair 
accessible 
to essential 
rooms

0 0

C Lifetime 
homes

16 542

D Easy access 1 267

E Step free 1757 3384

E+ Up to four 
steps

3871 1903

F General 
Housing

4871 5379

G Not yet 
assessed

837 -

Page 169



 29 

Specialist Housing
LBHF data shows 971 units of sheltered provision and 
around 559 units of Housing Association sheltered 
housing available in borough - the majority of this 
will be 1 bed accommodation. LBHF sheltered stock 
has been assessed for the accessible housing register 
(AHR) as follows:

Category Definition No

A Fully wheelchair accessible 0

B Wheelchair accessible to essential 
rooms

1

C Lifetime Homes 125

D Easy Access 5

E Level access including narrow 
doors and corridors

329

E+ Up to four step 70

F General Housing 279

G Not yet assessed 161

Other 1

Total 971

LBHF sheltered provision is provided across 22 
schemes. Sheltered Housing tenants benefit from 
an enhanced management service which provides 
12 specialist housing officers (SHO) who provide 
a minimum of 3 hours on site service a day per 
scheme. SHO’s undertake a range of core housing 
management tasks as well as facilitating communal 
activities and services to provide for this specific client 
group’s general well-being. The enhanced cost for 
this service is £22.52 PW added to rent levels. An 
optional Careline service funded by Adult Social Care 
is provided at £400,000 per annum. Careline provides 
security through a telephone link to a tenants’ home 
24 hours a day, 365 days a year to help residents 
maintain their independence and live in their own 
home for as long as possible.

Access to the schemes is based on housing need and 
eligibility. There is currently no market provision in-
borough. In addition there are 114 units of extra care 
housing which provides 7 day a week 24 hour care 
person centred to support changing need. Allocations 
to extra care provision are via Adult Social Care rather 
than the housing register.

A housing support service is available across tenures 
for people requiring practical support and advice with 
the aim of maintaining independence.

Housing Supply
The Council supports major regeneration and growth 
in the borough’s five regeneration areas and the 
borough’s Local Plan proposals aim to: 

• Deliver 25,800 new homes in the period 2015-
2035 to meet local housing needs and enable local 
residents to access affordable homes to buy or 
rent; 

• Deliver 49,500 new jobs in the period 2015-2035, 
providing a range of skills and competencies and 
supported by initiatives to enable local residents to 
access employment and training; and 

• Deliver new physical, social and environmental 
infrastructure that meets the needs of new 
residents as well delivering tangible benefits for 
surrounding communities.

Housing Strategy Action 2 states that the Council 
will develop and implement an affordable housing 
delivery strategy designed to draw together all 
available resources to the Council to maximise 
affordable housing delivery over the 2015-2025 Local 
Plan period. Where the Council provides ‘leverage’ 
through land and/or funding, affordable housing 
requirements with the aim of exceeding the overall 
40% affordable housing target set out in this section 
with an emphasis on increased provision of social 
rented housing. The five regeneration areas will 
play an important role in delivering significantly 
more market and affordable housing over the next 
20 years as well as this small and medium sites can 
play an important role in contributing to housing 
targets. The Council wants Hammersmith & Fulham 
to attract housing developers, particularly housing 
associations to build genuinely affordable housing. 
Collectively, housing associations have 12,450 rented 
affordable homes. (LBHF are currently on target for 
both the lifetime homes indicator and 10% wheelchair 
accessible)

Page 170



30 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

The main new provision for older people will be new 
extra care units in White City which are due to be 
delivered in 2021. These will include 65 affordable 
units set at Local Housing Allowance levels and 15 
shared ownership units which will be available via the 
Council’s Home Buy scheme. There are currently no 
proposals for market provision of sheltered housing or 
downsizing properties.

LBHF is meeting its target for 100% of new 
developments to Lifetime Home Standard and 10% 
wheelchair accessibility.

Fuel Poverty
A household is said to be in fuel poverty when its 
members cannot afford to keep adequately warm 
at reasonable cost, given their income – when a 
household’s required fuel costs are above the median 
level; and if they were to spend what is required, then 
the household would be left with a residual income 
below the official poverty line. Cold homes are linked 
to an increased risk of cardiovascular, respiratory and 
rheumatoid diseases, as well as hypothermia and 
poorer mental health. 

2014 Fuel Poverty data shows a higher proportion of 
fuel poor households in the borough compared to 
both the London and national averages (see below 
table). Between 2013 and 2014 there has been 
an increase of 2.3 % points in the number of H&F 
households in fuel poverty (+2,478); this compares to 
0.8 and 0.2 % point increases in London and England. 
There is no breakdown available by tenure types, but 
an initial analysis looking at the correlation (at LSOA 
level) between the level of fuel poverty and % tenure 
splits shows that areas with the largest proportion 
of H&F households living in private rented sector 
have the highest levels of fuel poverty; this is closely 
followed by owner occupiers. Conversely, the areas 
with the highest proportion of households living in 
social rented accommodation show the lowest levels 
of fuel poverty – particularly for those households 
renting from the Council.

LA Name Estimated no. 
of Fuel Poor 
Households 
2013

Proportion of 
households 
fuel poor (%) 
2013

Estimated no. 
of Fuel Poor 
Households 
2014

Proportion of 
households 
fuel poor (%) 
2014

% point 
change

Hammersmith & Fulham 8,500 10.3% 10,978 13.6% +2.3%

London 326,114 9.8% 348,215 10.6% +0.8%

England 2.35m 10.4% 2.38 m 10.6% +0.2%

Fuel poverty can be alleviated through income maximisation initiatives for householders, such as benefits 
entitlement checks and winter fuel and cold weather payments, improved home energy efficiency through 
(grant funded) heating and insulation improvements and energy efficiency advice, and through reduced fuel 
costs through the warm homes discount, fuel switching, tariff switching and fuel debt grants. However, the 
prevalence of flats and pre-war stock in Hammersmith & Fulham affect the effectiveness of such initiatives.

Page 171



 31 

Page 172



32 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

Page 173



 33 

The table below shows that 53.2% of the population aged 65+ live in social rented or private rented 
accommodation and are highly unlikely to be able to afford market or some affordable housing products.

Tenure Hammersmith & Fulham London England
#  % # % # %

All categories: Tenure 16,024 876,636 8,343,008

Owned or shared ownership: Total 7,503 46.8 604,309 68.9 6,508,267 78.0

Owned: Owned outright 6,155  38.4 507,657 57.9 5,733,611 68.7

Owned: Owned with a mortgage or 
loan or shared ownership

1,348 8.4 96,652 11.0 774,656 9.3

Rented or living rent free: Total 8,521 53.2 272,327 31.1 1,8.34,741 22.0

Rented: Social rented 6,843 42.7 209,105 23.9 1,347.599 16.2

Rented: Private rented or living rent 
free

1,678 10.5 63,222 7.2 487,142 5.8

Source : 2011 Census, Office of National Statistics, LC3409EW

The chart above shows the number of older people 
living in each decile of deprivation according to the 
2015 Index of Multiple Deprivation. Over 37% of the 
older population live in the top 30% of most deprived 
areas (nationally), with over a fifth in the top 20%.

The chart above shows the numbers of older people 
by the deprivation decile they live in. The lower the 
numbers the more deprived an area is. The chart 
above specifically shows income deprivation affecting 
older people. Almost 68% of the older population of 
the borough lives in areas which are in the top 30% 
most deprived nationally, with over 18% living in the 
most deprived decile.

Page 174



34 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

The map below shows the Income Deprivation Affecting Older People Index (IDAOPI) which measures the 
proportion of elderly residents who experience income deprivation by lower layer output area (LSOA). 

Page 175



 35 

Almost 32% of the population of the borough aged 65 or over are receiving Pension Credit. This is high 
compared to London as a whole (at 25%) and England (at 19%).

Age Hammersmith & Fulham London England
Aged 65-69 1,490 56,290 367,720

Aged 70-74 1,260 50,160 331,450

Aged 75-79 1,090 46,420 312,030

Aged 80.84 710 34,710 271,000

Aged 85·89 420 23,630 219,920

Aged 90 and Over 280 17,390 173,410

Totals 5,250 228,600 1,675,530

Population 65+ 16,413 904,749 8,660,529

Percentage 31.99 25.27 19.35

Older People Living Alone
Just over 7,050 adults aged 65 or over live alone in the borough (out of a total population aged 65 or over of 
16,413).

The Borough has the 4th highest proportion of older people (aged 65 or over) that live alone (at 43%). Only 
Kensington and Chelsea (43.1%), Westminster (45%) and City of London (50.8) have higher proportions.

34.5% of older people in Greater London live alone, and 31.5% of older people in England live alone.

Source : 2011 Census, Office of National Statistics

Of those older people living alone in the borough, over 50% live in socially rented accommodation. A further 
12% either live in the private rented sector live rent free. Given the affordability issues in the borough it is 
reasonable to assume that older people living in these tenures are unlikely to be able to afford market or even 
some affordable housing products.

Page 176



36 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

6%
50%

12%

32%

Owned: Owned with 
a mortgage or shared 
ownership

Rented: Private or  
living rent free

Rented: Social rented

Owned: Owned outright

Source : 2011 Census, Office of National Statistics

54.8% of older people living alone have a long term health problem or a disability. This compared to 57.4% for 
London and 59.6% for England as a whole.

Table x below shows the occupancy ratings for rooms for older people living alone in the borough. 13.7% of 
older people living alone have one fewer room than required, compared to 9.5% for London and just 4.3% for 
England.4

36% have a suitable number of rooms, and just over 50% have 1 or more rooms than required.

Occupancy rating (rooms) Hammersmith & Fulham London England
#  % # % # %

All categories: Occupancy rating: (rooms) 7,058 312.022 2.725,596

Occupancy rating (rooms) of +2 or more 1,998 28.3 133,072 42.6 1,440,350 52.8

Occupancy rating (rooms) of +1 1,554 22.0 73,083 23.4 664,834 24.4

Occupancy rating (rooms) of 0 2,542 36.0 76,341 24.5 503,526 18.5

Occupancy rating: (rooms) of -1 or less 964 13.7 29.526 9.5 116.886 4.3

Source : 2011 Census, Office of National Statistics

50.9% of older people living alone have 1 or more bedrooms than they need, and 49.1% have the number of 
bedrooms required. This is significantly higher than London (33.3%) and England (22.9%).

Occupancy rating (bedrooms) Hammersmith & Fulham London England
#  % # % # %

All categories: Occupancy rating (bedrooms) 7,058 312,022 2,725,596

Occupancy rating (bedrooms) of +2 or more 1,673 23.7 115,940 37.2 1,165,735 42.8

Occupancy rating (bedrooms) of +1 1,922 27.2 92,158 29.5 935,962 34.3

Occupancy rating (bedrooms) of 0 3,463 49.1 103,924 33.3 623,899 22.9

Occupancy rating (bedrooms) of -1 or less 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0

Source : 2011 Census, Office of National Statistics

4  See above for definitions of occupancy ratings

Page 177



 37 

2. Appendix A – Additional Tables

Age by long term health problem or disability

Age

All categories:  
Long-term health 
problem or 
disability

Day-to-day 
activities limited 
a lot

Day-to-day 
activities limited 
a little 

Day-to-day 
activities not 
limited %limited

Al l categories: Age 180,652 10,967 11,283 158,402 12.32
Age 0 to 15 29,624 359 515 28,750 2.95
Age 16 to 24 22,947 327 555 22,065 3.84
Age 25 to 34 47,759 645 1,108 46,006 3.67
Age 35 to 49 41,978 2,206 2,355 37,417 10.87

Age 5O to 64 22,320 3,177 2,818 16,325 26.86
Age 65 to 74 9,029 1,707 1,930 5,392 40.28
Age 75 to 84 5,181 1,575 1.519 2,087 59.72
Age 85 and over 1,814 971 483 360 80.15

Source : 2011 Census, Office of National Statistics, DC3302EW

Age by household composition

Household composition

All 
categories: 
Age

Age  
O to 15

Age  
16 to 24

Age  
25 to 34

Age  
35 to 49

Age  
50 and  
over

All categories: Household composition 180,652 29.624 22.,947 47,759 41.978 38,34
One person household. Total 30,148 10 1,470 5,706 8,911 13,990
One person household. Aged 65 and over 7,058 0 0 0 0 7,058
One person household: Other 23,090 10 1470 5,706 8,911 6,9l2
One family only: Total 99,041 25,726 9340 19,756 25,251 18,968

One family only: All aged 65 and over 3,248 0 0 0 0 3,248
One family only: Married or same-sex civil partnership couple: 
Total 

54,539 15,369 3,749 9,185 16,018 10,218

One family only: Married or same-sex civil partnership couple: 
No children 

12,096 0 166 4,272 3,482 4,176

One family only: Married or same-sex civil partnership couple: 
Dependent children

35,778 15,369 2,488 3,737 11,717 2,467

One family only: Married or same-sex civil partnership couple: 
All children non-dependent

6,665 0 1,095 1,176 819 3,575

One family only: Cohabiting couple: Total 17,489 2,056 1,435 7,641 4,581 1,776
One family only: Cohabiting couple: No children 11,676 4 946 6,819 2,758 1,149
One family only: Cohabiting couple: Dependent children 5,100 2,052 350 702 1,661 335
One family only: Cohabiting couple: All children non-dependent 713 0 139 120 162 292
One family only: Lone parent: Total 23,765 8,301 4,156 2,930 4,652 3,726
One family only: Lone parent: Dependent children 16,671 8,301 2,695 1,623 3,224 828
One family only: Lone parent: All children non-dependent 7,094 0 1,461 1,307 1,428 2,898
Other household types: Total 51,463 3,888 12,137 22,297 7,755 5,386
Other household types: With dependent children 11,121 3,888 1,298 1,696 2,776 1,463
Other household types: All full-time students 3,939 0 3,506 404 15 14
Other household types. All 499 0 0 0 0 499
Other household types: Other 35,904 0 7,333 20,197 4,964 3,410

Source : 2011 Census, Office of National Statistics, DC1109EW

Page 178



38 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

3. Appendix B – Additional Maps

Map 1: Location of people aged 65 to 74 by output area

Page 179



 39 

Map 2: Location of people aged 75 to 84 by output area

Page 180



40 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

Map 3: Location of people aged 85+ by output area

Page 181



 41 

Map 4: Location of single people over 65 living alone by output 
area

Page 182



42 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

Map 5: Location of couple households all aged 65+ by output 
area

Page 183



 43 

Map 6: Location of other households all aged 65+ by output area

Page 184



44 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

Case Study 1 

Freespace (Redbridge) 
The Freespace Scheme was designed in 2011-12 
and piloted by Redbridge Council in 2012-13. At a 
time where there were estimated to be 25 million 
empty bedrooms in houses across the UK, the 
scheme aimed to free up family-sized housing by 
moving elderly couples or individuals out of family 
homes into smaller accommodation. The outcome 
of this pilot is unclear, as welfare reform and the 
departure of Grant Schapps as Minister of Housing 
and Local Government halted its momentum. 
However, there are still learning points.

Freespace was intended to facilitate and support 
home-owners in moving in ways that would 
enable them to retain their initial home, but 
without the responsibilities of ownership and 
letting. The local authority (or RSL partner) would 
acquire the under-occupied property on a long-
term lease in exchange for supporting the owner 
through each stage of the moving process: 
decision-making, preparing the property for 
letting, and moving to smaller accommodation. 
Financial support would be given for relocation and 
upgrading the property via an interest-free secured 
loan, repayable only following the sale of the 
property. The local authority or RSL partner would 
then act as a landlord for the original property 
(though the previous occupant would still be the 
owner). The owner receives the rent and uses 
this income to pay for their new accommodation 
(which can be any tenure the owner wishes; the 
aim of the scheme was to free up under-occupied 
houses, rather than to move older people into the 
Council’s sheltered accommodation). The house 
reverts to their estate with vacant possession 
within a few months of their death or at the end of 
the long-term lease.

At face value, this is a win-win option for both 
the owner and the local authority. The owner is 
empowered to generate an income stream from 
their own home to rent somewhere better-suited 
to their needs, and the local authority are provided 
with a family-sized house that can be let to a family 
in need. The owner would also enjoy lower council 
tax and utility bills, allowing them to save more 
than £7,000 per year by one estimate5. 

Should such a scheme be pursued, the local 
authority would need to consider the high up-front 
cost of the long-term lease and the resourcing 
requirements – Freespace was supported by a 
dedicated team that provided advice and support 
to the owner(s) throughout the process. It is also 
worth noting the considerable opposition the 
scheme faced in the media and among some 
members of the public. To the media, it was an 
uncharacteristic move towards state intervention 
by the Conservative government which would 
provide older people with lower returns than they 
would receive on the open market. Among the 
public, fears were stoked that the government 
would coerce the elderly into moving out of their 
family homes into residential care. High-quality 
transparency and public awareness will be key if 
such a scheme is to be pursued.

5 http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/politics/9019124/State-to-help-elderly-
downsize-as-Government-tackles-housing-crisis.html

4. Appendix 2: Examples of Approaches to  
Older People’s Housing

Page 185



 45 

Case Study 2

Co-housing (OWCH)
Senior co-housing schemes are a well-established 
option for housing the elderly in parts of mainland 
Europe, but the model was not successfully 
imported to the UK until early 2015 when the Older 
Women’s Co-Housing group (OWCH) launched 
a scheme in Barnet, London. The first of its kind 
in the UK, this scheme presents a compelling 
alternative to local authorities directly determining 
the supply of housing for the elderly.

Co-housing is an arrangement whereby housing 
is grouped, set up and run by its residents. 
Occupants subscribe to a set of defined values 
and aims, enjoy their own accommodation 
and personal space, and have common areas 
in which to meet and share joint activities. For 
OWCH, “the aim is to promote neighbourliness, 
combat isolation and offer mutual support,” as 
opposed to simply providing a sheltered housing 
development.6 The OWCH scheme consists of a 
mix of leasehold and social rented flats available 
exclusively to women over the age of 50. 

OWCH (Barnet) Ltd, a fully mutual company, 
is in charge of the scheme, with Housing for 
Women co-opted onto the elected management 
committee and acting as a social landlord for the 
rental flats in the scheme. Each resident of the 
community (both leaseholders and social renters) is 
a full member of OWCH (Barnet). Each leaseholder 
owns their flat and a share of the common facilities 
on a 250-year lease; each renter has an assured 
tenancy agreement with Housing for Women and 
shares the common facilities. Housing for Women 
is the overall freeholder and has granted OWCH a 
999-year head lease of the whole site. 

6 http://www.OWCH.org.uk/structure

While co-housing may not be a model that the 
Council can create directly, we can facilitate 
the conditions for co-housing schemes to be 
successfully set up by groups of would-be 
residents. A significant barrier for OWCH was 
the local authority’s lack of understanding of the 
co-housing model or prioritisation of housing 
for younger age groups. Difficulties in securing a 
developer / housing association partner also caused 
delays, and could be addressed by the Council. 
Where local authorities are able to maintain 
awareness of such schemes (which are likely to gain 
traction now that it has been demonstrated that 
co-housing is viable for the UK housing sector) and 
support interested groups in locating appropriate 
partnership arrangements, there is the potential for 
older people to collectively house themselves.

Page 186



46 HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM COUNCIL OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2017-2022

Case Study 3 

Flat refurbishment (Manchester City Council)
In 2008, Manchester City Council (MCC) and 
Northwards Housing (MCC’s ALMO) began 
refurbishment of Whitebeck Court, a derelict tower 
block in an area with a high proportion of elderly 
people but no extra care accommodation. The 
block is now a fully-occupied extra care scheme, 
providing a good example of how local authorities 
can better utilise their existing stock in order to 
create accommodation for the elderly.

Whitebeck Court was originally a 1960’s 
tower block owned by MCC and managed by 
Northwards. It was sparsely occupied, vandalised, 
infested with pigeons and had been stripped of 
lead and copper by thieves. The last tenants moved 
out in May 2006, leaving the 91-flat building 
entirely empty. In 2008 MCC and Northwards put 
together a bid to be granted part of a new £80m 
fund for extra care housing, and were awarded 
£6.54m. This was £2.36m short of the £8.9m 
needed; the deficit was made up by a combination 
of funds from Northwards and Council savings. 

Following the acquisition of these funds, the tower 
block was renovated into a state-of-the-art extra 
care scheme. Each of the 91 apartments was 
completely rebuilt and a new storey was added 
for a top-floor lounge. The ground floor was 
renovated to house a Council-run day centre with 
a variety of amenities and the communal gardens 
were outfitted with an outdoor gym, giant chess 
set and greenhouse. The idea was to make the 
scheme as attractive as possible to encourage 
people to want to move there. 

Flats are allocated according to level of need by a 
panel made up of Council staff and Northwards 
management staff (Northwards is paid around 
£11,000 per property per year to manage the 
scheme on behalf of the Council). It costs tenants 
£77.47 per week to rent a two-bed property, and 
£66.67 to rent a one-bed. There is also an £18.35 
weekly service charge.7 Specialist care services 
are provided by a private sector company, with 
residents only paying for what they use. 

Whitebeck Court is currently fully occupied, 
with many residents moving out of family 
accommodation to switch to the apartments – 
freeing up accommodation for those in need. 
Should a similar refurbishment programme be 
pursued, it is important to be aware of the steep 
up-front costs. Even with government funding, 
MCC was forced to close two day-care centres to 
make up the shortfall. How the scheme should be 
managed will also be a matter for consideration, 
in addition to ensuring that there are sufficient 
incentives for people to move in to ensure that 
the scheme delivers Value for Money. Should 
these hurdles be navigated, however, thorough 
refurbishment of existing stock represents an 
effective long-term solution to a shortage of elderly 
housing.

7 As of July 2011: http://www.insidehousing.co.uk/on-top-of-the-
world/6516825.article

Page 187



 47 

Case Study 4 

Elderly care and technology (One Housing Group)
One Housing Group has invested heavily in 
upgrading its housing for older people to 
incorporate technology as a fundamental 
component of its approach to elderly care. This is 
an approach that has also been taken by others 
in the sector, and has led to significant efficiency 
savings and better quality of life for older people.

The drive to redesign elderly care services around 
modern technology arose in response to a trend 
towards reduced grants and welfare reforms. One 
Housing Group saw the need for efficiency savings 
which did not result in a loss of services. They 
therefore embarked on a programme to develop 
their elderly accommodation with technology 
built in as a core component, not an add-on. They 
did this with three of their basic accommodation 
types: extra care schemes, sheltered housing and 
specialist retirement schemes. This technology took 
the form of alarms, pill dispensers and helplines 
designed to help older people (including dementia 
sufferers) remain living as independently as 
possible. Scheme managers were equipped with 
modern telecare IT solutions, providing them with 
a “dashboard” view of all calls and alerts coming 
out of certain schemes. 

This technology-based approach has allowed One 
Housing Group to provide a service that is more 
cost-effective than registered care or nursing 
accommodation, offering better outcomes and 
increased satisfaction for people with long-term 
care needs. Intelligent “dashboard” monitoring 
of calls and alerts allows better deployment of 
resources, delivering both efficiency and better 
service for residents. These benefits are not 
unique to One Housing Group either: Bradford’s 
Partnership for Older People Project (POPP) found 
that, as a result of telecare systems, 26% more 
users were able to stay in their own home and 
avoid unwanted care home admissions; 13% of 
users avoided a hospital admission; and there 
was a 29% reduction in homecare hours. POPP, a 
nationally-based scheme, estimates that savings of 
£550,000 a year are possible in Bradford alone as a 
result of telecare.8

Should we decide to implement modern 
technology to drive efficiency and provide better 
service to residents, we would need to fully 
embrace this approach. One Housing Group found 
that technology delivers the greatest benefits when 
it is established as a core component, rather than 
tacked on at the end. This necessitates a high initial 
cost and possible retraining of large numbers of 
staff; however, if done successfully, the result is 
elderly accommodation that is both efficient and 
future-proofed.

8 https://www.theguardian.com/housing-network/2013/feb/19/
telehealthcare-support-elderly-at-home

Page 188



©
 B

y:
de

si
gn

. 0
20

 8
75

3 
17

64
 –

 2
01

7.
 2

57
.2

2.

Page 189



APPENDIX 2  
OLDER PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY ACTION PLANS 
 
Objective – Maximise the use of existing stock to appropriately accommodate older 
people in Hammersmith & Fulham 

Action Responsibility When 

Identify the Council’s accessible housing stock and 
update the accessible housing register 

Housing Services 
Starts September 
2017 

Review scheme of allocations to include accessible 
housing stock. This work will include linking with 
housing association partners 

Housing Solutions & 
Housing Services 

Completed  

Develop future proofing protocol for future planned 
works programmes 

Property Services  Completed 

Review the current Disabled Facilities Grant and aids 
and adaptations services. 

Adult Social Care & 
Property Services 

 March 2018 

Implement recommendations from Disabled Facilities 
Grant review 

Adult Social Care & 
Property Services 

 June 2018 

Review assistive technology opportunities. 
Adult Social Care & 

Housing Services 
 Summer 2018 

Develop business case and gain approval for social 
rent downsizer offer pilot 

Housing Service (w/ 
Housing Solutions) 

 Completed 

Implement social rent downsizer offer pilot 
Housing Service (w/ 
Housing Solutions) 

 Completed 

Review outcomes of social rent downsizer offer pilot  
Housing Service (w/ 
Housing Solutions) 

 Completed 

Develop business case and gain approval for 
leaseholder downsizer offer pilot  

Housing Service (w/ 
Adult Social Care) 

 April 2018 

If feasible, implement leaseholder downsizer offer 
pilot 

Housing Service (w/ 
Adult Social Care) 

 TBC 

Review outcomes of leaseholder downsizer offer pilot 
Housing Service (w/ 

Adult Social Care) 
 TBC 

Review approach to tackle fuel poverty and cold 
homes 

Property Services & 
Environment Health 

 April 2018 

Implement outcomes of fuel poverty / cold homes 
review 

Property Services & 
Environment Health 

 April 2018 

 
Measures: 

 Number of older people supported to move to appropriate accessible 

accommodation 

 Number of older people  supported to move to smaller accommodation 

 Number of  homes improved so they are ‘future proofed’ for older people’s needs 

 % reduction of fuel poverty amongst older people 

Page 190



Objective 2 – Increase older people’s awareness of their housing options to enable them 
to make the best accommodation choices. 

Action Responsibility By when 

Develop new approach to housing options 
advice, linked with People First information 
offer 

Housing Solutions w/ Adult 
Social Care & Housing 

Services 
 April 2018 

Pilot new approach to housing options advice, 
linked with People First information offer 

Housing Solutions w/ Adult 
Social Care& Housing 

Services 
 July 2018 

Report outcomes of housing options advice 
pilot 

Housing Solutions w/ Adult 
Social Care& Housing 

Services 
September 2018 

Develop linked assessment mechanism with 
health, adult social care and housing where 
need is identified 

Housing Solutions & Adult 
Social Care 

 April 2018 

Develop new marketing materials regarding 
the housing offer for older people 

Housing Solutions w/ 
Housing Services (Sheltered) 

 April 2018 

Distribute marketing information on housing 
offer for older people 

Housing Solutions w/ 
Housing Services (Sheltered) 

 June 2018 

Measures 

 Number of older people provided housing options advice  

 Number of integrated assessment completed 

 Number of older people who have responded to our proactive publicising of housing 

options 

Objective 3 - Facilitate the development of more homes that meet the needs of older 
people 

Action Responsibility By when 

Deliver 80 units of extra care in White City 
(including 15 shared ownership ). 

Housing Strategy & 
Adult Social Care 

 2019/2020 

Review Local Plan content and recommend 
changes 

Housing Strategy (w/ 
w/ Adult Social Care) 

 On-going 

Amend Local Plan as required Housing Strategy  On-going 

Set up a working group with housing 
associations to explore future housing 
options for older people. 

Housing Strategy  April 2018 

Begin conversations with GLA on specialist 
housing fund 

Housing Strategy  On-going 

Measures 

 Provide updates to the Local Plan as necessary 

 Level of funding leveraged to deliver specialist housing in the borough 

 Deliver 80 new extra care homes in the borough 

 

Page 191



Objective 4 – Support older people to maintain their independence 
 

Action Responsibility By when 

Identify key contacts at Housing 
Associations for outreach, sustainment and 
prevention work, and invite to partnership 
discussions 

Housing Solutions / 
Floating support (w 
Housing Strategy) 

 November 2017 

Develop a joint approach with Housing 
Associations for outreach, sustainment and 
prevention 

Housing Solutions  April 2018 

Link with H&F’s poverty and worklessness 
commission and Economic Development 
Commission to combat isolation and 
loneliness. 

Housing Solutions & 
Adult Social Care 

 April 2018 

Develop information package and 
marketing material and including local 
‘homeshare’ schemes. 

Housing Solutions, 
Housing Services and  
Adult Social Care 

 September 2018 

Measures 

 Development of a partnership approach to maintaining older people’s independence 

through joint working with local housing associations 

 Development of new resources, and brief staff on signposting older people to local 

‘homeshare’ schemes 

 Number of older people signposted to services 

 Number of older people who report feeling isolated 

 

Page 192



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
HEALTH, INCLUSION AND SOCIAL CARE POLICY 

AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 
 

20 JUNE 2018 
 

 

 
DRAFT DISABLED PEOPLE’S HOUSING STRATEGY 
 

 
Report of the Strategic Director for Growth and Place  
 

 
Open Report 
 

 
Classification - For Information 
 
Key Decision: No 
 

Consultation 
 
Disabled People’s Commission 
Disabled Residents (focus groups) 
Adult Social Care  
Housing Property Services 
Housing Services 
Housing Solutions 
Housing, Growth 
 

 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 
Accountable Director: Jo Rowlands – Strategic Director for Growth and Place  
 

Report Author:  
 
Labab Lubab 
Partnerships & Strategy Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
 
Tel: 020 753 4203 
E-mail: labab.lubab@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report summarises the Disabled People’s Housing Strategy and the 

approach for meeting housing needs of disabled people through provision of 
housing services shaped and influenced by, and for, disabled people. 

Page 193

Agenda Item 9

mailto:labab.lubab@lbhf.gov.uk


 
1.2 In the strategy, the Council has set four key objectives to be delivered: 
 

 Introduce a culture of co-production with disabled people to better shape 

Housing services 

 Improve access to housing information for disabled people including housing 
options and housing services 

  Improve the Council’s services as a landlord for disabled people 

 Identify ways to increase the supply of accessible and affordable housing to 
meet the needs of disabled people 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. To note the vision of the Disabled People’s Housing Strategy and the action 

plans for achieving each objective as outlined in section 3 of the report and 
Appendix 1. 
 

2.2. To authorise the Strategic Director for Growth and Place to take the 
necessary steps to implement the strategy. 
 

3. VISION AND OBJECTIVES 
 

3.1 The Disabled People’s Housing Strategy has been developed in partnership 
with disabled people and members of the Disabled People’s Commission. 

 
3.2 The strategy flows from the Council’s Housing Strategy ‘Delivering the 

Change we Need in Housing’ and the Older Persons Housing Strategies both 
of which set out the Council’s intention to increase the provision of genuinely 
affordable homes in the borough to meet the needs of residents and is 
underpinned by three key principles; a commitment to co-production and 
involvement, partnership working and people-focused approach.  

 
3.4 We have set four key objectives to be delivered. These are: 

Objective 1 – Introduce a culture of co-production with disabled people 
to better shape Housing services 

 
3.5 The Disabled People’s Commission’s report defines co-production as follows: 

“Co-production or working together means local Disabled people living in an 
area are working together with decision makers. Co-production means 
Disabled people and decision makers together planning, designing and 
reviewing policy and services that affect our lives to get rid of barriers”. 

 
3.6 This housing strategy will initiate that change in housing and we are aware 

that co-production is a journey. The strategy’s key actions will be approached 
through the principles of co-production particularly the first steps of continuous 
engagement, consultation, and co-design.  

  
3.7 To measure the impact, the Council will monitor the number of disabled 

people engaged in housing services delivery, number of disabled people 

Page 194



recruited to involvement groups, number of Disabled people’s organisation 
meaningfully engaged and promoted and the number and type of changes 
made with the involvement of disabled people. 

Objective 2 – Improve Access to Housing Information for Disabled 
people 

 
3.8 The Disabled People’s Commission’s 2017 report ‘Nothing About Us Without 

Us’ identified lack of accessible information as a barrier to equality affecting 
disabled residents. This was echoed in the feedback from focus groups with 
disabled residents carried out in 2017 and 2018. 

 
3.9 In particular, during the creation of this strategy, we learned that disabled 

people need access to better information on the Council’s Housing register, 
housing allocations, home adaptation processes and their rights in housing 
contest. 

 
3.10 In this strategy, the Council has undertaken to support disabled people’s 

access to housing services by providing information which meets high 
standards of accessibility, transparency, and consistency. The Council will 
produce information material for disabled people, monitor numbers of disabled 
people accessing housing services, referrals between council’s services and 
report on lessons learned.  

Objective 3 – Improve Housing Services for Disabled People provided by 
the Council as a Landlord 

 
3.11 In creating this objective in the Disable People’s housing Strategy, four main 

priority areas were identified; 
 
3.12 Training and Development: we learned that disabled people would like more 

and better training of council staff who work with disabled people. This ranges 
from customer service improvement to better awareness and understanding 
of housing needs of disabled people. 

 
3.13 Housing Stock: many of the Council’s existing homes need to be adapted 

and improved to be more accessible to disabled people. It is therefore crucial 
that future housing provision in the borough is delivered to meet the needs of 
disabled people 

 
3.14 Disabled Facilities Grants:  we learned that some disabled people are not 

aware of how this scheme works and the processes involved. It is therefore 
crucial that this is highlighted more widely and processes leading to 
adaptations are co-produced with disabled people. 

 
3.15 Accessible Housing Register: As part of the recently published Older 

People’s Housing Strategy, the Council pledged to update and maintain 
information on its Accessible Housing Register to identify which properties are 
accessible for disabled and older residents. This particularly important to help 

Page 195



the Council assess the unmet housing needs of disabled people in the 
borough. 

 

Objective 4 – Identify ways to increase the supply of accessible housing 
to meet the needs of disabled people 

 
3.16 In its recent manifesto, the current Administration outlined its commitment to 

reinvigorating partnerships with housing associations to deliver genuinely 
affordable homes in the borough.  

 
3.17 Last year, the council launched the Affordable Housing Development 

Framework through which it will partner with housing associations to deliver 
up to 800 genuinely affordable homes as soon as possible. 

 
3.18  Further, the Council will also work with the Disability Forum Planning Group to 

secure genuinely affordable homes that meet the needs of disabled people in 
new developments in the borough. Such as, Wheelchair adaptable housing, 
wheelchair accessible housing, extra care housing, and supported housing. 

 

4. CONSULTATION 

 
4.1 In creating this strategy, we worked with members of the Disabled People’s 

Commission who helped shape the themes of the strategy. We also spoke to 
Adult Social Care, H&F Mencap, Safety Net – People First and crucially, we 
held focus groups and spoke with more than 20 disabled people for first-hand 
feedback on their experiences and their vision of co-production involvement 
and working with the Council to provide better services to disabled people in 
the borough. 

 
4.2 Consultation has been undertaken with Adult Social Care as well as Housing 
 Services, Housing Options, Housing Property Services and Housing, Growth 
 and Strategy divisions. 
 
5. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
3.1. This is not applicable but the Council will monitor the impact of the strategy in 

respect of equality implications and produce an Equality Impact Assessment 
where required. 
 

4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1. This section should include the legal power relevant to the proposal must be 
set out together with any future possible legal implications. Not applicable at 
this time.  

 
 

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

Page 196



5.1. Details of the current and future financial implications are not required at this 
time. 

 
 
6. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

 
6.1. Details of any impact of the proposals in the report on businesses in the 

Borough are not required at this time. 
 
 
7. COMMERCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1 Not Applicable. 

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1 – Draft Disable People’s Housing Strategy 

Page 197



An introduction to scrutiny in Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 
This briefing note covers: 

 The role of the PACs 

 Some examples of different types of scrutiny 

 How to make scrutiny effective  

 The PSR PAC’s terms of reference 

 Some further reading to expand your knowledge about scrutiny 
 
 
The role of the PACs 
 
Policy and Accountability Committees (PACs) were introduced by the Council’s new 
administration after the election in May 2014. They implemented the following 
commitment made by the administration in its manifesto: 
 
“We will open up Council decision-making and policy-making by setting up new 
Policy and Accountability Committees, cutting all but the statutory scrutiny 
committees. Each new Policy and Accountability Committee will have sufficient 
support to hold the administration to account and take a full part in developing policy. 
We will give residents and users’ groups co-opted roles on the relevant Policy and 
Accountability Committees”. 
 
As agreed by Full Council in July 2014, PACs have the following key responsibilities: 

 To hold the Cabinet to account 

 To be a critical friend to the Executive and to challenge the assumptions 
behind the policies and actions of the Council and other local service 
providers 

 To amplify the voices and concerns of residents and to give them a 
mechanism to comment on, participate in, and determine Council policy 

 To improve the Council’s services by listening to residents and user groups 

 To scrutinise decisions made by partner organisations in the interest of the 
residents of the borough 

 To be independent of party politics and ensure an informed evidence-based 
approach to policy development 

 
Policy and Accountability Committees take the role of ‘Overview and Scrutiny’ as it’s 
referred to in most Local Authorities. The key difference is that the PACs are explicit 
about the inclusion of residents and users’ groups. 
 
Examples of different types of scrutiny 
 
Below are some practical examples of different types of scrutiny that the PACs can 
do and how they can work. 
 
1. Pre-decision scrutiny 
By commenting on and contributing to a decision before it has been made, scrutiny 
committees are able to offer Cabinet the benefit of their ability to focus on an issue in 

Page 198

Agenda Item 10



greater depth over a longer period of time. This is also an important way to involve 
residents early in the decision-making process. 
 
2. The committee has concerns about a service 
In cases where members have concerns about the performance of a service they 
can ask officers to provide information, ask questions of officers and relevant 
Cabinet Members, and invite witnesses to talk about their experiences. Based on 
their findings, the committee can make recommendations for improvements and ask 
for further monitoring reports to ensure the necessary changes are implemented. 
 
3. Policy discussions with residents 
When considering policy changes, scrutiny is a good place to invite residents / 
community groups / partners to come and discuss their ideas with members, officers, 
and Cabinet Members. It’s important for Chairs to make sure residents feel part of 
the discussion, rather than just observers, so they feel comfortable to get involved 
and share their views and ideas. 
 
4. Task and finish groups 
If the committee identifies an area that needs more sustained, detailed work than is 
practical for a normal meeting it can set up a task and finish group. These groups 
comprise around three members that work outside the PAC – gathering evidence, 
talking to services users and expert witnesses, and ultimately writing up their 
recommendations for consideration by their parent committee. 
 
How to make scrutiny effective 
 
1. Good relationships with the Council’s leadership (and partners) 
PACs can’t make decisions directly so their ‘soft power’ is incredibly important if they 
want to achieve their goals. It’s important for PACs to be politically impartial and be 
seen as a ‘critical friend’. PACs should identify where decisions could be improved 
and how to prevent mistakes being made or repeated – but the focus should be on 
forward thinking and making positive changes, rather than apportioning blame and 
focusing on the negatives. This will help to foster positive and constructive 
relationships between scrutiny, councillors and officers. 
 
2. Detailed work-programming 
Without a clear idea of what a committee wants from an item, it can be easy to fall 
into the trap of discussing areas of interest but not producing any real outcomes at 
the end of it. 
 
When considering areas for the work programme it’s important to consider: 

 Is this issue of direct relevance to residents? 

 Is this an area where the committee can add real value? 

 What are the outcomes we want to achieve by considering this item? 

 Will this lead to measurable positive change? 
 
3. The dedication of scrutiny members 
Ultimately the effectiveness of scrutiny comes down to having a strong Chair and 
passionate, incisive members on the committee. Members should have knowledge 

Page 199



of the areas they are asked to scrutinise – and carry out independent research 
ahead of meetings – so they are equipped to fully interrogate the issues before them. 
 
 
Further reading 
 
For HISPAC terms of reference please review  Agenda Item 1 Committee 
Membership and Terms of Reference (of the main Agenda Pack) 
 
A councillor’s workbook on scrutiny (LGA) 
 
The Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) have a huge range of publications available to 
read on their website – covering all areas of local government and partner scrutiny 
 
The seven scrutiny superpowers (one of many blog posts on scrutiny by Dr Dave 
Mckenna, who is also worth following on Twitter @DrDaveMckenna) 

Page 200

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/11%2064_Scrutiny%20for%20councillors_03_1.pdf
https://www.cfps.org.uk/publications/
https://www.publicgov.co.uk/2018/05/30/the-seven-scrutiny-superpowers-%E2%9C%8A/
https://twitter.com/drdavemckenna

	Agenda
	1 Appointment of a Vice Chair for 2018-19 and Committee Terms of Reference
	5 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	7 Imperial College Trust's Draft Quality Account 2017/18
	Appendix 1 - Draft Quality Account 2017-18

	8 Older People's Housing Strategy 2017-2022
	Older People's Housing Strategy (2017-2022) - Appendix 1 (Published Strategy)
	_GoBack
	_GoBack

	Older People's Housing Strategy (2017-2022) - Appendix 2 Action Plan

	9 Draft Disabled People's Housing Strategy
	10 Work Programme 2017-18

